
Notice of Meeting

PLANNING COMMITTEE

Monday, 12 February 2024 - 7:00 pm
Council Chamber, Town Hall, Barking

Members: Cllr Muhammad Saleem (Chair), Cllr Jack Shaw (Deputy Chair), Cllr Faruk 
Choudhury, Cllr Muhib Chowdhury, Cllr Alison Cormack, Cllr Edna Fergus, Cllr Cameron 
Geddes, Cllr Harriet Spoor, Cllr Dominic Twomey and Cllr Sabbir Zamee

Date of publication: 2 February 2024 Fiona Taylor
Chief Executive

Contact Officer: John Dawe
Tel. 020 8227 2135

E-mail: john.dawe@lbbd.gov.uk 

Please note that this meeting will be webcast via the Council’s website.  Members of the 
public wishing to attend the meeting in person can sit in the public gallery on the second 
floor of the Town Hall, which is not covered by the webcast cameras.   To view the 
webcast online, click here and select the relevant meeting (the weblink will be available at 
least 24-hours before the meeting).

Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee may speak at a 
meeting with the agreement of the Chair but must sit separately from the Committee 
Members and must declare whether they have had any contact with the applicant / 
objector / property owner or their agents, and whether they are speaking on behalf 
of a third party and, if so, who (Councillors’ Code of Conduct for Planning Matters)

AGENDA
1. Apologies for Absence  

2. Declaration of Members' Interests  

In accordance with the Council’s Constitution, Members are asked to declare 
any interest they may have in any matter which is to be considered at this 
meeting.

3. Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the 
meeting held on 16 October 2023 (Pages 7 - 11) 

4. Planning Performance Review Sub-Committee (Page 
13) 

New Planning Applications Ward

mailto:john.dawe@lbbd.gov.uk
https://modgov.lbbd.gov.uk/internet/ieListMeetings.aspx?CId=176&Year=0


5. Bryson House, 131 Church Elm Lane, Dagenham - 
Section 73 application (Pages 15 - 111) 

Village

6. Any other public items which the Chair decides are 
urgent  

7. To consider whether it would be appropriate to pass a 
resolution to exclude the public and press from the 
remainder of the meeting due to the nature of the 
business to be transacted.  

Private Business

The public and press have a legal right to attend Council meetings such as the 
Planning Committee, except where business is confidential or certain other sensitive 
information is to be discussed.  The list below shows why items are in the private part 
of the agenda, with reference to the relevant legislation (the relevant paragraph of 
Part 1 of Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972 as amended).  There are 
no such items at the time of preparing this agenda.

8. Any confidential or exempt items which the Chair 
decides are urgent  



Our Vision for Barking and Dagenham

ONE BOROUGH; ONE COMMUNITY;
NO-ONE LEFT BEHIND

Our Priorities

 Residents are supported during the current Cost-of-Living 
Crisis;

 Residents are safe, protected, and supported at their most 
vulnerable;

 Residents live healthier, happier, independent lives for longer;
 Residents prosper from good education, skills development, 

and secure employment;
 Residents benefit from inclusive growth and regeneration;
 Residents live in, and play their part in creating, safer, cleaner, 

and greener neighbourhoods;
 Residents live in good housing and avoid becoming homeless.

To support the delivery of these priorities, the Council will:

 Work in partnership;
 Engage and facilitate co-production;
 Be evidence-led and data driven;
 Focus on prevention and early intervention;
 Provide value for money;
 Be strengths-based;
 Strengthen risk management and compliance;
 Adopt a “Health in all policies” approach.

Page 1

Agenda Annex



The Council has also established the following three objectives that 
will underpin its approach to equality, diversity, equity and inclusion:

 Addressing structural inequality: activity aimed at addressing 
inequalities related to the wider determinants of health and 
wellbeing, including unemployment, debt, and safety;

 Providing leadership in the community: activity related to 
community leadership, including faith, cohesion and integration; 
building awareness within the community throughout 
programme of equalities events;

 Fair and transparent services: activity aimed at addressing 
workforce issues related to leadership, recruitment, retention, 
and staff experience; organisational policies and processes 
including use of Equality Impact Assessments, commissioning 
practices and approach to social value.

Page 2



Use Classes Order 1987 (as amended)
Use Class Use/Description of Development Permitted Change
A1
Shops

Shops, retail warehouses, hairdressers, 
undertakers, travel and ticket agencies, post 
offices (but not sorting offices), pet shops, 
sandwich bars, showrooms, domestic hire 
shops, dry cleaners, funeral directors and 
internet cafes.

State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.
A1 plus two flats above
C3 residential use -  see footnote 5
Bank, building society, credit union or friendly society (A2) but not 
for other purposes falling within A2 – see footnote 6
A2
A3 (up to 150 m2) see footnote 9
D2 (up to 200 m2) see footnote 10

A2
Financial and 
professional 
services

Financial services such as banks and 
building societies, professional services 
(other than health and medical services) 
including estate and employment agencies.

A1 (where this is a ground floor display window) plus two flats 
above
A2 plus two flats above
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.
C3 residential use -  see footnote 5
A3 (up to 150 m2) – see footnote 9.
D2 (up to 200 m2) see footnote 10

A3
Restaurants and 
cafés

For the sale of food and drink for 
consumption on the premises - restaurants, 
snack bars and cafes.

A1 or A2
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.

A4
Drinking 
establishments

Public houses, wine bars or other drinking 
establishments (but not night clubs).

A1, A2 or A3 unless listed as an Asset of Community Value
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.

A5
Hot food 
takeaways

For the sale of hot food for consumption off 
the premises.

A1, A2 or A3
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.

B1
Business

a) Offices, other than a use within Class A2 
(Financial Services) 

b) Research and development of products or 
processes
c) Light industry appropriate in a residential 
area

B8 (where no more than 500 sqm)
B1a - C3 subject to prior approval -see footnote 1.
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
State funded school or registered nursery subject to prior approval 
- see footnote 3
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.

B2
General 
industrial

General industry: use for the carrying out of 
an industrial process other than one falling in 
class B1. (excluding incineration purposes, 
chemical treatment or landfill or hazardous 
waste).

B1 or B8 (B8 limited to 500 sqm)
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.

B8
Storage and 
distribution

Storage or distribution centre. This class 
includes open air storage.

B1 (where no more than 500 sqm)
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
C3 (where no more than 500 sqm)
see footnote 7.

C1
Hotels

Hotel, boarding house or guesthouse, where 
no significant element of care is provided. 
(Excludes hostels).

State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
State funded school or registered nursery subject to prior approval 
- see footnote 3

C2
Residential 
institutions

Hospital, nursing home or residential school, 
college or training centre where they provide 
residential accommodation or care to people 
in need of care (other than those within C3 
dwelling houses).

State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
State funded school or registered nursery subject to prior approval 
- see footnote 3

C2A
Secure 
residential 
institution

Secure residential accommodation, including 
use as a prison, young offenders institution, 
detention centre, secure training centre, 
custody centre, short term holding centre, 
secure hospital, secure local authority 
accommodation or use as a military barracks.

State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
State funded school or registered nursery subject to prior approval 
- see footnote 3

C3
Dwelling houses

Use as a dwelling house by a single person 
or by people living together as a family or by 
not more than 6 residents living together as a 
single household

Article 4 direction removes permitted development right to convert 
to C4 House in Multiple Occupation.
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2

Page 3



C4
Houses in 
multiple 
occupation

Small shared houses occupied by between 
three and six unrelated individuals, as their 
only or main residence, who share basic 
amenities such as a kitchen or bathroom.

C3 (dwelling houses)
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2

D1
Non-Residential
Institutions

Clinics & health centres, crèches, day 
nurseries & day centres, museums, public 
libraries, art galleries & exhibition halls, law 
court, non-residential education & training 
centres. Places of worship, religious 
instruction & church halls.

Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.
State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.

D2
Assembly & 
Leisure

Cinema, concert hall, bingo hall, dance hall, 
swimming bath, skating rink, gymnasium, or 
area for indoor or outdoor sports or 
recreations, not involving motor vehicles or 
firearms.

State funded school for single academic year – see footnote 2.
State funded school or registered nursery subject to prior approval 
- see footnote 3
Some temporary uses – see footnote 4.

Sui – Generis A use on its own, for which any change of 
use will require planning permission. 
Includes, theatres, nightclubs, retail 
warehouse clubs, amusement arcades, 
launderettes, petrol filling stations, casinos, 
taxi businesses, waste management 
facilities, motor car showrooms, betting 
offices and pay day loan.

Casino to Class D2
Amusement arcades/centres and casinos to C3 (up to 150 m2) 
See footnote 8
Betting offices and pay day loan to A1 and A2 plus two flats above
Betting offices and pay day loan plus two flats above
Betting offices, pay day loan and casinos to A3 (up to 150 m2) 
See footnote 9.
Betting offices and pay day loan to D2 (up to 200m2) – see 
footnote 10.
Betting offices and payday loan to C3 residential use -  see 
footnote 5

Footnotes
1 B1a (Offices) can change use to C3 (Dwelling houses) provided development commenced before 30/06/16. Need to apply to 

Council for prior approval to confirm no significant transport and highway impacts, contamination risks and flood risks.
2 State funded schools can open without planning permission for a single academic year without planning permission from any 

existing use within the Use Classes Order. School must be approved by Secretary of State and school must notify Council 
before they open. School must revert to its previous use at end of year. Does not apply to listed buildings.

3 B1 (business), C1 (hotel), C2 (residential institution), C2A (secured residential institution) and D2 (assembly and leisure) can 
convert to a state funded school or registered nursery providing early years childcare without planning permission. Need to apply 
to Council for prior approval to confirm no significant transport and highways impact, noise impacts and contamination risks. D2 
uses that have changed use from A1 or A2 using permitted development right (see footnote 10) cannot then change use to state 
funded school or registered nursery under this permitted development right

4 A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services), A3 (restaurants and cafes), A4 (pubs), A5 (takeaways), B1a (offices), B1b 
(light industry), B1c ( R&D), D1 (non-residential institutions) and  D2 (assembly and leisure) can change to A1, A2, A3, B1a,b & 
c without planning permission. Change of use must be less than or equal to 150 square metres. Applies for single continuous 
period of two years. Can change to other permitted use within two year period. Must revert to original use at end of two year 
period and notify Council before use begins.

5 A1 (shops) and A2 (financial and professional services) can change to C3 (residential). Building operations and partial 
demolition works that are “reasonable necessary” are also permitted. Prior approval required for transport and highways impact, 
contamination, flooding, the design and external appearance of the building and undesirable impacts on shopping facilities. This 
right only applies to buildings of 150 square metres or less and does not apply in Conservation Area or to listed buildings.

6 Does apply in Conservation Areas but not to listed buildings.
7 B8 (storage of distribution) to C3 (residential). Prior approval required for transport and highways impact, air quality impacts on 

intended occupiers, noise impacts of the developments, risks of contamination, flooding and the impact the changer of use would 
have on existing industrial uses and or storage or distribution uses. Right only applies to buildings in B8 use on or before 19 
March 2015 and development must be begun before 15 April 2018. Building must have been in B8 use for four years.

8 Prior approval required for transport and highways impact, flooding, contamination and where building works are to be carried 
out under the permitted development right, design.

9 A1 (shops), A2 (financial and professional services) and betting offices and pay day loans to A3 (restaurants and cafes). Prior 
approval required for noise, smell/odours, transport and highways, hours of opening as well as siting and design in relation to 
extraction, ventilation, waste management, storage and undesirable impacts on shopping facilities.

10 A1 (shops) and A2 (financial and professional services) can change to D2. Applies to premises in A1 or A2 use on 5 December 
2013. Prior approval required for transport and highways impact, hours of opening, noise impacts of the development and 
undesirable impacts on shopping facilities. Does not apply to listed buildings.

Page 4



Oct’19

Planning Application Procedure

1. The Chair introduces the Planning Officer who will present the item.

2. The Planning Officer presents the report to the Committee and advises on any 
relevant additional information received after the completion of the report. The 
Planning Officer will also refer to the recommendation (it is assumed that Members 
will have read the report).

3. Registered objectors may speak for up to three minutes. 

4. Councillors who are not members of the Planning Committee may address the 
Committee with the Chair’s permission.  They are not permitted to take part in the 
discussions or question objectors, supporters, applicants or applicants’ 
representatives. 

5. Registered supporters, applicants or applicants’ representatives for the application 
may speak for up to three minutes.

6. Committee Members may, through the Chair, seek clarification from Council officers 
or any other speakers on any relevant planning issue that may have arisen. 

7. The Committee shall debate the item.  Where the application is considered to be 
straightforward and there are no speakers present, the Committee may make a 
decision based on the report and without any debate.

8. The Committee will vote on the matter (including any proposed supplementary 
conditions or recommendations).  In the event that the Committee’s decision is to 
refuse or allow an application contrary to the report’s recommendation, Committee 
Members must give valid reasons for the decision based on relevant planning 
policies.

9. The Chair shall announce the Committee’s final decision.

Page 5



Oct’19

Notes

 The opportunity to ask questions may not be used to make general or specific 
comments or observations. General comments can be raised at the discussion 
point of the proceedings.

 Committee Members must be present during the entire debate on an application 
in order to be allowed to participate in the deliberations and vote on the matter.  
Any Committee Member who is not present at the beginning of the consideration 
of an application, or who leaves the room at any stage during the consideration 
the application, shall be excluded from participating and voting on the application.

 If a Committee Member needs to leave during consideration of an application 
and wishes to take part in the deliberations and vote, they should seek the 
permission of the Chair for a short adjournment. 

 Members should avoid expressing a view about an application until after the 
applicant has spoken to avoid the impression of bias.

 If there is a substantial point which needs to be clarified before a vote can take 
place, the Committee may agree to defer the application.

 The Chair may ask members of the public and press to leave the room to enable 
the Committee to consider information which is confidential or exempt (in 
accordance with Schedule 12A of the Local Government Act 1972.

Page 6



MINUTES OF 
PLANNING COMMITTEE 

Monday, 16 October 2023
(7:00  - 7:57 pm)

Present: Cllr Muhammad Saleem (Chair), Cllr Jack Shaw (Deputy Chair), Cllr 
Faruk Choudhury, Cllr Muhib Chowdhury, Cllr Alison Cormack, Cllr Cameron 
Geddes, Cllr Harriet Spoor, Cllr Dominic Twomey and Cllr Sabbir Zamee

Apologies: Cllr Edna Fergus

14.  Declaration of Members' Interests

There were no declarations of interest.

15.  Minutes (11 September 2023)

The minutes of the meeting held on 11 September 2023 were confirmed as 
correct.

16.  Barking Riverside, Stage 2 South Boulevard - Sub Framework Plan and 
Discharge of Conditions -  23/01182/AOD

The Senior Principal Development Officer (SPDMO), Be First Development 
Management Team, introduced a report on an application from Barking 
Riverside Ltd seeking approval of details in relation to Stage 2 South 
Boulevard Sub Framework Plan (SFP) pursuant to Condition 31 (Sub 
Framework Plan) and 32 (Details of Sub Framework Plan), in addition to the 
partial discharge of conditions 4 (Phasing and Stages), 5 (Partial Discharge), 
23 (Flood Defence Buffer Zones), 33 (Nature Conservation and Landscaping), 
35 (Temporary Pedestrian and Cycle Routes) and 36 (Design Code) attached 
to planning permission 18/00940/FUL dated 26/10/2018.

A total of 568 notification letters were sent to neighbouring and nearby 
properties from which objections were received from two individuals and two 
interest groups, the material planning considerations and issues raised from 
which were addressed by the SPDMO in their planning assessment of the 
application. In addition to the published papers, a supplementary report was 
presented which contained details of a further public objection, which the 
SPDMO concluded had no material planning considerations on the 
application. 

A representation was made at the meeting by Mr Andrew Boff, a local resident 
who opposed the application on the basis of protecting footpath 47 that ran 
adjacent to the application site. Mr Boff stated that the site of the footpath was 
recognised as of metropolitan importance, there being a huge amount of 
natural diversity in the location. When objections were raised the planning 
response, as stated in the report, was that the footpath was outside the 
redline boundary of the application site, and that the public right of way 

Page 7

AGENDA ITEM 3



access was not compromised. In addition, the applicant (BRL) had confirmed 
that they were fully committed to protecting the footpath and ensuring it was 
preserved for public use.  Mr Boff commented that the statement ran contrary 
to the views of the Mayor who, when questioned at a Greater London 
Assembly meeting in May this year, stated that due to the nature of 
engineering activity the footpath would need to be temporarily diverted as 
homes were built in and around Barking Riverside.

Mr Boff also referred to condition 33 of the application which he felt failed to 
address and protect against the potential for the leaching of construction 
related waste from the development. Consequently, whilst there might be 
good intentions of BRL, there was nothing in the report to guarantee the long-
term protection of the footpath.

Finally, referencing the subsequent application on the agenda concerning the 
Section 106 strategies (23/01180/S106A), Mr Boff stated that the Open Space 
and Recreation Strategy drawn up for the development had not recognised 
the closure of the warehouse on Thames Road which had left a significant 
hole in the community infrastructure in the area.  He felt, therefore, it would be 
prudent to direct some of the Section 106 monies generated by the 
application to re-create this unique facility. Irrespective of the Mayor’s 
comments, it was confirmed that the Planning Committee could not take into 
account the objection as presented as it had no material planning effect on 
the application before it, as the footpath was outside the redline boundary. 
That said, Members concurred that BRL should be encouraged to commit to 
protect the site of the footpath as part of the wider development of Barking 
Riverside.   

In response to further comments from Mr Boff, the SPDMO confirmed that 
Footpath 47 was outside the boundaries of the application being considered 
at this meeting, which was reaffirmed by Matthew Carpen representing BRL. 
In terms of the environmental protection considerations, the SPDMO 
confirmed that a site contamination strategy was in place, hence the LBBD 
Environmental Protection Team comments only considering the matter of 
noise associated with the application.

Mr Carpen acknowledged the importance of the footpath as a site of rich 
natural heritage and confirmed that BRL was committed to protecting it as part 
of the wider development.  He accepted that, although not immediate, there 
would need to be engineering works undertaken on the site boundary 
adjacent to the footpath to make building construction safe. This would form 
part of BRL’s strategic infrastructure scheme application that would be 
presented to the Local Planning Authority and subject to public consultation in 
due course.  Mr Carpen also referred to BRL’s investment in the local 
community infrastructure.

Opening the application to a wider debate, it was noted that there was a 
significant amount of shared ownership as part of the overall tenure of 
affordable housing.  Mr Carpen responded that whilst property markets 
fluctuated, the response so far to shared ownership properties on the wider 

Page 8



development had been positive.   BRL’s key objective, in conjunction with 
house building partners, was to provide a diverse range of housing products, 
which required careful management to avoid saturating the market with one 
particular product.  

A further issue raised related to commercial floor space as well as provision 
for new social infrastructure, as the application envisaged a total of 2,400 new 
properties which would house up to 10,000 new residents.  BRL 
acknowledged that until large numbers of residents began moving into the 
development the viability of commercial space would be a challenge, as was 
the case for new social infrastructure such as health facilities, new public 
transport links and amenity space.  For those reasons, BRL was providing 
significant funding for a number of pop-up facilities such as cafes and a shop. 
Also, the majority of commercial space was to be located in and around the 
railway station where there was higher footfall, with smaller elements 
dispersed around the remainder of the site.  With specific reference to health 
provision BRL’s wider masterplan, which had been developed in consultation 
with the Council, Be First and the NHS over the last three years, included the 
provision of a new Health and Leisure Hub, which would be commissioned by 
BRL in consultation with Be First and the NHS.  A number of temporary health 
facilities had recently been provided in the form of GP pop-ups and BRL was 
looking for the NHS to continue to support that initiative given the success to 
date.

The Chair made reference to the commercial space and whilst acknowledging 
the points made by BRL about when such spaces would come online, he 
sought assurances as to the timescales given the need to sustain the existing 
communities.  BRL responded that the next sub-framework plan that was 
expected to be submitted to the Council in December 2023 would focus 
around the station area and include a broader strategy around the provision of 
the commercial space.  Mr Carpen repeated his view that the biggest 
challenge was footfall and, to that end, BRL was continuing to put in pop-up 
spaces across the development to test the market and assess residents’ 
needs, so that the long-term commercial space provision would be successful.

On the health facilities, concerns were expressed that the current local 
hospital provision at Queen’s Hospital in Romford and King George Hospital 
in Goodmayes were some distance away from the Riverside area.  Given the 
significant number of residents already living in the area and the projected 
population increase in the years ahead, the Chair sought reassurance 
regarding the plans for health-related infrastructure.  Mr Carpen commented 
that he was not able to respond fully in the absence of NHS partners but he 
repeated that a huge amount of work had been undertaken in respect of the 
Health and Leisure Hub.  Although cost and viability issues needed to be 
addressed, as the project had already significantly exceeded the original 
budget, Mr Carpen confirmed that BRL would continue to push to ensure the 
facility came to fruition.  The Chair advised that the Council would also 
continue to push to ensure all parties committed the necessary funding to 
deliver the much-needed facility.

Page 9



Further issues were raised relating to the current health and play facilities on 
the nearby Thames View estate and the affordable housing viability point.

The SPDMO summarised that the submitted details demonstrated that all 
matters relating to the sub-framework plan were of a high quality and that the 
revised SFP would remain within the maximum parameters and relevant 
agreed strategies of the outline planning consent.  The proposals would 
facilitate the continued delivery of homes and commercial development in a 
high-quality and compliant fashion and he confirmed that the information 
submitted relating to conditions had been reviewed and been subject to 
consultation. Therefore, the application was considered by officers to be of 
sufficient quality and would facilitate the creation of a highly successful and 
sustainable new community within the heart of the Barking Riverside 
development site. 

The Committee resolved to:

(i) Agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and

(ii) Delegate authority to the Strategic Director of Inclusive Growth (or 
authorised Officer), to approve the Sub-Framework Plans 
(23/01182/AOD) and specified planning conditions for Stage 2 South 
Boulevard, Barking Riverside.

17.  Barking Riverside, Stage 2 South Boulevard - Section 106 strategies - 
23/01180/S106A

Further to Minute 16 above, the Senior Principal Development Officer 
(SPDMO), Be First, introduced a report on an application from Barking 
Riverside Ltd seeking approval of revised Section 106 Legal Strategies 
together with reserved matters and the discharge of the following conditions:

1. Schedule 4, Part 3 Para 27.1.2 (Housing Strategy July 2023); 
2. Schedule 4, Part 3, Para 28.1 and Para 32.1 (Build to Rent Strategy Plot 
DC3B July 2023); 
3. Schedule 4, Part 2, Para 10.1 and 10.2 (Transport Strategy July 2023); 
4. Schedule 4, Part 2, Para 25.2 (Car Parking Strategy July 2023); 
5. Schedule 4, Part 1, Para 12.2 (Travel Plan July 2023); 
6. Schedule 3, Part 1, Para 1.2 (Retail and Non-Residential Use Strategy July 
2023); 
7. Schedule 3, Part 3, Para 7.2 (Health Strategy July 2023); 
8. Schedule 3, Part 4, Para 10.2 (Placemaking Strategy July 2023); 
9. Schedule 3, Part 5, Para 12.2 (Open Space and Recreation Strategy July 
2023 with the Open Space and Recreation Strategy, 02 May 2018); 
10. Schedule 3, Part 7, Para 16.2 (Energy Strategy July 2023); 
11. Schedule 3, Part 13, Para 13.1 (Employment, Skills & Training Strategy 
July 2023); 
12. Schedule 3, Part 8, Para 17.2 (Waste Strategy July 2023); 

Page 10



13. Schedule 4, Part 2, Para 8.1 (Transport Monitoring Report May 2023) of 
the Section 106 Legal Agreement dated 08 March 2019 (as varied 15 July 
2021) of planning permission reference 18/00940/FUL (as amended).

A total of 568 notification letters were sent to neighbouring and nearby 
properties from which objections were received from two individuals and two 
interest groups, the material planning considerations and issues raised from 
which were addressed by the SPDMO in their planning assessment of the 
application. In addition to the published papers a supplementary report was 
presented which contained details of a further public objection, which the 
SPDMO concluded had no material planning considerations on the 
application. 

The SPDMO summarised the details of the proposal and outlined the relevant 
background information including the extensive planning history dating back 
to 2007 and the most relevant planning applications.

There being no questions from Members, the SPDMO concluded that the 
application details had demonstrated that all matters relating to the S106 
strategies were of a high quality and continued to pursue and raise the 
standard of the approach envisaged by the extant outline consent and the 
signed Section 106 Legal Agreement.  As such, the proposals would facilitate 
the continued delivery of homes, commercial development and associated 
infrastructure in a compliant and innovative way. 

The Committee resolved to:

(i) Agree the reasons for approval as set out in the report; and

(ii) Delegate authority to the Strategic Director of Inclusive Growth (or 
authorised Officer), to approve the Revised Section 106 (S106) Legal 
Strategies (23/01182/AOD) for Barking Riverside. 

Page 11



This page is intentionally left blank



PLANNING COMMITTEE  
  

12 February 2024  
 Title: Planning Performance Review Sub-Committee

 Report of:  Senior Governance Officer 
 Open Report    For Decision  

  
 Wards Affected: None  
  

 Key Decision: No  

 Report Author:  
 John Dawe, Senior Governance Officer 
  

 Contact Details:  
 Tel: 020 8227 2135 
 E-mail: john.dawe@lbbd.gov.uk   

 Accountable Director: Deidrie Collins, Head of Legal Services
 Accountable Strategic Leadership Director: Fiona Taylor, Chief Executive 
  
 Summary 
 
In accordance with the Constitution, there is a requirement to appoint on an annual 
basis a Planning Performance Review Sub-Committee consisting of the Chair and 
Deputy Chair and three other Members of the Committee, to consider and report 
back to the Committee in respect of: 

 A random sample of up to 20 delegated decisions on a range of applications 
and examine and evaluate between 5 and 10 of them to assess whether 
relevant planning policies and criteria were applied in each case,

 Planning appeal performance; and 
 Scrutiny of overturned decisions. 

 Recommendation

The Planning Committee is recommended to select three Members to sit on the Planning 
Performance Review Sub-Committee which will convene on a date in April 2024 to be 
confirmed with the membership.  
    
 Reason(s)  
 The Planning Committee is required to agree the membership of the Sub-Committee.   

Appendices: – None

Background papers used in preparation of the report: None

Page 13

AGENDA ITEM 4

mailto:john.dawe@lbbd.gov.uk


This page is intentionally left blank



1

LONDON BOROUGH OF BARKING & DAGENHAM

PLANNING COMMITTEE
12th February 2024
Application for s.73 Minor Material Amendment    

Case Officer: Alex Tayler Valid Date: 18th October 2023

Applicant: Major Commercial Property 
Ltd.  Expiry Date: 31st March 2024

Application 
Number: 23/01560/VAR Ward: Village

Address: Bryson House, 131 Church Elm Lane, Dagenham, Barking and Dagenham, 
RM10 9RR

The purpose of this report is to set out the Officer recommendations to Planning Committee regarding an 
application for minor material amendments under s.73 of the Town and Country Planning Act (1990) (as 
amended).  

Proposal:

Variation of conditions Condition 2 (approved plans), Condition 3 (contamination), Condition 4 (CEMP 
and SWMP), Condition 5 (Construction Logistics Plan), Condition 6 (Air Quality), Condition 7 (Acoustic 
Protection), Condition 8 (Plant), Condition 9 (hours of use), Condition 10 (Lighting and CCTV), Condition 
11 (Piling),  Condition 12 (Flood Risk Assessment), Condition 13 (Materials), Condition  14 (landscaping), 
Condition 15 (Travel Plan), Condition 16 (Waste), Condition 17 (Car Parking Design and Management 
Plan), Condition 18 (Cycle Parking), Condition 19 (Delivery and Servicing Plan), Condition 20 (Energy), 
Condition 21 (Accessible dwellings), Condition 23 (Water efficiency), Condition 24 (Non-residential units), 
Condition 25 (Fire) and Condition 26 (balustrades, screening and boundary treatments) attached to 
planning consent 19/00865/FUL (as amended by non-material amendment 23/01795/NONMAT, dated 
17.12.2023) dated 10/01/2020 to allow for minor material amendments including an amended number of 
units, amended affordable housing provision, amendment from flexible B1/D1 uses at ground floor to 
2no. Class E and 1no. Class F2 units, a reconfigured site and internal layout changes; redesigned 
playspace and landscaping; the relocation of balconies; the provision of one additional core; changes to 
materiality; and internal alterations on upper floors.

Page 15

AGENDA ITEM 5



2

Officer Recommendations:
Planning Committee is asked to resolve to: 

1. agree the reasons for approval as set out in this report; and 

2. delegate authority to the London Borough of Barking & Dagenham’s Director of Inclusive Growth in 
consultation with the Head of Legal Services to grant planning permission based on the proposed 
updates to the legal agreement under s106 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as 
amended) set out in the amended Heads of Terms identified at Appendix 5 of this report and the 
Conditions listed in Appendix 6 of this report; and

3. that, if by 12th August 2024 the legal agreement has not been completed, the London Borough of 
Barking & Dagenham’s Director of Inclusive Growth is delegated authority to refuse planning 
permission or extend this timeframe to grant approval.

Conditions Summary:

1. Statutory Time Limit 
2. Approved Plans
3. Contamination
4. CEMP, SWMP, AQDMP and Ecological Enhancements
5. CLP
6. Air Quality Neutral
7. Internal Acoustic Protection
8. Noise from Plant
9. Hours of Use (non-residential units)
10. Secured by Design
11. Piling
12. Flood Risk Assessment
13. Materials
14. Landscaping and Roof Terraces
15. Travel Plan
16. Bulky Waste
17. Car Parking Design and Management Plan
18. Cycle Parking
19. Delivery and Servicing Plan
20. Energy Strategy
21. Accessible and Adaptable Homes
22. Communal Television and Satellite System
23. Water Efficiency
24. Restrictions on Non-Residential Uses
25. Fire Strategy
26. Boundary Treatments, Balustrades and Balconies

S106 – Summary of Heads of Terms:

Administrative

1. Council costs
2. Minor Wording Updates
3. Updates to supporting plans and appendices

Parks

4. £95,000 financial contribution to improvements at Old Dagenham Park

Page 16



3

Affordable Housing 

5. Increase in proportion and number of affordable homes, as follows:

 At least 32 units (35%) and 106 habitable rooms (40%) as affordable housing 
 Updates to affordable housing tenure plan to reflect changes
 All affordable housing to be provided at London Affordable Rent, in place of 

previous social rented and shared ownership split
 LBBD to have nomination rights for any London Affordable Rented units or social 

rented units as may be provided, including those not explicitly secured within the 
s.106 agreement. 

Commercial/Community Floorspace

6. Updates to definitions to cover new Class E/Class F2 floorspace
7. In relation to the Class F2 community unit, to secure the following:

 10 years peppercorn rent
 Assistance with fit out for end user
 Marketing strategy for community use, with a focus on local operators, to be agreed with 

LBBD

Car Club

8. Increase in duration of free car club membership from 24 months to 36 months
9. Reflect amended location of car club space

Restrictions on Parking Permits Obligations

10. Remove reference to possibility of a Controlled Parking Zone being introduced and 
specifically state that no resident shall be eligible to apply for a parking permit within the 
Controlled Parking Zone area

Carbon Offset Obligations

11. Update to carbon offset wording, to reflect latest GLA guidelines

Employment, Skills and Supply Chain 

12. Updates to wording on local employment, skills and supply chain to reflect latest guidance

Relocation of Communal Bins
13. To pay for the relocation of communal waste bins to an alternative location, to be agreed with 

LBBD

All other agreed obligations secured in the existing s.106 legal agreement shall remain. 

Page 17



4

OFFICER REPORT

Site, situation and relevant background information:

The application site (0.25 hectares) comprises a rectangular shaped site located on the northern side of 
Church Elm Lane, Dagenham. Whilst much of the site is now surrounded by hoarding, the site currently 
comprises a three-storey building, the ground floor of which was occupied by a hand car wash and a car 
service and repair centre. The first floor comprises vacant offices whilst the second floor was formerly 
occupied by a church. The upper floors of the building have been vacant for at least three years.

The surrounding area comprises a mixture of commercial and residential uses. The application site is 
bordered by two-storey residential dwellings to the north in Ingleby Road. To the east of the site 
comprises 139-167 Church Elm Lane, a four-storey building comprising ground floor commercial units 
which form part of the Royal Parade/Church Street Neighbourhood Centre with residential above. 
Directly to the west of the application site are two-storey commercial buildings with residential above. To 
the south and on the opposite side of Church Elm Lane, there are number of flatted developments which 
include a 9-storey block of flats known as Bartlett House.

The Site has a PTAL of 3, at the point of access. It sits within Flood Zone 1 and falls within an Air Quality 
Management Area. It is within the Dagenham East and The Village Strategic Planning Sub Area, as set 
out within the draft new Local Plan (2021). 

The site has a planning history dating back to 1974. Most of this is not considered relevant to this 
planning application. However, more recently, the site has benefitted from planning permission 
(19/00865/FUL) for the "Demolition of existing buildings and erection of a 5 to 9 storey building to provide 
75 residential units (40 x 1-bed flats, 20 x 2-bed flats and 15 x 3-bed flats) together with 285 sqm (GEA) 
of flexible use Class B1/D1 commercial floorspace, associated car parking, children’s play space and 
communal amenity space." This has been lawfully implemented, as confirmed under 23/00136/CLUE. 

The applicant has undertaken an extensive pre-application with LBBD and Be First Officers in relation to 
their proposals. During discussions, officers agreed that an application for minor material amendment 
under s.73 of the TCPA was the most appropriate mechanism to accommodate proposed amendments. 
To facilitate this, a non-material amendment to alter the description of development from that of the 
original consent was approved in December 2023 under 23/01795/NONMAT. 

Detailed Proposal:

The proposed scheme would maintain the key tenets of the original scheme, in terms of key land use 
principles and the core design intent. However, it would allow for the provision of 16 additional residential 
units; an increased provision of affordable homes; amendment from flexible B1/D1 uses at ground floor 
to 2no. Class E units and 1no F2 units; a reconfigured site and internal layout changes; redesigned 
playspace and landscaping; the relocation of balconies; the provision of one additional core; changes to 
materiality; and internal alterations on upper floors. 

The proposed s. 73 minor material amendment would see the variation of the following conditions the 
compared with the extant permission (19/00865/FUL):

Condition 2 (approved plans), Condition 3 (contamination), Condition 4 (CEMP and SWMP), Condition 5 
(Construction Logistics Plan), Condition 6 (Air Quality), Condition 7 (Acoustic Protection), Condition 8 
(Plant), Condition 9 (hours of use), Condition 10 (Lighting and CCTV), Condition 11 (Piling),  Condition 
12 (Flood Risk Assessment), Condition 13 (Materials), Condition 14 (landscaping), Condition 15 (Travel 
Plan), Condition 16 (Waste), Condition 17 (Car Parking Design and Management Plan), Condition 18 
(Cycle Parking), Condition 19 (Delivery and Servicing Plan), Condition 20 (Energy), Condition 21 
(Accessible dwellings), Condition 23 (Water efficiency), Condition 24 (Non-residential units), Condition 25 

Page 18



5

(Fire) and Condition 26 (balustrades, screening and boundary treatments).

The key variations are noted in the table below. The remainder of the changes to the proposed 
conditions are to cover minor wording updates, to reflect relevant changes such as updated planning 
policy, report/drawing references or latest standard practise/guidance in relation to technical matters, 
such as air quality. The full list of proposed condition updates is set out at appendix 6.  

Proposed Key Amendments: Applicant Reasoning:
Reconfiguration of ground floor To increase the proportion of active frontages on 

the Church Elm Lane elevation and allow for 
slightly larger commercial/community units. Plant, 
refuse storage and cycle parking relocated to the 
rear of the building, where it will have less visual 
impact. 

One additional core to be provided, so that each 
side of the building benefits from two stairwells. 
Increase in storey height at western core, to 
accommodate second stairs and lift overrun. 

The previous consent allowed for three separate, 
unlinked cores. Fire regulations have been 
updated recently and require that each core 
should have a second stairwell added, to aid 
firefighting and evacuation. The proposed 
amendments would ensure compliance with the 
revised regulations, and therefore a safer building. 
The western stairs and lift are required to rise to 
the roof terrace level to ensure equal access, but 
would be set back from the front elevation, so as 
to reduce visual impact. All lower residential floors 
would have access to all four sets of stairs, whilst 
the taller element on the eastern side of the block 
would have access to two sets of stairs across its 
full height. 

Amended building footprint (greater set back on 
southern elevation, simplified building line, slight 
shift of footprint northward) 

The previously approved scheme included many 
design inefficiencies, which impacted upon the 
deliverability of the scheme. The rationalised 
layout would be more buildable and would enable 
additional space for 16 more units. The amended 
footprint also enables space for a ground floor 
public realm, in response to officer and consultee 
comments. 

Reduction in car parking To comply with the revised London Plan which 
sets out that ‘car-free’ development is the start 
point for new development in London, with only 
the minimum level of car parking to be provided 
where required. The total parking quantum 
increased following discussions with ward 
councillors during pre-application process. The 
reduction in car parking also allows additional 
space for outdoor amenity and public realm. 

Increase in total number and proportion of 
affordable units, including switch of all affordable 
provision to London Affordable Rent, in place of 
the previous 50:50 intermediate:social rented 
split. 

Major Housing Association is the sister company 
of Major Commercial. The London Affordable 
Rented product is better suited to their delivery 
model. It would also align more closely with the 
areas of greatest housing need in LBBD. 

Increase of 16no. units The amendments to the building footprint and 
rationalisation of the layout enable the delivery of 
more homes, thereby responding to policy 
requirements, which seek that development 
should maximise site capacity. 

Page 19



6

Relocation of balconies The balconies have been relocated to match the 
amended interior layouts. These have been 
designed to minimise new neighbouring amenity 
impacts and one balcony set has been relocated 
following community consultation. 

Changes to materiality The original concepts in materiality have been 
maintained. The core material will be continue to 
be brick and the fenestration concept remains true 
to the approved planning permission. However, 
design updates were required to better respond to 
the updated layout and massing proposals, and in 
order to ensure a durable, deliverable building. 
Nonetheless, a high design quality will be 
maintained.  

Increased playspace The increase in unit numbers and the switch to a 
scheme with more affordable units results in a 
greater expected child yield on the development. 
More playspace is therefore required on site. In 
addition, a financial contribution of £95,000 will be 
made to LBBD Parks for improvements at Old 
Dagenham Park, to mitigate the impact of more 
children in the local area. 

Change from B1/D1 flexible ground floor uses to 
2no. Class E unit and 1no. Class F2 community 
unit

To reflect the amended Use Class Order, to allow 
for a greater range of commercial units, and to 
respond to the feedback received during the 
community consultation events with regards to the 
provision of a community space. 

In response to the provisions of Section 73 Town and Country Planning Act 1990, the application is to be 
assessed to consider the question of the conditions subject to which planning permission should be 
granted. S.73 States:
(1) This section applies, subject to subsection (4), to applications for planning permission for the 
development of land without complying with conditions subject to which a previous planning permission 
was granted.

(2) On such an application the local planning authority shall consider only the question of the conditions 
subject to which planning permission should be granted, and—

(a) if they decide that planning permission should be granted subject to conditions differing from those 
subject to which the previous permission was granted, or that it should be granted unconditionally, they 
shall grant planning permission accordingly, and

(b) if they decide that planning permission should be granted subject to the same conditions as those 
subject to which the previous permission was granted, they shall refuse the application.

Specifically, s.73 does not apply if the previous planning permission was granted subject to a condition as 
to the time within which the development to which it related was to be begun and that time has expired 
without the development having been begun. Further to this, s.73 does not permit a change to a condition 
subject to which a previous planning permission was granted by extending the time within which the 
development must be started or an application of reserved matters to be received.
The National Planning Practice Guidance directs the Local Planning Authority to consider the application 
against the development plan and material considerations, under section 38(6) of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004 (determination shall be made in accordance with the plan unless material 
consideration indicates otherwise), and conditions attached to the existing permission. Local planning 
authorities should, in making their decisions, focus their attention on national and development plan 
policies, and other material considerations which may have changed significantly since the original grant 
of permission.

Page 20



7

The acceptability of the proposed amendments is considered in the assessment sections of the report 
below.

Key issues:  

1. Principle of the Development
2. Dwelling Mix, Quality of Accommodation and Affordable Housing 
3. Design and Quality of Materials (including accessibility and designing out crime)
4. Impacts to Neighbouring Amenity
5. Public Realm, Landscape and Biodiversity 
6. Sustainable Transport, Waste Management and Construction Impacts
7. Energy and Sustainability 
8. Environmental Protection (Air Quality, Noise and Contamination)
9. Flooding 
10. Archaeology
11. Local Employment

Planning Assessment:

1. Principle of Development:

1.1 The National Planning Policy Framework 2023 (NPPF) states that to meet the Government’s 
objective of significantly boosting the supply of homes, it is important that a sufficient amount and 
variety of land can come forward where it is needed, that the needs of groups with specific 
housing requirements are addressed and that land with permission is developed without 
unnecessary delay.

1.2 Strategic Area Policy SPP5 (Dagenham East) sets out an indicative capacity for 1,200 new 
homes with the Dagenham East and Village area over the plan period.  

1.3 Policy S1 of the London Plan sets out new community facilities should be easily accessible by 
sustainable transport modes and that development proposals which provide high-quality, inclusive 
social infrastructure should be supported. 

1.4 The principle of development was established under planning permission 19/00865/FUL, which 
was granted approval following Planning Committee in January 2020. This reflected the adopted 
and emerging policy context of the time. This application seeks to make minor amendments to the 
consented scheme, whist maintaining the original design intent. 

1.5 As under the extant permission, the area is considered suitable for residential development and 
would contribute to policy targets for new homes in the borough. The proposed building would 
retain a stepped form, rising from 5 to 9 storeys. Residential amenity would continue to be 
provided within roof terraces and in open spaces surrounding the building. The ground floor would 
continue to be focussed on commercial and community space. However, a slight variation is 
proposed to reflect the latest Use Classes Order (2020). 

1.6 Previously, 285sqm flexible B1 (offices) /D1 (non-residential institutions) was secured at ground 
floor, split into three smaller units. This went some way to mitigating the loss of the existing B1a 
and D1 uses on the site, albeit noting that the site has been largely vacant for some time. The 
revised proposals are for 2no. Class E (commercial) units and 1no. Class F2 (community) unit. 
The total floorspace of these units combined would be 349sqm, with 169sqm given the F2 use 
and the Class E units being 88sqm and 92sqm respectively. The revised commercial use class 
would allow for a wider range of commercial uses, including shops and cafes, thereby providing a 
greater level of flexibility for the ultimate end user. With regards to the F2 use in place of D1, the 
proposed F2 use would respond to feedback received during consultation events and discussions 

Page 21



8

with ward councillors, in that it would provide for a general community facility, rather than an F1 
use, which would only allow for more formal institutional type facilities, such as libraries or a 
church. The revised use mix does not substantially deviate from the original planning permission 
and the proposals would continue to comply with the relevant planning policies, including Policy 
S1 of the London Plan. Further, officers note that the extant permission permitted the loss of 
1,752sqm of B1a, B2 and D1 floorspace. The increased non-residential floorspace proposed 
under this s.73 application is not considered unacceptable in this instance and would ensure a 
lesser loss of non-residential floorspace. The proposed update to the ground floor permitted uses 
is therefore considered acceptable. 

1.7 The principle of a residential-led, mixed-use development on the site remains acceptable as 
under the existing consent. Subject to the assessment of all other relevant matters, the principle 
of the proposed development remains strongly supported. 

2. Dwelling Mix, Quality of Accommodation and Affordable Housing 

Unit Mix and Tenure

2.1 The NPPF emphasises the importance of delivering sustainable development and states that 
planning policies and decisions should support development that makes efficient use of land.

2.2 Policy GG2 (c) of the London Plan seeks to ensure that development proposals make the most 
efficient use of land and states proactively explore the potential to intensify the use of land to 
support additional homes and workspaces, promoting higher density development, particularly in 
locations that are well-connected to jobs, services, infrastructure and amenities by public 
transport, walking and cycling.

2.3 London Plan Policy H4 sets out a target that 50% of all new homes should be genuinely 
affordable and that affordable housing should generally be provided on-site. Policy H5 sets out a 
threshold approach to applications, whereby a minimum of 35% of development must be 
provided as affordable housing. Policy H6 sets out that the Fast Track Route is available to 
applicant that elect to provide low-cost rented homes in place of intermediate homes, provided 
the relevant threshold level is reached. 

2.4 Core Strategy and Borough Wide Policies CM2 and BP10 seek to ensure that housing densities 
are considerate to local context and accessibility, design, sustainability, and infrastructure 
requirements, whilst ensuring optimum use of all suitable sites in the Borough in light of the high 
levels of identified housing need. Additionally, and similar to London Plan policy, Policy SP4 of 
the emerging local plan advocates a design-led approach to optimise density and site potential.

2.5 Policy DMH1 of the draft Local Plan sets out that all developments with capacity to provide 10 or 
more self-contained units will be required to provide affordable housing, applying the thresholds 
to viability as set out In the London Plan. Development should maximise the delivery of affordable 
housing. The borough's preferred tenure mix sets out that 50% of affordable housing should be 
an Intermediate product, such as London Living Rent or London Shared Ownership, whilst 50% 
should be for social rent of London Affordable Rent. 

2.6 Policy DMH2 of the draft Local Plan sets out that development proposals will be required to 
provide a range of unit sizes in accordance with the Council's preferred housing size mix, which 
is set out in the table below:

Bedroom/Dwelling 
Size

Private (%) Intermediate (%) Social (%)

1-bed 39 17 10

2-bed 26 44 40

Page 22



9

3-bed 25 19 40

4+-bed 10 19 10

2.7 The policy further sets out that the Council will consider a different housing mix, having regard to 
affordable housing requirements and up to date evidence on housing need.  

2.8 The below tables set out the previously approved unit mix and affordable housing split:

Previously Approved Mix and Tenure

Unit Size Private Affordable Total

1-bedroom 30 10 40 (53%)

2-bedroom 15 5 20 (27%)

3-bedroom 4 11 15 (20%)

Total Units 49 (65.3%) 26 (34.7%) 75

Total habitable 
rooms (hr)

121 (60.5%) 79 (39.5%) 200

Previously Approved Affordable Housing Mix

Unit Size Social Rent Shared Ownership Total

1-bedroom 5 5 10 (13%)

2-bedroom 4 1 5 (7%)

3-bedroom 4 7 11 (15%)

Total Units 13 (50%) 13 (50%) 26

Total habitable 
rooms (hr)

38 (48.1%) 41 (51.9%) 79

2.9 The two tables below set out the unit mix and affordable housing mix newly proposed under 
this application:

Proposed Mix and Tenure

Unit Size Private Affordable Total

1-bedroom 28 4 32 (35%)

2-bedroom 25 14 39 (43%)

3-bedroom 6 14 20 (22%)

Total Units 59 (64.8%) 32 (35.2%) 91

Total habitable 
rooms (hr)

155 (60%) 106 (40%) 261

Proposed Affordable Housing Mix

Unit Size London Affordable 
Rent

Shared Ownership Total

1-bedroom 4 0 4

Page 23



10

2-bedroom 14 0 14

3-bedroom 14 0 14

Total Units 32 (100%) 0 32 (100%)

Total habitable 
rooms (hr)

106 (100%) 0 106 (100%)

2.10 The proposed development seeks to provide an additional 16 residential units, taking the total 
number of new dwellings to 91. In the context of a major development, this increase is 
considered proportionate within the scope of a s.73 amendment. There is a strong need for 
additional new homes in LBBD, and so any increased provision is supported in principle, subject 
to the suitable assessment of any associated impacts.

2.11 In addition to the increase in the number of overall units, the prosed amendments include an 
increase in the provision of affordable housing, as measured by the number and proportion of 
habitable rooms and units. At least 32 units would be provided as affordable housing, 
whereas only 26 would have been provided previously. 

2.12 In addition, whereas the previous consent secured a 50:50 intermediate:social rent split of 
affordable housing, the proposed development would secure all affordable units at London 
Affordable Rent. This is classes as a ‘social rent’ tenure within planning policy. The proposal 
removes the intermediate provision and ensures the delivery of more affordable tenures across 
the entirety of the affordable housing offer. This is supported.

2.13 In addition to the improvements in the number and proportion of affordable units, the proposed 
amendments would also result in a greater overall number and proportion of family sized (2 and 3 
bedroom) units, with a reduction in the provision on 1-bedroom units. This ensures that the 
proposals would more closely align with the borough’s preferred unit mix, based on recently 
assessed objectively assessed housing need. 

2.14 Overall, it is considered that the proposed amendments would result in significant improvement, 
with increases in affordable housing and family sized units. This is strongly supported. 

Accessible Housing and Minimum Space Standards

2.15 Policy D7 (Accessible housing) of the London Plan requires suitable housing to provide at least 
10% of dwelling that meet the Building Regulation Part M4(3) “Wheelchair user dwellings 
requirements”, and all other dwellings to meet Building Regulation M4(2) “Accessible and 
adaptable dwellings”. This is supported by Policy BC2 (Accessible and Adaptable housing) of the 
Borough Wide Development Policy DPD. 

2.16 Policy D6 of the London Plan sets out minimum internal space standards for new dwellings, 
which must be adhered to. These accord with the Nationally Described Minimum Space 
Standards (DCLG, 2015). 

2.17 All units would continue to meet the Nationally Described Minimum Space Standards. The 
proposed development would also continue to deliver 90% of units as M4(2) ‘accessible and 
adaptable’ dwellings and 10% as M4(3) ‘wheelchair user dwellings.’ This is supported and the 
development is considered acceptable in this regard. 

2.18 LBBD Access confirmed that their previous comments have been incorporated into the scheme 
and thereby raised no objection. They did request that accessible design be incorporated into the 
playspace. Playspace detailed design is secured by condition and the incorporation of accessible 
design will be factored into decision taking when the detailed playspace designs are provided. 

Page 24



11

2.19 In addition to the above, all units would continue to meet the minimum London Plan standards in 
terms out private outdoor amenity provision, with each unit to be provided with its own balcony of 
at least 5sqm. Further to this, all residents will benefit from access to the communal roof terrace 
and ground floor amenity spaces, as per the existing consent. 

Internal Daylight/Sunlight

2.20 A daylight and sunlight report for windows within the development was submitted in support of 
the application. This sets out that the proposed amendments would continue to ensure a high 
level of compliance with the BRE guidelines overall. Whilst there are instances where the 
Daylight Provision targets are not met, the results are not abnormal in the context of an urban 
location, particularly given planning policy requirements to maximise site capacity. 73% of all 
habitable rooms tested meet or surpass the BRE minimum illuminance recommendations, with 
many remaining rooms achieving near compliance. Previously, all rooms were in compliance. 
However, officers note that the BRE guidance has since been updated and, further, the previous 
scheme was inefficient and unrealistic in its layout. This resulted in a poor optimisation of the 
site’s capacity and resulted in issues with deliverability. The proposed level of illuminance is 
considered a reasonable level of compliance in the context of an urban development site and is 
not considered unacceptable, in the context of the scheme as a whole. 

2.21 In terms of overshadowing, the proposed public realm to the south of the building and the roof 
terraces perform very well, with almost 100% of the space receiving at least 2 hours of sunlight 
on 21st March. The ground floor rear garden, focussed on child play space provision would only 
see 12% of its area receiving at least 2 hours sunlight on the 21st March. This represents a poor 
result. However, officers acknowledge that the principle of a garden space in this north facing 
location adjacent to the tallest element of the building was considered acceptable under the 
extant scheme, given the constraints of the site. Further, given the focus on playspace provision 
in this location, overshadowing is considered less a significant issue and there are benefits in 
ensuring that children are given some shade when playing during the hottest months of the year. 
Given that all residents will benefit from the roof top open space provision, which has near 
unrestricted sunlight, it is considered that there would be an effective balance to the scheme 
when overshadowing is viewed in the round. 

2.22 The development would provide units which accord with the relevant standards on accessibility 
and minimum space standards. The amendments would result in a greater provision of affordable 
housing, in tenures providing greater levels of affordability overall, as well as an increase in the 
provision of affordable housing. The proposals are therefore supported in this regard. 

3. Design, Layout and Scale 

3.1 Paragraph 124 of the NPPF stresses the importance of good design and states that the creation 
of high quality, beautiful and sustainable buildings and places is fundamental to what the 
planning and development process should achieve.

3.2 Chapter 3 (Design) of the London Plan sets out key urban design principles to guide 
development in London. Design policies in this chapter seek to ensure that development 
optimises site capacity; is of an appropriate form and scale; responds to local character; achieves 
the highest standards of architecture, sustainability, and inclusive design; enhances the public 
realm; provides for green infrastructure; and respects the historic environment. 

3.3 Policy CP3 (High quality-built environment) of the Core Strategy states that all development 
proposal will be expected to achieve high quality standards in relation to the design and layout if 
new building and spaces. Policy BP11 (Urban design) sets design principles that new 
development should follow.

3.4 The proposed development benefits from effective pre-application engagement with Be First 
Officers, as outlined in the applicant’s planning statement.

Page 25



12

3.5 The proposed development maintains the overall bulk and massing principles, established under 
the extant planning permission. The building height would range from five storeys at its western 
end, to nine storeys at its eastern end as per the extant scheme.

3.6 New fire regulations have emerged since the previous scheme was determined. This requires 
that each core be provided with a second staircase, to assist in firefighting and emergency 
evacuation. This results in an increased storey height around the lift and stair core in the centre 
of the building. However, there would be no increase in the maximum number of storeys and the 
area of increased height would be set back from the front elevation, thereby reducing its 
prominence on the street scene. Therefore, this change is not considered unacceptable, and 
officers also note that it will help ensure equal access to the roof terrace for residents on both 
sides of the building. This is supported. 

3.7 Minor alterations are proposed to the building’s footprint. To the south, the building would have a 
greater set back from Church Elm Lane. This provides new space for new public realm in front of 
the community/commercial units compared with the extant scheme, thereby providing additional 
public benefit under the current proposals.  

3.8 On the east and west side of the site, the building line is largely unaltered. Vehicular access 
would continue to be provided along the between the edge of the site and the building on the 
eastern elevation, whilst the western elevation would sit in close proximity to the site boundary. 
To the north, the building line would be similar to the existing scheme, although it does extend 
slightly deeper than under the original scheme, most notably in the centre of the building. This is 
considered in more depth in the section of neighbouring amenity. In design terms, it is considered 
that the proposed amends to the footprint are acceptable. 

3.9 The internal layouts of the building are altered, compared with the existing consent. This is to 
ensure a more rational, deliverable building design. However, all units would continue to benefit 
from a logical internal layout, which accords with the relevant space and size standards. Ideally, 
all units would benefit from true dual aspect. However, Policy D6 of the London Plan 
acknowledges that some single aspect units may be permitted where this is considered the most 
appropriate design solution to maximise site capacity through a design led approach, in line with 
Policy D3. There would be some units which officers do not consider to have an optimal aspect. 
However, all units would benefit from a degree of dual aspect, and most would benefit from a true 
dual aspect, as defined in the London Housing Design LPG (2023). This change is therefore 
considered acceptable within the wider planning balance. 

3.10 At ground floor level, the changes to the building line and the reduction in car parking result in 
more space for ground floor outdoor amenity. The children’s playspace to the rear of the site 
would be increased in size and the scheme would also benefit from additional amenity space 
along the building’s frontage. This is supported by officers and represents an improvement on the 
extant scheme. 

3.11 The proposed layout changes would also result in a reconfiguration of internal spaces. The 
previous scheme permitted a large amount of the building frontage to be taken up by refuse 
stores and parking, thereby resulting in sections of dead frontage. The revised scheme will 
benefit from greater street activation, with larger commercial and community units across the 
entire frontage, other than two entrances into the residential areas of the block. Refuse and cycle 
stores would be located to the rear of the building, resulting in less detriment to visual amenity. 
As a result of the layout change, the proposed ground floor commercial/community spaces would 
be larger than under the existing scheme, thereby allowing the possibility of their use by a wider 
range of end users. This is supported. 

3.12 In line with the consented scheme, the core material for the scheme would be brick. Three 
separate brick types are proposed which provide a simpler colour palette to the approved 
scheme, taking reference from other recently constructed schemes in the borough. Final details 

Page 26



13

are secured by condition. However, officers found the initially proposed bricks to be of an 
acceptable quality. 

3.13 Variance and depth are created in the facade using the same form of block structures with inset 
panelling. Brick detailing will ensure that there is visual interest across the elevations.

3.14 The fenestration design is true to the materiality concept of the approved planning permission. 
For reveal surrounds, doors and windows, anthracite grey aluminium is proposed. 

3.15 The balconies will be wrapped in brown metal. The balcony balustrades will benefit from 
perforated geometric patterns to address privacy concerns. There will be two balcony types, one 
would use a denser pattern and be used to provide greater privacy and prevent overlooking. The 
other would-be a less dense pattern, which would allow greater transparency, facing over less 
sensitive areas. Detailed architectural drawings are secured by condition, so that officers can 
ensure the level of perforation for each balcony type is suitable, based on its location. 

3.16 The architectural approach of the revised scheme would align well with the extant permission and 
will continue to comprise a limited palette of materials, including brickwork and glazing. Detailed 
design elements result in a well-articulated building and provide additional levels of interest, whist 
the increased span of active frontage across the southern elevation also reflects a positive 
change. Overall, it is considered that the proposed design amends respect local character and 
the principles established under the previous permission, thereby resulting in a high-quality 
design, in accordance with the relevant planning policies. The proposed bulk and massing 
principles of the original scheme are retained and, the minor changes in the building’s proposed 
footprint are considered acceptable. The proposed amendments are therefore supported by 
officers with regards to matters of design, layout and scale. 

Crime and Safety
3.17 Policy D11 (Safety, security, and resilience to emergency) of the London Plan states that 

development proposals should maximise building resilience and minimise potential physical risks, 
including measures to design out crime. This approach is supported by Policy CP3 (High quality 
built environment) of the Core Strategy and Policy BC7 (Crime prevention) of Borough Wide 
Development Policies DPD.

3.18 It is considered that the proposals have been well designed with regards to designing out 
opportunities for crime. Access to the residential areas and rooftop would be by fob only, with 
only residents permitted access. The rear car park and play space would sit behind a secure 
gateline with robust boundary treatments secured by condition. The Designing Out Crime Officer 
from the Metropolitan Police provided comments on the proposals. He advised that “the original 
Police response (PSSS) still has merit and it’s reassuring to see the recommendations appear in 
this latest submission. As such we will offer no further comment.” He did advise that mailboxes 
should be relocated if possible, but it is not considered that their proposed location is 
unacceptable. Overall, therefore it is considered that the proposals have been well considered 
with regards to the designing out of crime and are acceptable in this regard.  

Fire Safety
3.19 Policy D12 (Fire Safety) of the London Plan requires all development proposals to achieve the 

highest standards of fire safety and to requires all major proposals to be supported by a Fire 
Statement. The Mayor of London has also published pre-consultation draft London Plan 
Guidance on Fire Safety Policy D12 (A).

3.20 Part B (5) in Policy D5 (Inclusive design) of the London Plan states that new development should 
be designed to incorporate safe and dignified emergency evacuation for all building users. 

Page 27



14

3.21 A fire statement was prepared by in support of the application. This sets out that the assessor 
and the reviewer are suitably qualified and details how the building will comply and function in 
terms of the fire safety requirements of the London Plan. Entrances to firefighting cores are within 
18m of a fire appliance. There will be two evacuation lifts and two firefighting lifts, that can be 
used as evacuation lifts if required. The evacuation lifts are deigned to operate for at least 120 
minutes, which the report sets out would be adequate for the anticipated number of residents and 
visitors.   

3.22 The London Fire Brigade were consulted on the proposals and advised they had no observations 
to make. The Health and Safety Executive were also consulted, and they advised that they were 
content with the fire safety design.  

3.23 Given this and the measures set out within the Fire Statement, it is considered that the proposed 
development is acceptable with regards to planning policy requirements in relation to fire safety. 

Summary of Design Matters
3.24 Given the above assessment, it is considered that the proposed development is acceptable with 

regards to matters of design, including appearance, scale and layout. 

4. Impacts to neighbouring amenity:

Policy 

4.1 Paragraph 125 of the NPPF states that local planning authorities should take a flexible approach 
in applying policies or guidance relating to daylight and sunlight, where they would otherwise 
inhibit making efficient use of a site (as long as the resulting scheme would provide acceptable 
living standards). 

4.2 The London Plan Housing SPG states that “An appropriate degree of flexibility needs to be 
applied when using BRE guidelines to assess the daylight and sunlight impacts of new 
development on surrounding properties.”

4.3 Policy BP8 of the Borough Wide Development Policies DPD sets out that all developments are 
expected to have regard to the local character of the area. They should not lead to significant 
overlooking or overshadowing. 

4.4 Policy DMD1 of the draft Local Plan sets out that all development proposals must consider the 
impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties. Major development should clearly demonstrate 
consideration of the individual and cumulative impact on amenity and neighbouring buildings. 

Daylight, Sunlight and Overshadowing

4.5 A Daylight and Sunlight Assessment was prepared by Right of Light Consulting on behalf of the 
applicant. This considers the impact of the development on light receivable by all neighbouring 
residential property.

4.6 The below table shows a comparison of the results of the proposed scheme against the 
previously consented scheme, in terms of Daylight Distribution, Annual Probable Sunlight Hours 
and Vertical Skyline Component. 

Page 28



15

Number of BRE Window Fails

Vertical Sky 
Component 
(VSC)

Daylight 
Distribution (DD)

Annual Probable 
Sunlight Hours 
(APSH) 

Assess
ed 
Propert
y Name

Numbe
r of 
Assess
ed 
Windo
ws Propos

ed 
Schem
e 

Previou
s 
Schem
e

Propos
ed 
Schem
e

Previou
s 
Schem
e

Propos
ed 
Schem
e

Previou
s 
Schem
e

134 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

30 0 0 - - 0 - 

Bartlett 
House 

118 0 0 2 - 0 0 

136 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

5 3 3 - - 0 0 

138 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

5 3 3 - - 0 0 

140 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

5 3 3 - - 0 0 

142 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

5/4 3 1 - - 0 0 

144 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

5 1 0 - - 0 0 

139 to 
167 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

49 10 0 - - 10 6 

31 
Ingleby 
Road 

7 4 1 - - 0 0 

29 
Ingleby 
Road 

7 3 0 - - 1 0 

56 
Ingleby 
Road 

10 4 0 - - 2 2 

54 
Ingleby 
Road 

10/9 0 0 0 - 3 4 

52 
Ingleby 
Road 

11/10 0 0 0 - 2 0 

Page 29



16

50 
Ingleby 
Road 

6 0 0 0 - 1 0 

34 
Ingleby 
Road 

9 4 1 - - 1 0 

32 
Ingleby 
Road 

21/20 6 7 - - 4 0 

30 
Ingleby 
Road 

14 3 0 - - 0 0 

28 
Ingleby 
Road 

8 0 0 - - 0 - 

6 
Harriso
n Road 

5 0 0 - - 0 0 

4 
Harriso
n Road 

5 0 0 - - 0 0 

2 
Harriso
n Road 

6 0 0 - - 0 0 

123 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

6 0 0 - - 0 0 

125 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

7 0 0 - - 0 0 

127 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

10 0 0 - - 0 0 

125 
Church 
Elm 
Lane 

7 0 0 - - 0 0 

Total 
Numbe
r of 
Windo
ws

379 48 
(12%)

19 (5%) 2 (1%) - 24 (6%) 12 (3%)

4.7 Of the total windows assessed (379), only 12% (48) fall below the BRE guidance in terms of VSC 
levels. Officers also note that this is performance is less optimal than under the extant scheme. 
However, some additional impact was anticipated given the increase in the increase in the 
number of units proposed. Officers have scrutinised the results in depth. Of the windows that 
achieve a VSC score of both less than 27% and less than 0.8 times the former value, the majority 
fail only marginally. 23 of the failed windows achieve before/after ratios of 0.7 and above, against 
the BRE target of 0.8. Of the 7 remaining windows, 2 maintain a VSC score of 20% or more and 
the other 5 maintain scores of 15.3% to 19.3%. 

Page 30



17

4.8 Whilst not optimal, it is generally accepted that for large schemes in London, a VSC of 20% or 
more is acceptable, whilst isolated incidences of VSC scores in the mid-teens can also be 
acceptable in the context of a dense scheme, when viewed in the context of the wider planning 
balance. Overall, whilst the VSC scores are slightly lower than under the consented scheme, the 
results are not unusual in the context of an urban location. It is also noted that a greater number 
of windows were assessed under the revised proposals than under the consented scheme. The 
BRE guide explains that the numerical guidelines should be interpreted flexibly, since natural 
lighting is only one of many factors in site layout design. Further, the slightly increased daylight 
impacts must be balanced against the proposed increase in unit numbers and increase in 
affordable housing provision. In this context, the daylight impacts on neighbouring properties are 
not considered untypical and are considered acceptable in this instance. 

4.9 In addition to the VSC testing, daylight distribution tests were undertaken on the revised scheme 
at the request of officers. This testing was not undertaken on the previous scheme, but officers 
felt that its inclusion would result in a more robust assessment. The scheme performed well in 
this regard and all rooms with a requirement for daylight passed the daylight distribution test. 

4.10 In terms of sunlight to windows, all windows which face within 90 degrees of due south have 
been tested for direct sunlight. All main habitable windows pass both the total annual sunlight 
hours test and the winter sunlight hours test, with the exception of only 13 windows. The report 
sets out that APSH targets set out in the BRE guide are primarily intended to be applied to the 
main living room windows, with kitchens and bathrooms being attributed less importance in terms 
of sunlight. There is a minor increase in the number of transgressions when compared with the 
extant scheme. However, only 6% of windows tested fail under this test, in comparison with 3% 
previously. The BRE guidance acknowledges that where existing buildings sit close to the 
common boundary, a higher degree of obstruction may be unavoidable. This is particularly the 
case during the winter months in urban locations, where density makes full compliance 
impractical to achieve. Overall, the transgressions are considered few and not unacceptable 
when taken in the context of the scheme as a whole. 

4.11 In terms of overshadowing, 24 gardens were tested against the BRE guidelines. Only 3 gardens 
(32, 54 and 56 Ingelby Road) fell short against the guidance, with sunlight availability to be 
reduced to less than 0.8 times its former value. Given that the gardens at these properties are 
sited directly to the north of the proposed development site, a greater level of overshadowing is to 
be expected. There is little change compared with the existing scheme in this regard. 32 and 56 
Ingelby Road would see their sunlight availability reduced to less than 0.8 times their former 
value under the extant permission. The revised scheme is therefore considered to result in a 
relatively small change in this regard, with these impacts very challenging to avoid given their 
orientation in relation to the site. 

4.12 Overall, and despite some slightly increased impacts, it is considered that the proposed scheme 
would continue to perform to an acceptable level with regards to daylight/sunlight, in the context 
of a relatively high-density scheme in an urban area. The scheme would also perform well with 
regards to overshadowing. 

4.13 The numerical results demonstrate an overall high level of compliance with the BRE 
recommendations. Whilst there are instances where the Daylight Provision targets are not met, 
the results are not abnormal in the context of an urban location. The report demonstrates, on 
balance, a suitable living environment for future residents, and an acceptable impact on existing 
neighbours which is not judged to cause any significant harm to amenity.

Privacy and Overlooking 

4.14 On the northern boundary, the building line would move slightly closer to neighbouring dwellings 
to accommodate the amended footprint of the building. However, an acceptable level of 
separation would be maintained between existing dwellings and the proposed building, with an 

Page 31



18

area of car park and open space to be maintained between the site boundary and the rear of the 
proposed building, as per the extant permission. 

4.15 To the east and west, the building line is largely unchanged from the original scheme and no new 
impacts are anticipated in terms of overlooking or loss of privacy. To the south, the building line 
has been slightly set back, thereby reducing impact in comparison with the extant scheme. There 
would be one additional balcony on the eastern elevation. However, this is not anticipated to 
result in any direct overlooking with neighbouring property. 

4.16 On the northwestern side of the building, a separation distance of 23 metres will be maintained 
between the rear of the proposed building and the existing dwelling at 32 Ingelby Close. This is 
considered an acceptable separation distance to prevent harmful loss of privacy. On the 
northeastern elevation, a separation distance of c. 12 metres would be maintained between the 
proposed building and the flank elevation of 56 Ingelby Close. Officers note that these appear to 
be secondary windows and that a similar separation distance of 15m was permitted under the 
extant permission. Given the characteristics of the neighbouring dwellings and the scheme 
permitted under the extant permission, the proposed layout changes are considered acceptable 
on balance, with regards to privacy and overlooking. 

4.17 Officers note neighbour comments in relation to the slightly increased number of balconies on the 
northern elevation. Under the previous scheme, there were three north facing sets of balconies 
on each floor. Under the revised scheme there would be five sets on each floor. The London Plan 
requires that every unit be provided with a private balcony. Under the previous scheme, many of 
the units spanned the full depth of the building and would have had their balconies located on the 
southern elevation. This resulted in an inefficient scheme that the applicant advised was not 
viably deliverable, hence the proposed amendments under this scheme. Further, following public 
consultation, the balcony that would have directly faced 30/32 Ingelby Road was moved to a new 
location, where it would no longer face these dwellings directly. Further, a maintain a minimum c. 
26 metre separation by balconies from the rear of these dwellings would be maintained. This 
separation distance in not considered unacceptable. 

4.18 In addition to this, officers have negotiated the provision of two balcony types. In areas where 
there is a greater need to maintain privacy for neighbouring residents or to prevent overlooking 
into the scheme, a much denser pattern will be used, thereby providing a more solid barrier to 
reduce any sense of overlooking. These details, along with balustrade details to the roof terraces, 
are secured by condition, to ensure that they can be given full scrutiny. 

4.19 Invariably in urban environments, there will be some overlooking between dwellings. However, 
the proposed scheme works well to minimise these impacts, through the placement and design of 
balconies and a good level of separation between windows on the proposed scheme and existing 
dwellings. It is therefore considered that the proposal is acceptable and will not result in any 
materially worse impact than under the extant permission. 

4.20 Overall, the proposed development is considered to accord with the relevant planning policies 
and is therefore considered acceptable with regards to impacts on neighbouring amenity.  

5. Public Realm, Landscape and Biodiversity

Landscaping 

5.1 Policy D8 (Public realm) of the London Plan requires development proposal to amongst other 
things, ensure the public realm is well-designed, safe, accessible, inclusive, attractive, well-
connected, related to the local and historic context, and easy to understand, service and 
maintain. Policy G1 (Green infrastructure) expects development proposals to incorporate 
appropriate elements of green infrastructure that are integrated into London’s wider green 
infrastructure network. Policy G5 (Urban greening) states that major development proposals 

Page 32



19

should contribute to the greening of London by including urban greening as a fundamental 
element of site and building design, and by incorporating measures such as high-quality 
landscaping (including trees), green roofs, green walls, and nature based sustainable drainage. 
The policy encourage borough to develop an Urban Greening Factor (UGF) to identify 
appropriate amount of urban greening required in new developments. Policy G6 (Biodiversity and 
access to nature) states that development proposal should manage impact on biodiversity. Policy 
G7 of London Plan seeks to ensure that wherever possible existing trees of value are retained.

5.2 At local level, Policy CR2 (Preserving and enhancing the natural environment) of the Core 
Strategy stated that the Council will seek to preserve and enhance the boroughs natural 
environment.  Policy BR3 (Greening the Urban Environment) of the Borough Wide Development 
Policies DPD states that all development proposal needs to demonstrate that the sequential 
approach set out below to preserving and enhancing the natural environment. 

5.3 Draft Local Plan Policy DMNE1 states that all major development should contribute to the 
delivery of sufficient new publicly accessible open space on-site, which should be of high-quality 
and accessible to all. It should provide multiple benefits, including recreation, improvements to 
biodiversity and links to green infrastructure, as well as any blue infrastructure, on and adjacent 
to the development site. Draft Policy DMNE2 sets out that development proposals will be 
supported where they maximise opportunities for urban greening, including landscaping and 
street trees. Draft Policy DMNE3 sets out that all development proposals are required to 
demonstrate a minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain using the DEFRA metric. Major 
development proposals are required to contribute to the strategic network of green and blue 
spaces. They must also submit ecology assessments to demonstrate biodiversity enhancements. 
Draft Policy DMNE 5 sets out that all major development is expected to incorporate new trees, 
shrubs and vegetation over and above any existing provision. 

5.4 A landscaping strategy has been prepared by Weddle Landscape Design to accompany the 
application. As acknowledged in the officer report for the original consent, the site is highly 
constrained. Nonetheless, officers consider that the applicant has proposed a high-quality 
strategy, which makes an effective use of the space available. 

5.5 At ground floor level, the scheme is proposed to be further set back than under the consented 
scheme. This allows for 64sqm outdoor amenity space on the building frontage. This will provide 
a new public benefit for the scheme, comprising informal play and seating. It will also form an 
attractive gateway to the proposed community space in the centre of the building. 

5.6 At the rear, playspace would continue to be provided at ground floor and would be accompanied 
by an internal parents’ room, which would function as an additional indoor amenity space for play, 
socialising and for parents to watch over children playing outside. Officers have some concern 
that the playspace will be heavily overshadowed, particularly in the winter months. However, the 
principle of this was established under the extant scheme. Further, a condition is recommended 
which would require details of planting to consider appropriate species for shaded conditions. 
This condition will require detailed landscape information for the whole site. As the car parking 
provision has been reduced compared with the extant scheme, additional playspace is proposed 
in this location, which is supported. 

5.7 Roof terraces are maintained in the proposed scheme, which will provide high-quality amenity 
spaces for residents to enjoy. These will benefit from full sun, providing an effective balance with 
the more shaded space at ground floor on the northern end of the site. In order to prevent 
neighbouring amenity impacts caused by overlooking, and to ensure safety, the roof terraces 
would be set back from the edge of the building. Officers have recommended a condition, which 
would ensure permanent access to the roof terraces for all residents during daylight hours, 
thereby putting the onus on the applicant to maintain these spaces to a suitable standard. 

5.8 Officers have assessed the scheme using the GLA’s child playspace calculator. This results in a 
playspace requirement of 547.6sqm. The applicant has proposed 303sqm of playspace and a 

Page 33



20

44sqm ‘parents’ room’. Taking into account only the external playspace, there would be a 
shortfall of 244.6sqm of playspace. On this basis, the applicant has agreed to make a financial 
contribution in lieu of full on-site provision and has agreed to pay LBBD Parks £95,000 for 
improvements towards Old Dagenham Park. This will contribute to works in the park, such as the 
upgrade and repair of the BMX track, new signage, gates, seating, play space and play 
equipment upgrade and MUGA upgrade. The payment has been secured prior to 
commencement of above ground works in the heads of terms. Whilst on-site playspace provision 
is always the preferred approach, officers consider that this funding will help deliver significant 
improvement in the park, thereby offsetting the impact of the new development and resulting in 
new benefit for the wider community. This is therefore considered a positive improvement 
compared with the previous scheme. 

Ecology and Biodiversity 

5.9 London Plan Policy G6 out that development proposals should manage impacts on biodiversity 
and aim to secure net biodiversity gain. This should be informed by the best available ecological 
information and addressed from the start of the development process. 

5.10 Policy BR3 of the Borough Wide Development Policies DPD sets out that development should 
help to green the urban environment. Nature conservation enhancements are recommended and 
wildlife corridors should be promoted and encouraged through all new development. 

5.11 Draft Policy DMNE3 sets out that all development proposals are required to demonstrate a 
minimum of 10% biodiversity net gain using the DEFRA metric.

5.12 A Preliminary Ecological Appraisal was submitted as part of the application. This confirms that 
nature of the proposed development, with additional surveys, mitigation, and precautionary 
measures in place, will ensure that the proposals will have no adverse impacts upon surrounding 
habitats, protected species, and wildlife in general. An update to condition 4 is proposed, which 
would require details of ecological and biodiversity measures to be implemented during the 
demolition, construction and operational phases of the development, and details of a follow up 
bat survey. Subject to this proposed update in condition wording, the development is considered 
acceptable with regards to ecological impact.  

5.13 The proposed development would deliver a biodiversity net gain of 1718%, which exceeds the 
mandatory 10% requirement significantly. Despite this, under the first presented proposals under 
this application, the development would not have met the requirement of trading standards due to 
the loss of 15sqm of g3c neutral grassland within the site. Therefore, the landscape proposals 
were amended to incorporate an area of amenity grassland at ground floor level. The 
development is now therefore considered acceptable in this regard, and in full compliance with 
requirements for biodiversity net-gain. 

5.14 Subject to the recommended the conditions and financial contribution to LBBD Parks, the 
development is considered to accord with the requirements of planning policy in terms of its high-
quality landscaping proposals and is considered acceptable with regards to matters of ecology 
and biodiversity. 

6. Sustainable Transport, Waste Management and Construction Impacts

6.1 Paragraph 110 of the NPPF sets out that development proposals should ensure that appropriate 
opportunities to promote sustainable transport modes can be taken up; that there is safe and 
suitable access to the site for all users; that the design of streets, parking areas and other 
transport elements reflect current national guidance; and that any significant impacts from the 
development on the transport network (in terms of capacity and congestion), or on highway 
safety, can be cost effectively mitigated to an acceptable degree. 

Page 34



21

6.2 Policy BR11 (Walking and cycling) of the Borough Wide Policies DPD seeks to ensure that 
conditions for cyclists and pedestrians are protected and where appropriate improved. Policy 
BR10 (Sustainable Transport) of the Borough Wide Policies DPD seeks to encourage sustainable 
transport.  

6.3 Policy T6 of the London Plan sets out that car parking should be restricted in line with levels of 
existing and future public transport accessibility and connectivity. Car-free development should 
be the starting point of all development proposals that are well connected by public transport, 
with developments elsewhere designed to provide the minimum necessary parking (‘car-lite’). 
Disabled persons parking should be provided for Blue Badge Holders. 

6.4 Policy BR9 (Parking) of the Borough Wide Policies DPD states that car parking standards set out 
in the London Plan will be used as a maximum parking standard for new development. Policy 
DMT 2 (Car parking) also adopts the maximum London Plan car parking standards and other 
aspirations. 

6.5 Policy BR9 (Parking) of the Borough Wide Policies DPD states that in relation to cycle parking 
TfL cycle parking standards, will be used as a minimum parking standard of new development. 

6.6 Policy DMT 3 (Cycle parking) of the draft Local Plan states that all development must adopt the 
maximum London Plan cycle parking standards with the design and layout of cycle parking being 
in accordance with the London Cycling Design Standards.

6.7 Policy T5 (Cycling) and Table 10.2 of the London Plan states that Development Plans and 
development proposals should help remove barriers to cycling and create a healthy environment 
in which people choose to cycle. This will be achieved through securing the provision of 
appropriate levels of cycle parking which should be fit for purpose, secure and well-located.

Car Parking and Car Club

6.8 A Healthy Streets Transport Statement has been prepared by Caneparo, as part of the suite of 
application documents. This sets out that the western access point for vehicles on the western 
side of the site will be maintained. In total, the proposals provide 14 car parking spaces of which 
3 are disabled spaces. This is a reduction compared with the previous proposals. However, the 
planning policy position has been updated since the previous scheme was assessed. The 
London Plan (2021) makes very clear that ‘car-free’ should be the start point for development in 
London. ‘Car-lite’ schemes are permissible in less well connected areas but should provide the 
minimum necessary level of parking. Outer London areas allow for an absolute maximum parking 
provision of up to 0.75 spaces per dwelling for 1 and 2 bed units, and up to 1 space per dwelling 
for 3+ bed units. 

6.9 Given the proximity of the site to Dagenham Heathway Station and local services, as well as bus 
routes along Church Elm Lane, it is considered that the proposed 14 spaces represents a 
suitable level of parking provision for the site, in the context of the London Plan policy 
requirements. During pre-application consultation with Ward Councillors, a desire was expressed 
for additional car parking. This resulted in the addition of two more spaces, when the scheme 
was submitted, to bring the total to 14. The applicant has undertaken parking surveys of the 
surrounding streets to demonstrate that there is sufficient unused parking in the vicinity for the 
proposed development not to result in parking stress. Likewise, the s.106 will secure that 
residents are not eligible to apply for parking permits in the CPZ. Further, a car parking design 
and management plan is secured by condition, to ensure that the car park is adequately 
managed. On this basis, Be First Highways and LBBD Highways have confirmed that no 
objections are raised with regards to the proposed car parking provision. 

6.10 The London Plan requires that 3% of dwellings will have at least one designated disabled 
persons parking bay from the outset, with the potential for an additional 7% of units to have one. 

Page 35



22

The proposed provision of 3 spaces, with the potential to convert the remaining spaces meets 
this requirement and the proposals are considered acceptable in this regard. 

6.11 The proposed scheme would continue to provide a car club, which would be free for all residents. 
However, the Heads of Terms secure that free membership would be provided for three years for 
all residents under the revised scheme, compared with two previously. This is a welcome 
improvement. 

Cycle Parking

6.12 In terms of cycle parking, the proposed scheme would accord with the London Plan standards. 
159 spaces are proposed, of which 9 would be oversized. 18 short stay visitor cycle spaces 
would be provided. 4 of these would service the residential spaces and 14 would service the 
commercial spaces. These will be located across the site frontage, so that they are publicly 
accessible, whilst all long stay spaces will be secured within the building. 

Waste

6.13 In terms of waste, each of the two refuse stores provides 6no. 1100L eurobins for waste, and 
6no. 1100L eurobins for recycling. This offers a capacity of 13,200L for waste, and 13,200L for 
recycling per refuse store for the entire building. Servicing and refuse collection will occur in the 
loading bay located along the front of the site. The loading bay has been enlarged since the 
original permission and will allow large vehicles to offload from ground floor to serve the entire 
development. Two service bays are provided on Church Elm Lane to minimise drag distances for 
waste collection as much as possible. This distance is c.12m on the west side, and c.9.4m on the 
east side. A secondary route of c.22m is also provided to the east side, to be used as and when 
required. LBBD’s waste team have been consulted on the proposals and confirmed that the 
provision is sufficient. A bulky waste condition will be maintained from the previous consent. In 
addition, the legal agreement will secure that the communal bins outside the site will be moved at 
the applicant’s expense. The exact location is to be agreed separately, but this is likely to be to 
the junction with Haresfield Road. 

Delivery and Servicing 

6.14 A Delivery and Servicing Plan, and Waste Management Plan have been prepared by Caneparo 
Associates and submitted in support of this planning application. A loading bay is proposed 
immediately outside the site which will measure 34m x3m (plus chamfers) to readily 
accommodate two of the largest expected refuse vehicles and delivery vehicles at the same time, 
or up to 4 Transit/Sprinter vans. Vehicles will be able to park off of the highway, ensuring the free 
flow of traffic on Church Elm Lane. 

Highways Improvement

6.15 In order to facilitate the provision of the delivery and servicing bays, as well as the car club 
space, the applicant will enter into an off-site highways agreement with LBBD. As part of these 
proposals, and as per the extant permission, the applicant will also provide a new zebra crossing 
to replace the current speed hump outside the site. This will provide a notable improvement to 
the local pedestrian environment and facilitate trips between the site and Old Dagenham Park. 
This has been discussed extensively with highways officers and is strongly supported. 

Summary 

6.16 Overall, it is considered that access provisions have been well considered, car and cycle parking 
provision is appropriate, and all other matters are well resolved. Be First Highways, LBBD 
Highways and LBBD Waste have all confirmed that they raise no objection to the proposals.  
Subject to the relevant planning conditions and s.106 and s.278 legal agreements, the proposals 

Page 36



23

are considered to comply with the relevant planning policies and the development is therefore 
considered acceptable in this regard. 
 

7. Energy and Sustainability 

7.1 Paragraph 152 of the NPPF states that the planning system should support the transition to a low 
carbon future in a changing climate and should help to shape places that contribute to radical 
reductions in greenhouse gas emissions and encourage the reuse of existing resources. 

7.2 Policy GG5 (Growing a good economy) of the London Plan recognises and promotes the benefits 
of a transition to a low carbon circular economy to strengthen London’s economic success. Policy 
SI2 (Minimising greenhouse gas emissions) directs that major development should be net zero-
carbon, through reducing greenhouse gas emissions in accordance with the following hierarchy:

 Be lean: Use Less Energy
 Be clean: Supply Energy Efficiently 
 Be green: Use Renewable Energy 
 Be seen: Monitor and Report

7.3 The policy requires a minimum on-site reduction of at least 35% beyond Part L Building 
Regulations for major development, of which 15% should be achieved through energy efficiency 
measures for non-residential development.

7.4 Policy BR1 (Environmental Building Standards) of the Borough Wide Development Policies DPD 
states that all developments are expected to meet high standards of sustainable design and 
construction. Policy BR2 (Energy and on-site renewables) outlines the expectations for significant 
carbon reduction targets to be achieved. 

7.5 Policy DMSI2 (Energy, heat and carbon emissions) of the draft Local Plan 2037 sets out the 
Council’s expectations for major development to contribute and where possible exceed the 
borough’s target of becoming carbon neutral by 2050 by maximising potential carbon reduction 
on-site and demonstrating the achievement of net zero carbon buildings.

7.6 London Plan Policy SI4 sets out that development proposals should minimise adverse impacts on 
the urban heat island. Major development proposals should demonstrate through an energy 
strategy how they will reduce the potential for internal overheating and reliance on air 
conditioning systems.

7.7 An Energy Statement has been prepared by dsa Engineering. This sets out that the residential 
units will benefit from the following to reduce their carbon emissions:

 Efficient fabric thermal u-values
 PV panels
 Waste Water Heat Recovery (WWHR) to all showers and baths
 High efficiency services, i.e. low energy lighting, mechanical ventilation with heat recovery
 Hot water generation via local air source heat pumps

7.8 The Energy Statement has been prepared in accordance with the London Plan hierarchy. The 
below table sets out how the residential element of the development responds to the 
requirements of the London Plan. 

Be Lean Savings from energy demand reduction – 14.3 tonnes CO2 per annum, 
equivalent to a 19% saving against regulated carbon emissions. 

Be Clean There are no district heat networks in the vicinity for the development to 
connect to. No savings are proposed at the Be Clean stage. 

Page 37



24

Be Green Savings from renewable energy – 36.1 tonnes CO2 per annum, equivalent to 
a 47% reduction in regulated carbon emissions. 

Total 
Savings

The total on-site saving would be 50.5 tonnes CO2 per annum, which is 
equivalent to a 66% reduction in regulated carbon emissions. 

7.9 The energy reduction measures for the non-residential units has also been calculated. The below 
table shows the performance of the scheme as a whole, when both the residential and non-
residential elements are included in the calculations. 

Be Lean Savings from energy demand reduction – 14.39 tonnes CO2 per annum, 
equivalent to a 18.5% saving against regulated carbon emissions. 

Be Clean There are no district heat networks in the vicinity for the development to 
connect to. No savings are proposed at the Be Clean stage. 

Be Green Savings from renewable energy – 26.34 tonnes CO2 per annum, equivalent 
to a 46.6% reduction in regulated carbon emissions. 

Total 
Savings

The total on-site saving would be  tonnes CO2 per annum, which is 
equivalent to a 65.1% reduction in regulated carbon emissions. 

 
7.10 The Energy Statement confirms that the proposed carbon savings are 66% compared with the 

Building Regulations Part L. This is significantly above the minimum 35% reduction required by 
the London Plan. 

7.11 In line with planning policy requirements to achieve carbon net zero on major development, the 
LBBD Draft Planning Obligations SPD sets out that new major development which does not fully 
meet the required standards shall make a payment of £95 per tonne x30 years, equal to £2,850 
per tonne. To achieve ‘zero carbon’ for the proposed building, the applicant has estimated that 
817 tonnes of regulated CO2 are expected to be offset offsite. This would result in a cash in lieu 
contribution of approximately £77,597. This will be verified at a later stage. Accordingly, the 
applicant has agreed to a clause in the s.106 agreement, which will require a monetary 
contribution to LBBD’s carbon offset fund to offset the remaining emissions. The exact amount 
will be dependent on an assessment to be made at practical completion of the development. 

7.12 In addition to the above, a condition from the original consent will be retained which would limit 
the water consumption of each dwelling, in line with the optional requirements of Part G of the 
Building Regulations. A Site Waste Management Plan condition will capture matters relating to 
waste quantities and management strategies. 

7.13 Subject to the recommended conditions and financial contributions, it is considered that the 
proposed development complies well with the requirements of planning policy in relation to 
energy and sustainability. The proposed development is therefore considered acceptable in this 
regard.  

8.  Environmental Protection (Air Quality, Noise and Contamination)

Noise 

8.1 Policy D14 (Noise) of the London Plan seeks to reduce, manage, and mitigate noise to improve 
health and quality of life. 

8.2 Policy BP8 (Protecting Residential Amenity) of the Borough Wide DPD seeks to protect 
residential amenity, by ensuring new developments including conversions, do not expose existing 
and proposed occupiers to unacceptable levels of pollution that may arise. This includes noise, 
smoke, fumes, refuse, comings, and goings and/ or lighting during construction and occupation.

Page 38



25

8.3 Policy BR13 of the Borough Wide DPD sets out that where it is not possible to fully separate 
noise sensitive and noise generating land uses, planning permission will only be granted if there 
will be no exposure to noise above an acceptable level. 

8.4 A Noise Assessment, prepared by ES Acoustics, was submitted with the application. This set out 
that significant adverse effects are unlikely to occur at the proposed development, so long as the 
appropriate mitigation measures are implemented. The report is clear that the revised proposals 
would not generate any new impacts not assessed under the previous consent.
 

8.5 Environmental Protection recommended some updates to the previous conditions in relation to 
noise. These have been duly included in the draft decision notice and form part of the 
recommendation to committee. 

8.6 Subject to these conditions, it is considered that matters relating to acoustics have been well 
considered, in accordance with the relevant development plan policies. The proposed 
development is therefore considered acceptable with regards to matters relating to noise and 
vibration. 

Air Quality

8.7 Policy SI 1 (Improving air quality) of the London Plan requires amongst other things that 
development proposals must be at least Air Quality Neutral. The policy is supported by 
supplementary London Plan Guidance (LPG) documents.

8.8 Policy CR1 (Climate change and environmental management) of the Core Strategy and Policy 
BR14 (Air quality) of the Borough Wide Development Policies DPD states that to contribute 
towards global, national, regional, and local sustainability the Council will protect water and air 
quality. 

8.9 Policies SP7 (Securing a clean, green and sustainable borough) and DMSI 4 (Air quality) of the 
draft Local Plan require proposals to be air quality neutral. Local policy states that where 
proposals would not achieve the ‘air quality neutral’ benchmark, applicants will be expected to 
make a financial contribution in agreement with the Council, either through the carbon offset fund, 
or agree sufficient alternative offsetting arrangements in the borough via planning obligations. 
The local Air Quality Action Plan was updated in 2020 and provides a framework for reducing 
emissions and improving air quality.

8.10 The entire borough is a designated Air Quality Management Area; therefore, an Air Quality 
Assessment (AQA) was submitted with the application. The impact of the development on 
existing receptors is considered “Negligible” and the effect is “Not Significant”. Air quality 
mitigation proposed includes 3 electric vehicle charging points, a car club parking bay, secure 
cycle storage and no combustion plant for space or water heating. 

8.11 Environmental Protection have recommended some updates to the previous conditions in relation 
to air quality, including an air quality and dust management plan and an air quality neutral 
assessment. 

8.12 Subject to these conditions, it is considered that air quality impacts of the development would be 
suitably mitigated, and that the development is therefore acceptable in this regard. 

Contamination

8.13 Policy CR1 (Climate change and environmental management) of the Core Strategy promotes the 
remediation of contaminated land. Policy BR5 (Contaminated land) of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies DPD states that development on or near land that is knows to be 
contaminated or which may be affected by contamination will only be permitted where an 
appropriate site investigation and risk assessment has been carried out as part of the application 

Page 39



26

to identify any risk to human health. This is supported by Policy DMSI 5 (Land contamination) of 
the draft Local Plan.

8.14 A contamination assessment and remediation strategy was secured by condition under the extant 
planning permission. Details were submitted and approved in relation to this. A letter by WDE 
Consulting has been submitted in support of this application, which sets out that the conclusions 
of the previous Phase 2 Geo-Environmental Assessment remain applicable. 

8.15 Environmental Protection were consulted on the application and requested their standard 
condition in relation to contamination. Given that details have previously been approved, the 
condition has been modified slightly so that the remediation scheme must be carried out in 
accordance with the details previously approved by condition. Subject to this condition, the 
proposed development is considered acceptable with regards to contamination and remediation.

9. Flooding and Sustainable drainage:

9.1 Policy SI 12 (Flood risk management) of the London Plan required development to minimise and 
mitigate the risk of flooding. Policy CR4 (Flood Management) of the Core Strategy and Policy 
BR4 (Water Resource Management) of the Borough Wide Development Policies DPD, and Policy 
DMSI 6 (Flood risk and defences) of the draft Local Plan echo the requirements above.

9.2 Policy SI 13 (Sustainable drainage) of the London Plan states that development proposal should 
aim to achieve greenfield run-off rates and ensure that surface run-off is managed as close to its 
source as possible. 

9.3 Policy BR4 (Water resource management) of the Borough Wide Development Policies DPD 
states that development must ensure that greenfield surface water run-off rates are achieved 
where possible through the use of Sustainable Urban Drainage System (SUDS).

9.4 Policy DMSI 7 (Water management) of the draft Local Plan states that development should be 
managed in line with Policy SI 13 (Sustainable drainage) of the London Plan and the drainage 
hierarchy. They expect that development proposals will utilise sustainable drainage methods to 
achieve greenfield run-off rates. 

9.5 A Flood Risk Assessment and Drainage Strategy, prepared by Cole Easdon, was submitted as 
part of the application. This sets out that flood risk from all sources is considered to be low. No 
mitigation is required. 

9.6 The surface water drainage strategy for the site has been prepared according to the drainage 
discharge hierarchy set out in CIRIA C753 The SuDS Manual. The site is underlain by 
impermeable clay, which would prevent the operation of infiltration-based SuDS. Therefore, in 
accordance with the drainage hierarchy, an attenuation-based surface water drainage strategy, 
with disposal to the existing surface water sewer is proposed. Post development surface water 
discharge will be restricted to a rate of 0.7l/s. This provides significant betterment over the 
existing brownfield situation.

9.7 The proposals in relation to flooding and drainage are similar to those secured under the extant 
permission. LBBD were consulted in their role as Local Lead Flood Authority (LLFA). They 
confirmed that the proposals were suitable and raised no objection. A condition is secured which 
would require compliance with the submitted scheme, which requires only a minor wording 
update compared with the extant permission. 

9.8 It is therefore considered that the proposals accord with policies SI 12 and SI 13 of the London 
Plan, as well as policies CR1, CR4 of the Borough Wide Development Policies and draft Local 
Plan policy DMSI 6 and DMSI7. On this basis, the development is considered acceptable with 
regards to flooding and drainage. 

Page 40



27

10. Local Skills and Employment  

10.1 London Plan policy E11 sets out that development proposals should support employment, skills 
development, apprenticeships, and other education and training opportunities in both the 
construction and end-use phases, including through s.106 obligations where appropriate. Draft 
Local Plan Policy SP5 sets out that new developments will generate employment, skills, training 
and supply chain opportunities during the construction and end occupation phases. The Council’s 
Draft Planning Obligations SPD further details the s.106 requirements for new developments, 
with regards to local employment and skills obligations. 

10.2 The proposed development would provide new employment in the borough, both during the 
construction phase and following occupation of the commercial units. The previous consent 
secured a commitment to providing local employment and skills. However, it is proposed under 
this application to update the legal agreement to reflect the latest standard wording agreed with 
LBBD’s Employment and Skills Team. On this basis, the proposed development would be 
expected to generate significant local employment, and this is strongly supported in this regard. 

Conclusions:

This application is for a s.73 amendment to an existing consent 19/00865/FUL for 75 units, with 
associated amenity spaces and flexible ground floor commercial/community space. 

The proposals would result in an increase of 16 units, and a greater proportion of family sized and 
affordable homes, thereby helping to address an acute need for more housing in Barking and 
Dagenham. The proposals are for a more deliverable scheme than the previous consent but would align 
well with the principles established under the previously approved scheme, in terms of height, scale and 
mass. 

The proposed amendments have been independently reviewed by the Quality Review Panel and are 
considered to maintain the same level of quality as that consented under the extant planning permission.

They key benefits of the proposed amendments are as follows:

- 16no. additional new units;
- Increased proportion of family sized units; 
- All affordable units to be delivered at London Affordable Rent, replacing the previous mix which 

would have included 50% intermediate affordable housing; 
- 4no. additional affordable units, to be delivered at London Affordable Rent
- £95,000 financial contribution to improvements in Old Dagenham Park;
- 10 years peppercorn rent and assistance with fit out of the community space;
- An additional year of free car club membership for residents, bringing the total to 3 years
- Provision of an additional stairwell, to comply with updated fire safety regulations 
- Increased play space provision and new public realm on the site’s frontage 

As outlined in the report, the proposals would secure a high-quality development that is of a high design 
quality and that will safeguard nearby residential amenity. Subject to the imposition of the recommended 
conditions and the finalisation of a Section 106 Legal Agreement the proposals will not cause any notable 
transport or adverse environmental impacts.

The proposals therefore accord with the adopted Development Plan and the proposed development 
recommended for approval as outlined in Section 1 of this report.   

Page 41



28

Appendix 1:

Development Plan Context:
The Council has carefully considered the relevant provisions of the Council’s adopted development plan 
and of all other relevant policies and guidance. Of particular relevance to this decision were the following 
Framework and Development Plan policies and guidance:
National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) (Department for Levelling Up, Housing and Communities 
(DLUHC), 2023)

London Plan (2021) 

Chapter 1 Planning London’s Future – Good Growth:
 Policy GG1 (Building strong and inclusive 

communities)
 Policy GG2 (Making the best use of land)
 Policy GG4 (Delivering the homes Londoners need)
 Policy GG5 (Growing a good economy)

Chapter 2 Spatial development polices:
 Policy SD1 (Opportunity Areas)

Chapter 3 Design:
 Policy D1 (London’s form, character and capacity for 

growth)
 Policy D2 (Infrastructure requirements for 

sustainable densities)
 Policy D3 (Optimising site capacity through the 

design-led approach)
 Policy D4 (Delivering good design)
 Policy D5 (Inclusive design)
 Policy D6 (Housing quality and standards)
 Policy D7 (Accessible housing)
 Policy D8 (Public realm)
 Policy D9 (Tall buildings)
 Policy D11 (Safety, security and resilience to 

emergency)
 Policy D12 (Fire safety)
 Policy D13 (Agent of change)
 Policy D14 (Noise)

Chapter 4 Housing:
 Policy H1 (Increasing housing supply)
 Policy H4 (Delivering affordable housing)
 Policy H5 (Threshold approach to applications)
 Policy H6 (Affordable housing tenure)
 Policy H7 (Monitoring of affordable housing)
 Policy H10 (Housing size mix)

Chapter 5 Social infrastructure:
 Policy S1 (Developing London’s social infrastructure)
 Policy S2 (Health and social care facilities)
 Policy S3 (Education and childcare facilities)
 Policy S4 (Play and informal recreation)
 Policy S5 (Sports and recreation facilities)

Chapter 6 Economy:
 Policy E1 (Offices)
 Policy E2 (Providing suitable business space)
 Policy E9 (Retail, markets and hot food takeaways)

Page 42



29

 Policy E11 (Skills and opportunities for all)

Chapter 8 Green infrastructure and natural 
environment:
 Policy G1 (Green infrastructure) 
 Policy G5 (Urban greening)
 Policy G6 (Biodiversity and access to nature)
 Policy G7 (Trees and woodlands)
 Policy G9 (Geodiversity)

Chapter 9 Sustainable infrastructure:
 Policy SI 1 (Improving air quality)
 Policy SI 2 (Minimising greenhouse gas emissions)
 Policy SI 3 (Energy infrastructure)
 Policy SI 4 (Managing heat risk)
 Policy SI5 (Water infrastructure)
 Policy SI 6 (Digital connectivity infrastructure)
 Policy SI 7 (Reducing waste and supporting the 

circular economy) 
 Policy SI 12 (Flood risk management)
 Policy SI 13 (Sustainable drainage)

Chapter 10 Transport:
 Policy T1 (Strategic approach to transport)
 Policy T2 (Healthy Streets)
 Policy T3 (Transport capacity, connectivity and 

safeguarding)
 Policy T4 (Assessing and Mitigating Transport 

Impacts)
 Policy T5 (Cycling)
 Policy T6 (Car parking)
 Policy T7 (Deliveries, servicing and construction)

Chapter 11 Funding the London Plan 
 Policy DF1 (Delivery of the plan and planning 

obligations)

Local Development Framework (LDF) Core 
Strategy (July 2010)

Chapter 4 Managing growth:
 Policy CM1 (General Principles for Development) 
 Policy CM2 (Managing Housing Growth)
 Policy CM4 (Transport Links)
 Policy CM5 (Town Centre Hierarchy)

Chapter 5 Sustainable resource and the environment:
 Policy CR1 (Climate change and environment 

management)
 Policy CR2 (Preserving and enhancing the natural 

environment)
 Policy CR3 (Sustainable Waste Management)
 Policy CR4 (Flood management)

Chapter 6 Creating a sense of community:
 Policy CC1 (Family Housing)

Page 43



30

 Policy CC2 (Social Infrastructure to Meet Community 
Needs)

 Policy CC3 (Achieving Community Benefits through 
Developer Contributions) 

Chapter 7 Ensuring a Vibrant Economy and Attractive 
Town Centres
 Policy CE2 (Location of Office Development)
 Policy CE3 (Safeguarding Release of Employment 

Land)

Chapter 8 Creating a sense of place:
 Policy CP3 (High quality built environment)

Local Development Framework (LDF) Borough 
Wide Development Plan Document (DPD) 
(March 2011)

Chapter 2 Sustainable resource and the environment:
 Policy BR1 (Environmental Building Standards) 
 Policy BR2 (Energy and on-site renewables)
 Policy BR3 (Greening the Urban Environment) 
 Policy BR4 (Water Resource Management)
 Policy BR5 (Contaminated land) 
 Policy BR9 (Parking)
 Policy BR10 (Sustainable Transport) 
 Policy BR11 (Walking and cycling)
 Policy BR13 (Noise mitigation)
 Policy BR14 (Air quality) 
 Policy BR15 (Sustainable Waste Management)

Chapter 3 Creating a sense of community:
 Policy BC1 (Delivering Affordable Housing)
 Policy BC2 (Accessible and Adaptable Housing)
 Policy BC6 (Loss of Community Facilities)
 Policy BC7 (Crime Prevention) 
 Policy BC8 (Mixed Use Development)
 Policy BC10 (The Health Impacts of Development)
 Policy BC11 (Utilities)
 Policy BC12 (Telecommunications) 

Chapter 4 Ensuring a Vibrant Economy and Attractive 
Town Centres:
 Policy BE3: Retail Outside or on the Edge of Town 

Centres
 Policy BE5: Offices – Design and Change of Use

Chapter 5 Creating a sense of place:
 Policy BP3 (Archaeology)
 Policy BP4 (Tall Buildings)
 Policy BP5 (External Amenity Space)
 Policy BP6 (Internal Space Standards) 
 Policy BP8 (Protecting Residential Amenity)
 Policy BP10 (Housing Density)
 Policy BP11 (Urban design) 

Page 44



31

The London Borough of Barking and Dagenham’s Draft Local Plan: (Regulation 19 Submission Version, 
December 2021) is now at an “advanced” stage of preparation, having gone through Local Plan 
Examination in Public in November 2023. Having regard to NPPF paragraph 48, the emerging document 
is now a material consideration and significant weight will be given to the emerging document in decision-
making.

The London Borough of Barking and 
Dagenham’s Draft Local Plan (Regulation 19) 
– (Submission version December 2021)

Chapter 3 Transforming LBBD:
 Strategic Policy SPDG 1 (Delivering growth in 

Barking and Dagenham)
 Policy SPP5 (Dagenham East) 

Chapter 4 Design:
 Strategic Policy SP2 (Delivering a high-quality and 

resilient built environment)
 Policy DMD 1 (Securing high-quality design)
 Policy DMD 2 (Tall buildings)
 Policy DMD 4 (Heritage Assets and Archaeological 

remains)

Chapter 5 Housing:
 Strategic Policy SP3 (Delivering homes that meet 

peoples’ needs)
 Policy DMH1: Affordable Housing
 Policy DMH2: Housing Mix

Chapter 6 Social infrastructure:
 Strategic Policy SP4 (Delivering Social Infrastructure, 

in the Right Locations)
 DMS 2 (Planning for new facilities)

Chapter 7 Economy:
 Strategic Policy SP5 (Promoting inclusive economic 

growth)

Chapter 8 Natural environment:
 Strategic Policy SP6 (Green and blue infrastructure)
 Policy DMNE 1 (Parks, open spaces and play space)
 Policy DMNE 2 (Urban greening) 
 Policy DMNE 3 (Nature conservation and 

biodiversity)
 Policy DMNE 4 (Water Environment)
 Policy DMNE 5 (Trees)

Chapter 9 Sustainable infrastructure:
 Strategic Policy SP7 (Securing a clean, green, and 

sustainable borough)
 Policy DMSI 1 (Sustainable design and construction)
 Policy DMSI 2 (Energy, heat, and carbon emissions)
 Policy DMSI 3 (Nuisance)
 Policy DMSI 4 (Air quality)
 Policy DMSI 5 (Land contamination)
 Policy DMSI 6 (Flood risk and defences)
 Policy DMSI 7 (Water management)
 Policy DMSI 8 (Demolition, construction and 

operational waste)
 Policy DMSI 9 (Smart Utilities) 

Page 45



32

Chapter 10 Transport:
 Strategic Policy SP8 (Planning for integrated and 

sustainable transport)
 Policy DMT 1 (Making better connected 

neighbourhoods)
 Policy DMT 2 (Car parking)
 Policy DMT 3 (Cycle parking)
 Policy DMT 4 (Deliveries, servicing, and 

construction)

Chapter 11 Enabling Delivery 
 Strategic Policy SP9 (Managing Development)
 Policy DMM1 (Planning Obligations – Section 106)

Other Relevant Planning Documents

 MHCLG National Design Guide (October 2019)
 London Borough of Barking and Dagenham, 

Archaeological Priority Area Appraisal dated July 
2016 by Historic England

 Adopted Site Allocations Document 2010
 The BRE Report, Site layout planning for daylight 

and sunlight: a guide to good practice 
 LBBD Draft Planning Obligations SPD (September 

2022)

Additional Reference:
Human Rights Act

The provisions of the Human Rights Act 1998 have been considered in the processing of the application 
and the preparation of this report.

Equalities
In determining this planning application, Be First, on behalf of the London Borough of Barking & 
Dagenham, has regard to its equalities obligations including its obligations under section 149 of the 
Equality Act 2010 (as amended). 
For the purposes of this application there are not considered to be any adverse equalities issues.

Be First is the Council’s urban regeneration vehicle and undertakes planning statutory services on its 
behalf, including development management. LBBD remains the decision-maker. For major schemes 
Members determine planning applications at Planning Committee, and for smaller schemes, typically 
householder, decision-making powers are delegated to LBBD’s Head of Planning Assurance. 
Appropriate governance procedures are followed to ensure there are no conflicts of interest.

 

Page 46

https://www.brebookshop.com/details.jsp?id=326792
https://www.brebookshop.com/details.jsp?id=326792


33

Appendix 2 (Recent Relevant Planning History):

Reference 
Number 

Description of development Status

23/01795/NONMAT An application submitted under 
Section 96A of the Town and 
Country Planning Act (as amended) 
for non-material amendments to 
planning permission ref: 
19/00865/FUL dated 10/01/2020 to 
read: “Demolition of existing 
buildings and erection of a 5 to 9 
storey building to provide new 
residential units together with 
Community (Use Class F2) and 
Commercial (Use Class E) 
floorspace at ground floor, together 
with associated car parking, 
children’s play space and communal 
amenity space”; and in order to 
amend Condition 2 (approved 
plans), Condition 3 (contamination), 
Condition 4 (CEMP and SWMP), 
Condition 5 (Construction Logistics 
Plan), Condition 6 (Air Quality), 
Condition 7 (Acoustic Protection), 
Condition 8 (Plant), Condition 9 
(hours of use), Condition 10 
(Lighting and CCTV), Condition 11 
(Piling), Condition 12 (Flood Risk 
Assessment), Condition 13 
(Materials), Condition 14 
(landscaping), Condition 15 (Travel 
Plan), Condition 16 (Waste), 
Condition 17 (Car Parking Design 
and Management Plan), Condition 
18 (Cycle Parking), Condition 19 
(Delivery and Servicing Plan), 
Condition 20 (Energy), Condition 21 
(Accessible dwellings), Condition 23 
(Water efficiency), Condition 24 
(Non-residential units), Condition 25 
(Fire) and Condition 26 (balustrades, 
screening and boundary treatments).

Approved 

23/00136/CLUE Application for a lawful development 
certificate (existing) for the 
commencement of approved 
application 19/00865/FUL by the 

Lawful 

Page 47



34

construction of part of the 
foundations

22/01744/AOD Details pursuant to Condition 3 
(Contamination) attached to planning 
consent 19/00865/FUL dated 
10/01/2020

Partial discharge in 
relation to parts a) and b)

22/01740/AOD Details pursuant to Condition 4 
(Construction Environmental 
Management and Site Waste 
Management Plan) attached to 
planning consent 19/00865/FUL 
dated 10/01/2020

Approved 

22/01698/AOD Details pursuant to Condition 5 
(Construction Logistics Plan) 
attached to planning consent 
19/00865/FUL dated 10/01/2020

Approved 

22/01627/AOD Details pursuant to Condition 6 (Air 
Quality) attached to planning 
consent 19/00865/FUL dated 
10/01/2020

Approved 

22/01460/NONMAT Non-material amendment to 
planning permission 19/00865/FUL 
dated 10/01/2020 comprising of the 
addition of a new condition relating 
to the implementation of the 
development to be phased through 
Phase 1 and Phase 2

Withdrawn

19/00865/FUL Demolition of existing buildings and 
erection of a 5 to 9 storey building to 
provide 75 residential units (40 x 1 
bed flats, 20 x 2 bed flats and 15 x 3 
bed flats) together with 285m2 
(GEA) of flexible Use Class B1/D1 
commercial floorspace, associated 
car parking, childrens play space 
and communal amenity space.

Approved 

Page 48



35

Appendix 3: 
The following consultations have been undertaken:

 Cllr Phil Waker (Village)
 Cllr Lee Waker (Village)
 Cllr Margaret Mullane (Village)
 London Fire Brigade
 Metropolitan Police
 Thames Water
 Historic England (GLAAS)
 Transport for London 
 LBBD Regeneration
 LBBD Lead Local Flood Authority and Drainage 
 LBBD Access
 Be First Highways
 LBBD Parking Enforcement and CPZ
 LBBD Highways
 LBBD Specialist Services
 LBBD Lighting
 LBBD Refuse Services
 LBBD Environmental Protection
 LBBD District Heating and Energy 
 LBBD Sustainability
 LBBD Trees
 LBBD Parks
 LBBD Employment and Skills Team
 LBBD Participation and Engagement
 LBBD Public Health
 LBBD Education 
 Be First Head of Affordable Housing 
 Essex and Suffolk Water Company 
 National Gas Transmission
 National Grid – Electricity 
 UK Power Networks 
 National Health Service 
 Healthy and Safety Executive 

Summary of Consultation responses received:
Consultee and 
date received Summary of Comments Case Officer Comments
TfL 
Infrastructure 
Protection

19.10.2023

I can confirm that London Underground/DLR 
Infrastructure Protection has no comment to make 
on this planning application.

N/A

Designing Out 
Crime Officer 
(Metropolitan 
Police)

20.10.2023 and 
10.01.2024

Thank you for making me aware of the proposed 
changes. I have viewed the submission and all I 
would ask is that if possible, the mail boxes for 
the Eastern block are brought in to the secure 
lobby.

Parcel/mail theft is a major challenge for us now 
in this borough. The original Police response 

A secured by design condition is 
included and a full assessment of 
the design in relation to crime 
within section 3 of this report. 

Page 49



36

(PSSS) still has merit and it’s reassuring to see 
the recommendations appear in this latest 
submission.

As such we will offer no further comment.

Subsequently advised that no objections were 
raised, subject to a secured by design condition. 

GLAAS
Archaeology

24.10.2023

Having considered the proposals with reference 
to information held in the Greater London Historic 
Environment Record and/or made available in 
connection with this application, I conclude that 
the proposal is unlikely to have a significant effect 
on heritage assets of archaeological interest.
No further assessment or conditions are therefore 
necessary.

N/A

LBBD Access

26.10.2023

I cannot see any of the units identified as 
wheelchair accessible, please can you confirm 
this development meets the 10% required?

Some of the refuse bins will need to be 
accessible for disabled residents.

The plans were updated during 
the course of the application and 
the development will continue to 
deliver 10% M4(3) units and 90% 
M4(2) units. 

The applicant has identified that 
some bins could include 
accessible provision, in 
accordance with LBBD 
standards.  

London Fire 
Brigade

29.10.2023

The London Fire Brigade (LFB) has been 
consulted with regard to the above-mentioned 
premises and have no further observations to 
make. It should be ensured that if any material 
amendments to this consultation is proposed, a 
further consultation may be required.

A condition of compliance with 
the submitted fire statement is 
included. 

National Grid 
Electricity 
Transmission
 
03.11.2023

There are no existing National Grid Electricity 
Transmission assets affected in this area. N/A

London Fire 
Brigade Water 
Team 

07.11.2023

Consideration has been given to the provision of 
fire hydrants in this area, and I can confirm no 
additional hydrants are required and no further 
action is required by our office. We are happy for 
the works at this site to go ahead as planned.

N/A

LBBD 
Environmental 
Protection

08.11.2023

No objections subject to the imposition of 
conditions in relation to acoustic protection, noise 
insulation of party construction, external plant, air 
quality and dust management plan, air quality 
neutral assessment, contaminated land, and a 
construction environmental management plan.  

Conditions on acoustic protection, 
noise insulation of party 
construction, external plant, air 
quality and dust management 
plan, air quality neutral 
assessment, contaminated land, 
and a construction environmental 
management plan all included. 

LBBD Parks

21.11.2023

Provided a list of improvements required for Old 
Dagenham Park and advised a financial 
contribution in lieu of playspace would be 
required, in accordance with the Planning 
Obligations SPD and our usual obligations. 

Financial contribution of £95,000 
to LBBD Parks to be secured in 
the s.106 legal agreement to 
support improvements in Old 
Dagenham Park. New zebra 
crossing to be installed across 

Page 50



37

Church Elm Lane, to link the site 
with the Park, within the s.278 
agreement.  

LBBD 
Participation 
and 
Engagement
 
03.01.2024

Advised that, as the community use would not be 
taken on by the Council, that they were more 
relaxed about the approach taken. Peppercorn 
would be beneficial if deliverable and also agreed 
the principle of assistance with fit out for the 
community use and a marketing strategy to target 
local community groups. 

Applicant has agreed to provide 
10 years peppercorn rent and 
assistance with fit out. A 
marketing strategy will also be 
required to ensure that local 
community groups are made 
aware of the space being made 
available. 

Be First 
Highways
 
29.11.2023

We are generally satisfied with the new layout but 
would recommend a slight tweak with the car 
parking bays. Our concern is if a high sided 
vehicle was to be parked in the end space this 
would obscure sight lines for vehicles exiting the 
adjacent service road. We would recommend 
instead of two spaces reducing it to one and set it 
back slightly for the sole use of a car club bay and 
should be a minimum of 2.4M wide.  

The drawing suggests the design will be a full 
kerb inset loading bay. We recommend if levels 
permit the bay and club space should be at-grade 
which would remove the need for a drop kerb for 
servicing and improve accessibility to the car club 
space. 

Proposed operational times of the loading bay 
should be confirmed and reflect the DSP.

The survey data provided in relation to parking 
was observed on two weekdays and not on a 
weekend. This provides a snapshot that at certain 
times there is capacity for on-street parking, but 
they should also be minded about other 
developments within this area. With these and a 
loss of on-street parking due to the proposed 
zebra crossing and loading bay there will be a 
cumulative detrimental impact to the available 
number of on-street bays. As mentioned before 
outside of the limited operating period of the CPZ 
it is very likely that these residents and their 
visitors will park on-street which will add further 
parking pressure to the area. We would 
recommend as per the previous consented 
scheme on this site to retain the obligation that 
this development will not be eligible for any 
existing or new CPZ introduced by LBBD and is 
secured through the s106. 

A new location for the bottle banks still must be 
determined and agreed with LBBD refuse.

The design should also consider safe access to 
the development for cyclists and what 

The loading bays and car club 
have been amended as 
requested by highways, with full 
details of kerb dimensions to be 
agreed as part of a s.278 
agreement. There will be an 
obligation in the s.106 that 
prevents any residents of the site 
from acquiring a parking permit 
for use in the CPZ. The bottle 
banks will be re-located at the 
applicant’s expense, in 
agreement with LBBD. Cycle 
parking and access is in 
accordance with planning policy 
requirements. 

Page 51



38

improvements can be made to connect with the 
local cycle network infrastructure.  

Health and 
Safety 
Executive
 
15.12.2023

Following a review of the information provided, in 
respect of the above conditions as part of this s73 
application, HSE is content with the fire safety 
design as set out in the project description, to the 
extent it affects land use planning considerations.

A condition is included to secure 
the measures set out in the fire 
statement, which has also been 
reviewed by the LBF.

LBBD Drainage 
and LLFA

04.10.2024

I have reviewed this submission, and it appears to 
be satisfactory from an LBBD Drainage and LLFA 
perspective.

N/A

LBBD Waste 
and Recycling
 
08.01.2024

The waste bin provision and storage arrangement 
detailed in the Operational Waste Management 
Plan are adequate. You may want to consider 
making provision for food waste collection which 
will become mandatory in the new future. It is 
recommended to have adequate space for bulky 
waste storage.

A bulky waste storage condition 
is included in the draft decision 
notice. 

National Gas 
Transmission 
Asset Protection

10.01.2024

There are no National Gas Transmission assets 
affected in this area. N/A

Be First Head of 
Affordable 
Housing
 
12.01.2024

LAR is classed as social rent which is the 
borough’s greatest need and the larger units are 
preferred in that tenure. 

I would like to make sure that the revised s106 
agreement includes a nominations agreement so 
that the borough keeps all the nominations in 
perpetuity.

The nominations agreement 
would form part of the s.106 
agreement and is secured in the 
Heads of Terms. This would 
apply to any additional units 
delivered in LAR or social rented 
tenures, beyond those required 
as a minimum in the s.106 
agreement. 

LBBD Highways
 
18.01.2024

We have previously raised some questions and 
concerns regarding the parking arrangement and 
can confirm that the applicant has addressed 
these matters.

We would just re-iterate that these properties and 
or residents who occupy them will not be eligible 
for parking permits for any CPZs that we have in 
place.

There will be an obligation in the 
s.106 that prevents any residents 
of the site from acquiring a 
parking permit for use in the CPZ.

Page 52



39

Appendix 4: Neighbour Consultation 

Neighbour Notification:
Date Site Notice Erected: 08/01/2024
Date of Press 
Advertisement: 10/01/2024

Number of neighbouring 
properties consulted: 413

Number of public 
responses:  4

Address Neighbour Comments Case Officer Comments 

Not provided - email only 
supplied

Hello, I received a letter 
informing me of new builds and I 
was wondering if a 2 bed would 
be available? Reference code 
23/01560/VAR.

Noted that this neighbour would be 
interested in a property – reflects 
demand for housing in LBBD.

32 Ingelby Road 

Advised that they attended the 
developer consultation event 
and requested amends at this.

Concern that an increased 
number of balconies would face 
their garden/house and reduce 
their privacy. Advised the 
applicant had said that they 
would amend the balcony 
design following their comments 
and concern that this has not 
been done.

Concern around the height and 
materiality of the boundary wall, 
would like this to be a good 
height to protect against 
overlooking.

Boundary wall details are secured 
by condition. However, the dividing 
wall between this property and the 
site shall be 2m and of solid 
materiality, as is standard for 
boundary walls of this nature. 

Details of balconies in relation to 
overlooking are assessed in more 
depth within section 4 of the report. 
However, it is noted that one set of 
balconies was relocated to a 
different location following the 
comments of this resident, to 
maintain an acceptable separation 
distance and to ensure that it would 
not directly face 30/32 Ingelby 
Road. Further, the balconies will be 
designed to minimise any sense of 
overlooking when users are 
seated, through use of a dense 
perforated metal over standard 
balustrades.

The general building line and 
height/massing principles were 
established under the extant 
planning permission. Officers do 
not consider that the proposed 
amendments would result in 
unacceptable overlooking/privacy 
issues, particularly given the 
principles established by the 
previous consent. 

Not provided – email only 
supplied

I hope this is not too early as 
building works is yet to start, but 
I would like to enquire on the 
process of registering for one of 

Noted that this neighbour would be 
interested in a property – reflects 
demand for housing in LBBD.

Page 53



40

the flats to be built at 131 
Church Elm Lane , RM10 9RR.

30 Ingelby Road 

Advised that they attended the 
developer consultation event 
and requested amends at this.

Concern that an increased 
number of balconies would face 
their garden/house and reduce 
their privacy. Advised the 
applicant had said that they 
would amend the balcony 
design following their comments 
and concern that this has not 
been done.

Concern around the height and 
materiality of the boundary wall, 
would like this to be a good 
height to protect against 
overlooking.

Boundary wall details are secured 
by condition. However, the dividing 
wall between this property and the 
site shall be 2m and of solid 
materiality, as is standard for 
boundary walls of this nature. 

Details of balconies in relation to 
overlooking are assessed in more 
depth within section 4 of the report. 
However, it is noted that one set of 
balconies was relocated to a 
different location following the 
comments of this resident, to 
maintain an acceptable separation 
distance and to ensure that it would 
not directly face 30/32 Ingelby 
Road. Further, the balconies will be 
designed to minimise any sense of 
overlooking when users are 
seated, through use of a dense 
perforated metal over standard 
balustrades. 

The general building line and 
height/massing principles were 
established under the extant 
planning permission. Officers do 
not consider that the proposed 
amendments would result in 
unacceptable overlooking/privacy 
issues, particularly given the 
principles established by the 
previous consent.

Page 54



41

Appendix 5
Heads of Terms:

The proposed alterations are proposed to be secured through a Deed of Variation to the existing Section 
106 Legal Agreement:

Administrative and Minor Updates 

1. Payment of the Council’s professional and legal costs, whether or not the agreement completes 
and payable on completion of the variation of the deed;

2. Minor updates to definitions, named parties, and other relevant wording to link with the amends 
secured under the s.73;

3. Updates to supporting plans within the appendices, in light of amendments to planning 
permission, secured under the s.73. 

Parks

4. Financial Contribution of £95,000 to LBBD towards improvements in Old Dagenham Park in lieu 
of on-site playspace. The parks contribution must be paid in full to the Council prior to 
development above ground floor slab. 

Affordable Housing

5. Updates to affordable housing split, tenure and definitions to reflect the following:
I. At least 32 units and 106 habitable rooms to be delivered as affordable housing. This 

shall equate to 35% affordable housing when measured by units and 40% affordable 
housing when measured by habitable rooms.

II. A Tenure Plan shall be included in the appendices to reflect the change to the agreed 
minimum level of affordable housing provision. 

III. All affordable housing shall be delivered at London Affordable Rent, in place of the 
previously agreed social rented and shared ownership housing. 

IV. LBBD shall have nomination rights for any London Affordable Rented or social rented 
units that may be provided on site, including those not explicitly secured within the 
s.106 legal agreement. 

Commercial and Community Floorspace

6. Updates to definitions and total provision to reflect amends to consent, including the floorspace 
areas to be provided as Class E (commercial) and Class F2 (community).

7. In relation to the Class F2 unit, the following shall be secured:
o A minimum of 10 years peppercorn rent

o The application shall provide assistance with fit out for the end user of the community 
space prior to first occupation facility. This shall include fit out of the following items as a 
minimum:

 Flooring and internal decoration and finished to a suitable standard
 Electrical installation including wiring and water suitable for 

community use
 An appropriate number of wall sockets
 Adequate emergency lighting in appropriate areas
 An appropriate number of ceiling-hung LED light panels
 An individual metered water supply or another specification suitable 

for community use 

Page 55



42

 Sanitary appliances to be provided that comply with statutory 
requirements

 Ensure that there is a means of escape proposal that complies with 
statutory requirements 

o Prior to first use of the development hereby approved, a marketing strategy, community 
use agreement and programme of management and leasing of the community space shall 
be agreed with the LPA and LBBD, with a focus on attracting local community operators to 
the facility. 

Car Club

8. Increase the duration of free car club membership for all residents from 24 months to 36 months.

9. Reflect amended location of car club space in text and within a plan to be included in the 
appendices. 

Restriction on Parking Permits Obligations

10. Remove reference to possibility of a Controlled Parking Zone being introduced and specifically 
state that no resident shall be eligible to apply for a parking permit within the Controlled Parking 
Zone area. 

Carbon Offset Obligations

11. Update to wording of schedule 7 to follow the latest GLA guidance on carbon offsetting, and in 
line with the following: “The development shall achieve a minimum 35% reduction in carbon 
dioxide emissions over Part L of the Building Regulations 2021 (when applying updated SAP 10 
emission factors) through onsite provision. An assessment shall be made and submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority at Practical Completion of the development, and a monetary contribution 
(at £95 per tonne in accordance with the GLA’s Carbon Offset Fund Guidance), shall be made to 
the Local Authority’s carbon offset fund to offset any remaining carbon emissions to net zero-
carbon prior to Occupation of the development if required. No payment will be required if net-zero 
carbon is achieved.”

Employment and Skills Obligations

12. To amend schedule 8 to comply with the Council’s standard agreement on local employment and 
suppliers, as follows: 

I. Six months prior to the commencement of construction works on site, the owner/developer 
shall submit to the Council the Employment, Skills, and Supply Plan and shall not 
commence the development or permit commencement of the development until a plan has 
been submitted to the Council.

II. The Employment, Skills, and Supply Plan shall include reasonable endeavours to 
maximise opportunities for local residents to gain employment and training at the site 
during construction and end-user phase, and for the local businesses to gain contracts at 
the site to source goods and services.

III. The Local Employment and Training section of the plan shall provide information about a 
forecast of the estimated full-time employment workforce; the number of all vacancies; 
paid work placements and short courses that will be created over the lifetime of the 
development and a method statement setting out how this will be delivered, including who 
in the organisation will be responsible for managing recruitment and training, how they will 
ensure compliance by trade contractors and how this will be managed, how health and 

Page 56



43

safety issues will be managed, and how they will engage with the local community and 
contribute to educational engagement with local schools.

IV.  The Employment During Construction phase section shall provide: that reasonable 
endeavours will be used to secure a target of 25% of the total jobs (calculated on an FTE 
basis) created by the construction phase are filled by residents of the Council’s Area; all 
vacancies through the council’s job brokerage services, with notification of job vacancies 
exclusively available to residents for a minimum of 10 days before being advertised more 
widely; a skills forecast for the development and highlight any shortages to the council’s 
job brokerage service; expectation that developers and their sub-contractors use 
reasonable endeavours to adhere to the Unite Construction Charter, of which the Council 
and Be First are signatories. This includes using reasonable endeavours to procure that 
all operatives on site are directly employed on a PAYE basis under a contract of 
employment and paid no less than the London Living Wage.

V. The ‘Training and work experience during construction’ section shall explain and provide 
information on how reasonable endeavours will be used to offer: at least one training 
opportunity for every 20 construction workers is delivered, and at least half of which must 
be provided for apprenticeships leading to a full recognised qualification, at least 7 weeks 
of work experience for every 6 months of the construction phase, with each placement 
lasting a minimum of 2 weeks at least one educational workshop / visit per educational 
term for the duration of the construction phase to support local schools and careers 
services.

VI. The ‘Supply chain during the construction phase’ section shall ensure that: Tender Event 
Schedule is submitted detailing the list of work packages being offered to competitive 
tender for the developer and all sub-contractors, including timeframes, values of packages 
and framework agreements; Source goods and services from the borough wherever 
possible, and use reasonable endeavours to procure that this will represent at least 25% 
of the value of all goods and services required for the development; companies based in 
Council Area are given a genuine opportunity to tender for all contracts and sub-contracts 
arising from the development; details each time a package is awarded including 
information about any local contractors that have tendered for work (both successful and 
unsuccessful, with the reasons why) are provided; they participate in at least one event in 
each year of the development to promote opportunities to local suppliers and build their 
capacity and/or contribute financially to the delivery of such activity to ensure local 
suppliers are able to access opportunities arising from the development.

VII. The owner/developer shall implement and where necessary procure implementation and 
promote the agreed objectives of the employment plan.

VIII. For the first three months and quarterly thereafter, the designated coordinator responsible 
for managing recruitment and training shall prepare and submit monitoring forms to the 
Council. The designated employment coordinator will be responsible for: attending regular 
site visits or meetings with the Council to ensure compliance with this schedule and 
discuss how the obligations contained in this schedule are progressing. These site visits 
and meetings will take place quarterly in cases where the Council has concerns that the 
Owner or its contractors/sub-contractors have not been adequately complying with their 
obligations contained in this schedule. Where the Owner can demonstrate to the Council 
that they are complying with their obligations in this schedule, such site visits and 
meetings will be held on a less regular basis at the Council’s discretion.

IX. Before the Council will approve a developer’s application for discharge of the obligations 
in this Agreement. Confirmation that all employment obligations have been met – or 
appropriate employment and training compensation agreed – must be provided. 
Employment and training compensation will be calculated based on: the shortfall against 
the target number of jobs for LBBD residents X £5,000 (average cost of supporting an 

Page 57



44

unemployed borough resident into work) and the shortfall against the target number of 
apprenticeship starts X £8,000 (approximate wage costs of a one-year apprenticeship at 
the minimum apprenticeship rate). Subject to the findings of evidence collected through 
the agreed employment and training processes, the Owner will pay employment and 
training compensation to the Council within 30 days of the Council’s written request if it is 
found that the shortfall in the delivery of any employment or training specified in this 
schedule can be attributed to the Owner having not used all reasonable endeavours to 
follow the agreed processes. The Owner shall be responsible for all legal costs incurred 
by the Council in enforcing or ensuring compliance with this schedule.

Relocation of Communal Bins

13. Prior to the commencement of off-site highways works, the communal refuse bins outside the site 
on Church Elm Lane shall be relocated to a new location west of the application site and opposite 
the junction of Haresfield Road, or at an alternative location as may be agreed with LBBD in 
writing, at the owner’s/developer’s expense.  

For reference, the below sets out the previous heads of terms, secured under the extant planning 
permission. Unless mentioned above, the previously secured obligations are to remain within the s.106 
agreement and this application does not seek to remove these.

Page 58



45

Appendix 6:
Conditions

 

Condition 
Number

Current wording under Extant 
Planning Permission 
(19/00865/FUL)

Proposed wording under this 
application (23/01560/VAR)

Case Officer 
Notes

Outline Conditions 
1. The development permitted shall 

be begun before the expiration 
of three years from the date of 
this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 
91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act 1990 (as amended 
by S.51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 
2004).

No change. Condition to be 
repeated. No 
changes.

2. The development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following 
approved plans:

418_000 418_001 418_002 
418_003 418_010 418_020 
418_PL_201 418_PL_202 
418_PL_203 418_PL_204 
418_PL_205 418_PL_301 
Rev A 418_PL_302 
418_PL_500 418_PL_501 
418_PL_502 418_PL_100 
Rev A 418_PL_101 Rev B 
418_PL_102 Rev A 
418_PL_103 Rev A 
418_PL_104 Rev A 
418_PL_105 418_PL_106 
418_PL_107 Rev A

Reason: For the avoidance of 
doubt and in the interests of 
proper planning.

The development hereby 
approved shall be carried out in 
accordance with the following 
approved plans and documents:

 Proposed Site Plan 
- 1118-99-P0

 Proposed Ground 
Floor Plan - 1118-
100-P0

 Proposed Typical 
Floor (1-4) Plan - 
1118-101-P0

 Proposed 5th Floor 
Plan - 1118-102-P0

 Proposed 6th Floor 
Plan - 1118-103-P0

 Proposed 7th Floor 
Plan - 1118-104-
P0

 Proposed 8th Floor 
Plan - 1118-105-P0

 Proposed Roof 
Plan - 1118-106-P0

 Proposed North 
Elevation - 1118-
141-P0

 Proposed East 
Elevation - 1118-
142-P0

 Proposed South 
Elevation - 1118-
143-P0

 Proposed East 
Elevation - 1118-
144-P0

Updated to 
reflect revised 
plans, 
incorporating 
proposed 
changes within 
scheme. 
Documents 
also included 
in list, to 
ensure that 
approved 
details are 
complied with. 

Page 59



46

 Proposed Section 
AA - 1118-131-P0

 Proposed Site 
Sections -

1118-135-
P0

 Bay Detail 01 – 
Typical Façade - 
1118-601-P0

 Bay Detail 02 – 
Wrapped Balconies 
- 1118-602-P0

 Bay Detail 03 – 
Inset Façade - 
1118-603-P0

 Landscape 
Masterplan Ground 
Floor - 1578-001 
Rev C

 Landscape 
Masterplan 7th Floor 
– 1578-002

 Proposed Parking 
and Loading 
Arrangement - 
5171-002 Rev C

 Affordable Housing 
Allocation Plan, 
Ackroyd Lowrie, 
January 2024

 Car Club Allocation 
Plan, Ackroyd 
Lowrie, January 
2024

 Proposed Parking & 
Loading 
Arrangement, 5171-
002, Rev C

 Urban Greening 
Factor (UGF) 
Report, October 
2023, Syntegra 
Consulting, Ref: 18-
4536, Rev A

 Preliminary 
Ecological 
Appraisal Report & 
Biodiversity Net 
Gain Report, 
Syntegra 
Consulting, Ref: 18-
4536, Rev A

 Flood Risk 
Assessment & 
Drainage Strategy, 

Page 60



47

October 2023, 
Issue No. 2, 9325

 Operational Waste 
Management Plan, 
October 2023, 
Caneparo 
Associates

 Residential Travel 
Plan, October 2023, 
Caneparo 
Associates

 Delivery & 
Servicing Plan, 
October 2023, 
Caneparo 
Associates

 Outline 
Construction 
Logistics Plan, 
October 2023, 
Caneparo 
Associates

 Planning Statement 
including Affordable 
Housing Statement, 
Hybrid Planning, 
October 2023

 Utility Assessment 
Report, Cole 
Easdon, October 
2023, Issue No. 2, 
8344

 Archaeology & 
Heritage Statement, 
prepared by ACD 
Environmental, 
PRI24350-AHA, 
September 2023

 Design and Access 
Statement, 
prepared by 
Ackroyd Lowrie, 
October 2023

 Environmental 
Noise Impact 
Assessment Report 
for Planning, 
20455.ENIA.RPT.0
1 Rev. A, prepared 
by ES Acoustics

 London Plan Fire 
Statement, 
prepared by fds 
consulting uk, 3rd 
October 2023

Page 61



48

 Gateway 1 Fire 
Statement Issue 2, 
prepared by fds 
consulting uk, 
October 2023, 8328

 Energy Statement, 
prepared by dsa 
Engineering, 
September 2023, 
Rev.0

 Daylight and 
Sunlight Report 
(Within 
Development), 
Right of Light 
Consulting, 26 
September 2023

 Daylight and 
Sunlight Report 
(Neighbouring 
Properties), Right of 
Light Consulting, 23 
June 2023

 Contamination 
Letter, prepared by 
WDE Consulting, 
26th September 
2023, 21236c01

 Planning Stage Air 
Quality 
Assessment, 
prepared by 
Anderson 
Acoustics, 
September 2023, 
3990_002R_3-
0_AG

 Statement of 
Community 
Involvement, 
prepared by Hybrid 
Planning & 
Development, 
October 2023

No other drawings or 
documents apply. 

Reason: For the avoidance 
of doubt and in the 
interests of proper 
planning.

3. No development shall 
commence until:

a) an investigation and 
risk assessment, in 

No development shall commence 
until:

Amendments 
to reflect prior 
partial 
discharge of 

Page 62



49

addition to any 
assessment provided 
with the planning 
application, has been 
completed in 
accordance with a 
scheme to assess the 
nature and extent of 
any contamination on 
the site, whether or 
not it originates on 
the site. The contents 
of the scheme are 
subject to the 
approval in writing of 
the Local Planning 
Authority. The 
investigation and risk 
assessment must be 
undertaken by 
competent persons 
and a written report 
of the findings must 
be produced. The 
written report is 
subject to the 
approval in writing of 
the Local Planning 
Authority. The report 
of the findings must 
include:

i. a 
survey 
of the 
extent, 
scale 
and 
nature 
of 
conta
minati
on;

ii. an 
assess
ment 
of the 
potenti
al risks 
to 
human 
health; 
propert
y 
(existin
g or 
propos
ed) 

a. The remediation 
scheme set out in 
the Desk Study and 
Stage 1 Risk 
Assessment - 
221751/DS - 
September 2022, 
the Remediation 
Method Statement - 
221751/RMS/v2 - 
October 2022 and 
the Phase 2 Geo-
Environmental 
Assessment - 
21009R1 - 
September 2020, 
approved under 
approved under 
22/01744/AOD 
must be carried out 
in accordance with 
its terms prior to 
commencement of 
the development 
other than that 
required to carry 
out remediation, 
unless otherwise 
agreed in writing by 
the Local Planning 
Authority. The Local 
Planning Authority 
must be given two 
weeks written 
notification of 
commencement of 
the remediation 
scheme works.

Following 
completion of 
measures identified 
in the approved 
remediation 
scheme, a 
verification report 
that demonstrates 
the effectiveness of 
the remediation 
carried out must be 
produced and is 
subject to the 
approval in writing 
of the Local 

this condition 
and latest 
standard 
Environmental 
Protection 
wording. 

Page 63



50

includi
ng 
buildin
gs, 
crops, 
livesto
ck, 
pets, 
woodla
nd and 
service 
lines 
and 
pipes; 
adjoini
ng 
land; 
ground
waters 
and 
surfac
e 
waters
; 
ecologi
cal 
system
s; 
archae
ologica
l sites 
and 
ancien
t 
monu
ments; 
and; 
and

iii. an 
apprai
sal of 
remedi
al 
option
s, and 
propos
al of 
the 
preferr
ed 
option(
s).

This must be conducted in 
accordance with DEFRA and the 
Environment Agency’s ‘Model 
Procedures for the Management 

Planning Authority. 
The report shall 
include results of 
sampling and 
monitoring carried 
out to demonstrate 
that the site 
remediation criteria 
have been met.

b. In the event that 
contamination is 
found at any time 
when carrying out 
the approved 
development that 
was not previously 
identified it must be 
reported in writing 
immediately to the 
Local Planning 
Authority. An 
investigation and 
risk assessment 
must be undertaken 
in accordance with 
the requirements of 
(a), and where 
remediation is 
necessary a 
remediation 
scheme must be 
prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of (b), 
which is subject to 
the approval in 
writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Following 
completion of 
measures identified 
in the approved 
remediation 
scheme a 
verification report 
must be prepared, 
which is subject to 
the approval in 
writing of the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: Contamination must be 
identified prior to commencement 

Page 64



51

of Land Contamination, CLR11’; 
and

b) a detailed 
remediation scheme 
to bring the site to a 
condition suitable for 
the intended use by 
removing 
unacceptable risks to 
human health, 
buildings and other 
property and the 
natural and historical 
environment, has 
been prepared and 
submitted to the 
Local Planning 
Authority for approval 
in writing. The 
scheme must include 
all works to be 
undertaken, 
proposed remediation 
objectives and 
remediation criteria, 
timetable of works 
and site management 
procedures. The 
scheme must ensure 
that the site will not 
qualify as 
contaminated land 
under Part 2A of the 
Environmental 
Protection Act 1990 
in relation to the 
intended use of the 
land after 
remediation.

c) The approved 
remediation scheme 
must be carried out in 
accordance with its 
terms prior to 
commencement of 
the development 
other than that 
required to carry out 
remediation, unless 
otherwise agreed in 
writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. 
The Local Planning 
Authority must be 
given two weeks 
written notification of 

of development to ensure that 
risks from land contamination to 
the future users of the land and 
neighbouring land are minimised, 
together with those to controlled 
waters, property and ecological 
systems, and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks 
to workers, neighbours and other 
off-site receptors in accordance 
with policy BR5 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy DMSI 5 of the draft Local 
Plan.

Page 65



52

commencement of 
the remediation 
scheme works.

Following completion of 
measures identified in the 
approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that 
demonstrates the effectiveness 
of the remediation carried out 
must be produced and is subject 
to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority.

d) In the event that 
contamination is 
found at any time 
when carrying out the 
approved 
development that 
was not previously 
identified it must be 
reported in writing 
immediately to the 
Local Planning 
Authority. An 
investigation and risk 
assessment must be 
undertaken in 
accordance with the 
requirements of (a), 
and where 
remediation is 
necessary a 
remediation scheme 
must be prepared in 
accordance with the 
requirements of (b), 
which is subject to 
the approval in 
writing of the Local 
Planning Authority. 
Following completion 
of measures 
identified in the 
approved remediation 
scheme a verification 
report must be 
prepared, which is 
subject to the 
approval in writing of 
the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: Contamination must be 
identified prior to 
commencement of development 
to ensure that risks from land 
contamination to the future users 

Page 66



53

of the land and neighbouring 
land are minimised, together 
with those to controlled waters, 
property and ecological systems, 
and to ensure that the 
development can be carried out 
safely without unacceptable risks 
to workers, neighbours and other 
off-site receptors in accordance 
with policy BR5 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 5.21 of the London 
Plan.

4. No development shall 
commence, including any works 
of demolition, until a 
Construction Environmental 
Management Plan (CEMP) and 
a Site Waste Management Plan 
(SWMP) have been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. These 
Plans shall incorporate details 
of:

a) construction traffic 
management; 
b) the parking of vehicles 
of site operatives and 
visitors; 
c) loading and unloading 
of plant and materials; 
d) storage of plant and 
materials used in 
constructing the 
development; 
e) the erection and 
maintenance of security 
hoarding(s) including 
decorative displays and 
facilities for public 
viewing, where 
appropriate; 
f) wheel washing 
facilities; 
g) measures to control 
the emission of dust, dirt 
and emissions to air 
during construction; such 
measures to accord with 
the guidance provided in 
the document "The 
Control of Dust and 
Emissions during 

2. No development shall 
commence, including any 
works of demolition, until a 
Construction 
Environmental 
Management Plan 
(CEMP), a Site Waste 
Management Plan 
(SWMP), an Air Quality 
and Dust Management 
Plan (AQDMP), bat survey 
and scheme of ecological 
enhancements and 
mitigations have been 
submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These 
Plans shall incorporate 
details of:

a) construction traffic 
management; 
b) the parking of vehicles 
of site operatives and 
visitors; 
c) loading and unloading of 
plant and materials; 
d) storage of plant and 
materials used in 
constructing the 
development; 
e) the erection and 
maintenance of security 
hoarding(s) including 
decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, 
where appropriate; 
f) wheel washing facilities; 
g) measures to control the 
emission of dust, dirt and 
emissions to air during 

Additions to 
capture 
ecological and 
bat survey 
requirements, 
as well as an 
air quality and 
dust 
management 
plan. 

Page 67



54

Construction and 
Demolition", Mayor of 
London, July 2014; 
including but not confined 
to, non road mobile 
machinery (NRMM) 
requirements; 
h) noise and vibration 
control; 
i) a scheme for 
recycling/disposing of 
waste resulting from 
demolition and 
construction works; 
j) the use of efficient 
construction materials; 
k) methods to minimise 
waste, to encourage re-
use, recovery and 
recycling, and sourcing of 
materials; and 
l) a nominated 
Developer/Resident 
Liaison Representative 
with an address and 
contact telephone 
number to be circulated 
to those residents 
consulted on the 
application by the 
developer's 
representatives. This 
person will act as first 
point of contact for 
residents who have any 
problems or questions 
related to the ongoing 
development.
Demolition and 
construction work and 
associated activities, 
other than internal works 
not audible outside the 
site boundary, are only to 
be carried out between 
the hours of 08:00 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday 
and 08:00 and 13:00 
Saturday, with no work 
on Sundays or public 
holidays without the prior 
written permission of the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Any works which are 
associated with the 
generation of ground 
borne vibration are only 

construction; such 
measures to accord with 
the guidance provided in 
the document “The Control 
of Dust and Emissions 
during Construction and 
Demolition”, Mayor of 
London, July 2014; 
including but not confined 
to, non road mobile 
machinery (NRMM) 
requirements; 
h) noise and vibration 
control; 
i) a scheme for 
recycling/disposing of 
waste resulting from 
demolition and construction 
works; 
j) the use of efficient 
construction materials; 
k) methods to minimise 
waste, to encourage re-
use, recovery and 
recycling, and sourcing of 
materials; and 
l) a nominated 
Developer/Resident 
Liaison Representative 
with an address and 
contact telephone number 
to be circulated to those 
residents consulted on the 
application by the 
developer’s 
representatives. This 
person will act as first point 
of contact for residents 
who have any problems or 
questions related to the 
ongoing development.
m) full details of the 
proposed mitigation 
measures for impact on air 
quality and dust emissions, 
following the guidance set 
out in Appendix 7 of the 
Control of Dust and 
Emissions during 
Construction and 
Demolition SPG 2014. 
Both ‘highly recommended’ 
and ‘desirable’ measures 
should be included; 
n) details of ecological and 
biodiversity measures to be 
implemented during the 

Page 68



55

to be carried out between 
the hours of 08:00 and 
18:00 Monday to Friday. 

Demolition and 
construction work and 
associated activities are 
to be carried out in 
accordance with the 
recommendations 
contained within British 
Standard 5228:2009, 
"Code of practice for 
noise and vibration 
control on construction 
and open sites", Parts 1 
and 2. 

Once approved the Plans 
shall be adhered to 
throughout the 
construction period.

Reason: The CEMP and 
SWMP are required prior 
to commencement of 
development in order to 
reduce the environmental 
impact of the 
construction and the 
impact on the amenities 
of neighbouring 
residents, and in 
accordance with policy 
BP8 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan 
Document.

demolition, construction 
and operational stages of 
development, in 
accordance with the 
recommendations of the 
Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Report and 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
Report, prepared by 
Synterga; and
o) details and findings of a 
follow up bat survey based 
on the recommendations of 
the Preliminary Ecological 
Appraisal Report and 
Biodiversity Net Gain 
Report, prepared by 
Synterga. 

Demolition and 
construction work and 
associated activities, other 
than internal works not 
audible outside the site 
boundary, are only to be 
carried out between the 
hours of 08:00 and 18:00 
Monday to Friday and 
08:00 and 13:00 Saturday, 
with no work on Sundays 
or public holidays without 
the prior written permission 
of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

Any works which are 
associated with the 
generation of ground borne 
vibration are only to be 
carried out between the 
hours of 08:00 and 18:00 
Monday to Friday. 

Demolition and 
construction work and 
associated activities are to 
be carried out in 
accordance with the 
recommendations 
contained within British 
Standard 5228:2009, 
“Code of practice for noise 
and vibration control on 
construction and open 
sites”, Parts 1 and 2. 

Page 69



56

Once approved the Plans 
shall be adhered to 
throughout the construction 
period. All ecological 
enhancements shall be 
implemented prior to first 
occupation in accordance 
the approved scheme of 
ecological enhancements 
and thereafter retained in 
perpetuity. If a bat is found 
during the construction 
process, all works are to 
stop immediately, and a 
suitably licenced ecologist 
is to be contacted. A 
further bat report detailing 
any necessary mitigations 
shall then be submitted to 
and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning 
Authority prior to the re-
commencement of any 
construction or demolition 
works. 

Reason: The CEMP, AQDMP and 
SWMP are required prior to 
commencement of development in 
order to reduce the environmental 
impact of the construction and the 
impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring residents, and in 
accordance with policy BP8 of the 
Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and Policy T7 of the 
London Plan. Ecological details 
are required in the interest of 
protecting and enhancing 
biodiversity and ecology. 

5. No development shall 
commence, including any works 
of demolition, until a 
Construction Logistics Plan has 
been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan shall be 
designed to minimise deliveries 
of materials and export of any 
waste materials within the times 
of peak traffic congestion on the 
local road network. The Plan 
shall be implemented in 
accordance with the approved 

No development shall commence, 
including any works of demolition, 
until a Construction Logistics Plan, 
that is in line with TfL guidelines, 
has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The details 
shall include the numbers, size 
and routes of construction 
vehicles, provisions within/around 
the site to ensure that all vehicles 
associated with the demolition and 
construction works are properly 
managed to prevent any unwanted 
disruption to other highway users, 

Wording 
updated to 
reflect latest 
standard 
wording. 

Page 70



57

details and thereafter 
maintained.
 
Reason: The Construction 
Logistics Plan is required prior to 
commencement of development 
in order to minimise the impact 
of construction on the free flow 
of traffic on the local highway 
network and in the interests of 
highway safety, and in 
accordance with policy BR10 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy 6.3 of the 
London Plan.

and other matters relating to traffic 
management to be agreed with the 
licensing officers of the council. 
The Plan shall be designed to 
minimise deliveries of materials 
and export of any waste materials 
within the times of peak traffic 
congestion on the local road 
network. Approved details shall be 
implemented throughout the 
project period, unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority.

Reason: The Construction 
Logistics Plan is required prior to 
commencement of development in 
order to minimise the impact of 
construction on the free flow of 
traffic on the local highway 
network and in the interests of 
highway safety, and in accordance 
with policy BR10 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy T7 of the London Plan.

6. Prior to the commencement of 
development, the developer will 
use best endeavours to meet the 
air quality neutral benchmarks 
for transport emissions and 
sustainable design and 
construction and details shall be 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved details 
shall be implemented before the 
first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: Details demonstrating 
that the development will meet 
air quality neutral benchmarks 
for transport emissions and 
sustainable design and 
construction is required prior to 
the commencement of 
development in order to 
minimise the impact of the 
development on air quality, and 
in accordance with policy BR14 
of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 5.3 of the London 
Plan.

Prior to the commencement of 
development, an Air Quality 
Neutral assessment taking into 
account emissions from temporary 
and permanent boilers, transport 
and construction sources, and all 
other sources of emissions shall 
be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The assessment 
methodology used shall be in line 
with the GLA Air Quality Neutral 
Guidance 2023. 

Where the air quality neutral 
assessment does not meet the 
benchmarks for building or 
transport a scheme for air pollution 
mitigation shall be submitted to the 
Local Planning Authority for written 
approval. The approved details 
shall be implemented before the 
first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: Details demonstrating 
that the development will meet air 
quality neutral benchmarks for 
transport emissions and 
sustainable design and 

Updated to 
reflect latest 
standard 
wording. 

Page 71



58

construction is required prior to the 
commencement of development in 
order to minimise the impact of the 
development on air quality, and in 
accordance with policy BR14 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy SI 1 of the 
London Plan.

7. No above ground new 
development shall begin until a 
scheme of acoustic protection of 
habitable rooms against 
transport noise has been 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme of 
acoustic protection shall be 
sufficient to secure internal noise 
levels no greater than: 

a. 35 dB LAeq in living rooms 
and bedrooms (07:00 hours to 
23:00 hours) with windows 
closed; and b. 30 dB LAeq in 
bedrooms (23:00 hours to 07:00 
hours) with windows closed. 

Additionally, where the internal 
noise levels will exceed 40 dB 
LAeq in living rooms and 
bedrooms (07:00 hours to 23:00 
hours) or 35dB LAeq in 
bedrooms (23:00 hours to 07:00 
hours) with windows open the 
scheme of acoustic protection 
shall incorporate a ventilator 
system which is commensurate 
with the performance 
specification set out in Schedule 
1 (paragraphs 6 and 7) of The 
Noise Insulation Regulations 
1975 (as amended). The 
approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented before the first 
occupation of the residential unit 
to which it relates and shall be 
maintained at all times 
thereafter.

Reason: To ensure that the 
proposed residential units are 
adequately protected from noise 
and in accordance with policy 
BR13 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 

No above ground new 
development shall begin until a 
scheme of acoustic protection of 
habitable rooms has been 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The scheme of acoustic 
protection shall be sufficient to 
secure internal noise levels no 
greater than: 

a. 35 dB LAeq in living rooms and 
bedrooms (07:00 hours to 23:00 
hours) with windows closed; and 
b. 30 dB LAeq in bedrooms (23:00 
hours to 07:00 hours) with 
windows closed. 

Additionally, where the internal 
noise levels will exceed 40 dB 
LAeq in living rooms and 
bedrooms (07:00 hours to 23:00 
hours) or 35dB LAeq in bedrooms 
(23:00 hours to 07:00 hours) with 
windows open the scheme of 
acoustic protection shall 
incorporate a ventilator system 
which is commensurate with the 
Acoustic Ventilation and 
Overheating Residential Design 
Guide January 2020. The 
approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented before the first 
occupation of the residential unit to 
which it relates and shall be 
maintained at all times thereafter.

External space noise levels shall 
be assessed in accordance with 
BS8233. 

Additionally, no above ground new 
development shall commence until 
a scheme of noise insultation of 
party construction between the 
residential units and the non-
residential uses (including plant 

Updated to 
reflect latest 
technical 
guidance and 
planning 
policies. 

Page 72



59

Development Plan Document 
and policy 7.15 of the London 
Plan.

rooms, commercial units and 
community uses) has been 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved scheme 
shall be fully implemented before 
the first occupation of the non-
residential / residential unit(s) to 
which it relates.

Reason: To ensure that the 
proposed residential units are 
adequately protected from noise 
and in accordance with policy 
BR13 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy D14 of the London Plan.

8. The combined rating level of the 
noise from plant installed 
pursuant to this permission shall 
not exceed the existing 
background noise level outside 
the window to any noise-
sensitive room. Any assessment 
of compliance with this condition 
shall be made according to the 
methodology and procedures 
presented in BS4142:2014. Any 
machinery and equipment 
installed pursuant to this 
permission shall be designed 
and installed to ensure that 
structure borne (re-radiated) 
noise emissions shall not exceed 
30 LAeq dB (5 min) when 
measured in any habitable room 
in adjoining residential premises. 

Reason: To ensure that the 
proposed residential units and 
neighbouring occupiers are 
adequately protected from noise 
and in accordance with policies 
BP8 and BR13 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 7.15 of the London 
Plan.

Prior to the installation of any 
external mechanical services plant 
including heating, ventilation, and 
air conditioning (HVAC), 
refrigeration and kitchen extraction 
plant to which the application 
refers, a scheme shall be 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the LPA which 
demonstrates that the following 
noise design requirements can be 
complied with and shall thereafter 
be retained as approved:

a) The cumulative 
measured or calculated 
rating level of noise 
emitted from the 
mechanical services 
plant to which the 
application refers, shall 
be lower than the 
existing background 
noise level by10dB at 
all times when the plant 
is in operation. 
Measurements shall be 
made at a height of 1.2 
– 1.5 metres above the 
adjacent ground level 
and at least 3.5 metres 
from any sound 
reflecting surfaces 
other than the ground 
or 1 metre from the 
facade of the nearest 
first floor (or higher) 
noise sensitive 
premises, and in 

Updated to 
reflect latest 
standard 
wording. 

Page 73



60

accordance with the 
latest British Standard 
BS4142:2014.

b) The plant shall be 
supported on adequate 
proprietary anti-
vibration mounts to 
reduce the structural 
transmission of 
vibration and 
regenerated noise

                  within adjoining 
premises, and these shall be so 
maintained thereafter.

A commissioning acoustic test and 
report shall be undertaken within 7 
days of mechanical services 
commissioning in order to 
demonstrate that conditions a and 
b above have been achieved. The 
results of the test shall be 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the LPA. 

Reason: To ensure that the 
proposed residential units and 
neighbouring occupiers are 
adequately protected from noise 
and in accordance with policies 
BP8 and BR13 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy D14 of the London Plan.

9. Other than with the prior written 
approval of the Local Planning 
Authority, the proposed non-
residential uses hereby 
permitted are to be permitted to 
trade between the hours of 
07:00 hours and 23:00 hours on 
any day and at no other time. 
Noise from any D1 use hereby 
permitted, including, but not 
limited to, live and amplified 
music shall be controlled to be 
inaudible inside adjoining and 
other noise-sensitive premises in 
the vicinity of the. The initial test 
for compliance with the 
'inaudibility' criterion will be that 
noise should be no more than 
barely audible outside those 
noise-sensitive premises. In the 
event there is disagreement as 
to whether entertainment noise 
is or is not audible the following 

Other than with the prior written 
approval of the Local Planning 
Authority, the proposed non-
residential uses hereby permitted 
are to be permitted to trade 
between the hours of 07:00 hours 
and 23:00 hours on any day and 
at no other time. Noise from any 
Class E of F2 use hereby 
permitted, including, but not limited 
to, live and amplified music shall 
be controlled to be inaudible inside 
adjoining and other noise-sensitive 
premises in the vicinity of the 
development hereby approved. 
The initial test for compliance with 
the 'inaudibility' criterion will be 
that noise should be no more than 
barely audible outside those 
noise-sensitive premises. In the 
event there is disagreement as to 
whether entertainment noise is or 
is not audible the following 

Updated to 
reflect 
amendments 
to use classes 
and to reflect 
latest standard 
wording/planni
ng policies. 

Page 74



61

numerical limits shall be used to 
determine compliance with this 
condition: 

the LAeq (D1AN) shall not 
exceed LA90 (WD1AN) and; the 
L10 (D1AN) shall not exceed 
L90 (WD1AN) in any 1/3 octave 
band between 40Hz and 160Hz.

D1AN = D1 use Activity Noise 
level, WD1AN = Representative 
background noise level without 
D1 use activity noise, both 
measured 1 metre from the 
façade of the noise-sensitive 
premise.

No loudspeaker, tannoy, 
television, radio or similar audio 
broadcast device is to be 
installed or operated outside D1 
use unit(s) hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure that the 
proposed residential units and 
neighbouring occupiers are 
adequately protected from noise 
and in accordance with policies 
BP8 and BR13 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 7.15 of the London 
Plan.

numerical limits shall be used to 
determine compliance with this 
condition: 

the LAeq (D1AN) shall not exceed 
LA90 (WD1AN) and; the L10 
(D1AN) shall not exceed L90 
(WD1AN) in any 1/3 octave band 
between 40Hz and 160Hz.

D1AN = D1 use Activity Noise 
level, WD1AN = Representative 
background noise level without D1 
use activity noise, both measured 
1 metre from the façade of the 
noise-sensitive premise.

No loudspeaker, tannoy, 
television, radio or similar audio 
broadcast device is to be installed 
or operated outside the Class E or 
F2 use unit(s) hereby permitted.
 
Reason: To ensure that the 
proposed residential units and 
neighbouring occupiers are 
adequately protected from noise 
and in accordance with policies 
BP8 and BR13 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy D14 of the London Plan.

10. The development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied 
until a scheme showing the 
provisions to be made for 
external lighting, CCTV 
coverage, access control and 
any other measures to reduce 
the risk of crime, has been 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The external lighting of 
the development is to be 
designed, installed and 
maintained so as to fully comply 
with The Association of Chief 
Police Officers Secured by 
Design publication "Lighting 
Against Crime - A Guide for 
Crime Reduction Professionals", 
ACPO SPD, January 2011. The 
design shall satisfy criteria to 
limit obtrusive light presented in 

Notwithstanding the details 
submitted with the application, 
prior to first occupation of the 
development, the following shall 
be submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:

a) Certificate of Compliance in 
respect of the Secured by Design 
scheme, or alternatively achieve 
security standards (based on 
Secured by Design principles) to 
the satisfaction of the local 
authority & Metropolitan Police, 
and

b) A scheme showing the 
provisions to be made for external 
lighting, CCTV coverage, access 
control and any other measures to 
reduce the risk of crime. 

Amended to 
reflect latest 
standard 
wording. 

Page 75



62

Table 1, p25 of the guide, 
relating to Environmental Zone 
E3 - medium district brightness 
areas. 

The development shall not be 
occupied until the approved 
scheme has been installed. 
Thereafter the approved 
measures shall be permanently 
retained. 

Reason: In the interests of 
security and safety, to avoid light 
pollution and safeguard 
neighbouring amenity and in 
accordance with policy BP11 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document.

The external lighting of the 
development is to be designed, 
installed and maintained so as to 
fully comply with The Association 
of Chief Police Officers Secured 
by Design publication "Lighting 
Against Crime - A Guide for Crime 
Reduction Professionals", ACPO 
SPD, January 2011. The design 
shall satisfy criteria to limit 
obtrusive light presented in Table 
1, p25 of the guide, relating to 
Environmental Zone E3 - medium 
district brightness areas. 

The development shall not be 
occupied until the approved 
scheme has been installed. 
Thereafter the approved measures 
shall be permanently retained. 

Reason: In the interests of security 
and safety, to avoid light pollution 
and safeguard neighbouring 
amenity and in accordance with 
policy BP11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

11. No piling shall take place until a 
piling method statement 
(detailing the depth and type of 
piling to be undertaken and the 
methodology by which such 
piling will be carried out, 
including measures to prevent 
and minimise the potential for 
damage to subsurface sewerage 
infrastructure, and the 
programme for the works) has 
been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with 
Thames Water. Any piling must 
be undertaken in accordance 
with the terms of the approved 
piling method statement.
 
If piling or ground improvement 
work is undertaken pursuant to 
this permission then the 5% level 
of vibration attributable these 
activities shall not exceed a peak 
particle velocity of 1.5mm/sec 
when measured at the point of 

No piling shall take place until a 
piling method statement (detailing 
the depth and type of piling to be 
undertaken and the methodology 
by which such piling will be carried 
out, including measures to prevent 
and minimise the potential for 
damage to subsurface sewerage 
infrastructure, and the programme 
for the works) has been submitted 
to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority in 
consultation with Thames Water. 
Any piling must be undertaken in 
accordance with the terms of the 
approved piling method statement.
 
If piling or ground improvement 
work is undertaken pursuant to 
this permission then the 5% level 
of vibration attributable these 
activities shall not exceed a peak 
particle velocity of 1.5mm/sec 
when measured at the point of 
entry to any adjoining residential 
development. In the event of 

Updated to 
require 
approval in 
writing by LPA 
in event that 
monitoring 
information is 
required.  

Page 76



63

entry to any adjoining residential 
development. In the event of 
reasonable complaint of 
vibration nuisance and at the 
request of the Local Planning 
Authority monitoring to evaluate 
compliance with this condition is 
to be carried out and the results 
submitted to the Local Planning 
Authority. There is to be no use 
of driven piling in the 
construction of the development 
hereby permitted.

Reason: The proposed works 
will be in close proximity to 
underground sewerage utility 
infrastructure. Piling has the 
potential to impact on local 
underground sewerage utility 
infrastructure and in order to 
reduce the impact of 
construction and development 
on the amenities of neighbouring 
residents, and in accordance 
with policy BP8 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

reasonable complaint of vibration 
nuisance, and at the request of the 
Local Planning Authority, 
monitoring to evaluate compliance 
with this condition is to be carried 
out and the results submitted to 
and approved in writing by, the 
Local Planning Authority. There is 
to be no use of driven piling in the 
construction of the development 
hereby permitted.

Reason: The proposed works will 
be in close proximity to 
underground sewerage utility 
infrastructure. Piling has the 
potential to impact on local 
underground sewerage utility 
infrastructure and in order to 
reduce the impact of construction 
and development on the amenities 
of neighbouring residents, and in 
accordance with policy BP8 of the 
Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document.

12. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with 
the submitted Flood Risk 
Assessment and SUDS Report 
prepared by Nimbus Engineering 
Consultants, Document Number 
C2106-R1-Rev-A (Dated April 
2019). Minor amendments to the 
Flood Risk Assessment and 
SUDS Report may be agreed in 
writing from time to time by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to reduce the 
risk of flooding and to protect 
controlled waters and in 
accordance with policy BR4 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy 5.13 of the 
London Plan.

The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the 
submitted Flood Risk Assessment 
and Drainage Strategy prepared 
by Cole Easdon (October 2023, 
9325, Issue 2).

Reason: In order to reduce the risk 
of flooding and to protect 
controlled waters and in 
accordance with policy BR4 of the 
Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy SI 12 of the 
London Plan.

Updated to 
reflect new 
technical 
report. 

13. No above ground new 
development shall commence 
until full details, including 
samples (brick with mortar), 
specifications, annotated plans 
and fire safety ratings, of all 

No above ground new 
development shall commence until 
full details, including samples 
(brick with mortar), specifications, 
annotated plans and fire safety 
ratings, of all external facing 

Additional 
wording to 
reflect scheme 
specific 
requirements. 

Page 77



64

external facing materials have 
been submitted to the Local 
Planning Authority for approval 
in writing. 
The development shall only be 
implemented in accordance with 
the approved details and to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To protect or enhance 
the character and amenity of the 
area and to ensure an exemplar 
finish to the building in 
accordance with policies BP8 
and BP11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policies 7.1, 7.4 and 7.6 of 
the London Plan.

materials have been submitted to 
the Local Planning Authority for 
approval in writing. 

External metal shutters shall not 
be used to cover over ground floor 
glazed frontages at any time. 

The development shall only be 
implemented in accordance with 
the approved details and to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning 
Authority.

Reason: To protect or enhance the 
character and amenity of the area 
and to ensure an exemplar finish 
to the building in accordance with 
policies BP8 and BP11 of the 
Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policies D1, D4, 
D6, D12 of the London Plan.

14. No above ground new 
development shall take place 
until there has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority a 
scheme of soft and hard 
landscaping for the site which 
shall include indications of all 
existing trees, shrubs and 
hedgerows on the site and 
details of those to be retained 
and areas to be hard 
landscaped. The scheme shall 
include the detailed design of the 
children's playspace areas. 

The hard landscaping and 
playspace as approved shall be 
implemented in full prior to first 
occupation and maintained in 
accordance with the details 
provided. 

The soft landscaping scheme as 
approved shall be carried out in 
the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the 
occupation of any of the 
buildings or completion of the 
development, whichever is the 
sooner. Any trees or plants 
which within a period of 5 years 
from the completion of the 

Notwithstanding the details 
submitted with the application, no 
above ground works shall take 
place until the following soft and 
hard landscaping details have 
been submitted to and approved in 
writing by the local planning 
authority:

i. A scheme of 
Planting 
plans and 
full planting 
specification 
for the 
whole 
scheme 
including 
details of 
the number 
of all trees, 
hedges and 
shrubs to be 
planted, 
together 
with a 
planting 
schedule 
providing 
sizes and 
total 
quantities of 

Updated to 
reflect the 
revised 
scheme and to 
secure 
additional 
information at 
condition 
stage. 

Page 78



65

development die, are removed 
or become seriously damaged or 
diseased, shall be replaced in 
the next planting season with 
others of similar size and 
species unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written 
consent to any variation.

Reason: To safeguard and 
improve the appearance of the 
area in the interest of design 
quality, to improve biodiversity 
and in accordance with policies 
CP3 of the Core Strategy, BP11 
and BR3 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and Section 197 of the Town 
and Country Planning Act 1990.

individual 
species. 
The 
number, 
type and 
location of 
trees should 
reflect that 
agreed 
under 
condition 2 
(approved 
plans). 
These plans 
should also 
show 
appropriate 
plant 
species 
given likely 
levels of 
shade or 
direct 
sunlight.

ii.  Details of 
tree planting 
within hard 
landscaped 
areas to 
include root 
cell crates;

iii. the detailed 
design of 
the 
children's 
playspace 
areas, 
including 
specification
s of all play 
equipment 
and details 
of 
accessible/i
nclusive 
design;

iv. Street/exter
nal furniture, 
including 
general 
waste and 
recycling 
bins, cycle 

Page 79



66

stands, 
seating and 
any other 
relevant 
items; 

v. Details of 
boundary 
treatments 
including 
materials;

vi. Details of 
lighting (in 
relation to 
appearance/
design);

vii. Details of 
wayfinding 
and other 
signage/pub
lic art;

viii. Details of 
surfacing 
materials to 
be used in 
the external 
finished of 
all roads, 
footpaths, 
and parking 
areas, 
together 
with 
specification 
of edging 
and kerbs; 
and

ix. Landscape 
and Open 
Space 
Managemen
t Plan, to 
include 
details of 
landscape 
maintenanc
e and 
measures to 
ensure the 
satisfactory 
operation of 
all outdoor 
amenity 
space for 

Page 80



67

use by 
residents.

The hard landscaping and 
playspace as approved shall be 
implemented in full prior to first 
occupation and maintained in 
accordance with the details 
provided. 

The soft landscaping scheme as 
approved shall be carried out in 
the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the occupation 
of any of the buildings or 
completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner. Any trees 
or plants which within a period of 5 
years from the completion of the 
development die, are removed or 
become seriously damaged or 
diseased, shall be replaced in the 
next planting season with others of 
similar size and species unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives 
written consent to any variation.

The roof terrace areas shall be 
made available for use by all 
residents during daylight hours in 
perpetuity from point of first 
occupation. These spaces shall be 
suitably maintained so as to 
ensure the safety and enjoyment 
of all residents. 

Reason: To safeguard and 
improve the appearance of the 
area in the interest of design 
quality, to improve biodiversity and 
in accordance with policies CP3 of 
the Core Strategy, BP11 and BR3 
of the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and Section 197 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 
1990.

15. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with 
the submitted Travel Plan 
prepared by Caneparo 
Associates (Dated May 2019). 
Minor amendments to the Travel 
Plan may be agreed in writing 

The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the 
submitted Travel Plan prepared by 
Caneparo Associates (Dated 
October 2023). 

Reason: In order to encourage the 
use of sustainable transport and in 

Updated to 
reflect revised 
travel plan. 

Page 81



68

from time to time by the Local 
Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to encourage 
the use of sustainable transport 
and in accordance with policy 
BR10 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 6.1 of the London 
Plan.

accordance with policy BR10 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy T1 and T4 of 
the London Plan.

16. The development shall not be 
occupied until a management 
scheme for the removal of bulky 
waste has been be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter development shall be 
implemented in accordance with 
the details approved. 

Notwithstanding the above, the 
development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the submitted 
Waste Management Plan 
prepared by Caneparo 
Associates (Dated May 2019). 
Minor amendments to the Waste 
Management Plan may be 
agreed in writing from time to 
time by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved refuse 
stores shall be provided before 
the first occupation of the 
development and thereafter 
permanently retained. The 
collection of waste is only 
permitted to take place between 
07:00 hours and 21:00 hours on 
any day.
 
Reason: To provide satisfactory 
refuse storage provision and the 
removal of bulky waste in the 
interests of the appearance of 
the site and locality and to 
protect residential amenities in 
accordance with policies BP8 
and BP11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

The development shall not be 
occupied until a management 
scheme for the removal of bulky 
waste has been be submitted to 
and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter development shall be 
implemented in accordance with 
the details approved. 

Notwithstanding the above, the 
development shall be carried out 
in accordance with the submitted 
Operational Waste Management 
Plan prepared by Caneparo 
Associates (Dated October 2023). 
Minor amendments to the Waste 
Management Plan may be agreed 
in writing from time to time by the 
Local Planning Authority. The 
approved refuse stores shall be 
provided before the first 
occupation of the development 
and thereafter permanently 
retained. The collection of waste is 
only permitted to take place 
between 07:00 hours and 21:00 
hours on any day. 

Reason: To provide satisfactory 
refuse storage provision and the 
removal of bulky waste in the 
interests of the appearance of the 
site and locality and to protect 
residential amenities in 
accordance with policies BP8 and 
BP11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

Updated to 
reflect revised 
Waste 
Management 
Plan. 

17. The development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied 
until a Car Parking Design and 
Management Plan has been 

The development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied 
until a Car Parking Design and 
Management Plan has been 

Updated to 
reflect revised 
parking layout 

Page 82



69

submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan must include 
details of how car parking will be 
allocated, including blue badge 
car parking spaces. 

All 24 parking spaces shall be 
constructed and marked out 
prior to the occupation of the 
development. 20% of all car 
parking spaces shall be installed 
with active electric vehicle 
charging points (EVCPs) and 
80% shall be installed with 
passive EVCPs.
 
3 residential blue badge car 
parking spaces shall be marked 
out prior to the occupation of the 
development as accessible 
parking bays (to be clearly 
marked with a British Standard 
disabled symbol). 

Reason: To ensure sufficient off-
street parking, to encourage the 
use of electric cars in order to 
reduce carbon emissions and to 
promote easier access for 
disabled persons and in 
accordance with policies BC2, 
BR9 and BR10 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 6.13 of the London 
Plan.

submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan must include 
details of how car parking will be 
allocated, including blue badge car 
parking spaces. 

All 14 parking spaces shall be 
constructed and marked out prior 
to the occupation of the 
development. All car parking 
spaces shall be installed with 
active electric vehicle charging 
points (EVCPs). 

3 residential blue badge car 
parking spaces shall be marked 
out prior to the occupation of the 
development as accessible 
parking bays (to be clearly marked 
with a British Standard disabled 
symbol). 

Reason: To ensure sufficient off-
street parking, to encourage the 
use of electric cars in order to 
reduce carbon emissions and to 
promote easier access for 
disabled persons and in 
accordance with policies BC2, 
BR9 and BR10 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy T6 of the London Plan.

and 
requirements. 

18. The development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied 
until the cycle parking spaces 
within and outside of the building 
as indicated on drawing number 
418_PL_101 Rev B have been 
fully implemented. Thereafter, 
the cycle parking facilities shall 
be permanently retained. Minor 
amendments to the cycle 
parking details may be agreed in 
writing from time to time by the 
Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In the interests of 
promoting cycling as a safe, 
efficient and non-polluting mode 
of transport and in accordance 
with policy BR11 of the Borough 

The development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied 
until the cycle parking spaces 
within and outside of the building 
as indicated on drawing number 
1118-100 Rev PO have been fully 
implemented. All cycle parking 
must comply with the London 
Cycle Parking Design Standards 
(LCDS). Thereafter, the cycle 
parking facilities shall be 
permanently retained. 

Reason: In the interests of 
promoting cycling as a safe, 
efficient and non-polluting mode of 
transport and in accordance with 
policy BR11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 

Updated to 
include latest 
technical 
guidance. 

Page 83



70

Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 6.9 of the London 
Plan.

Development Plan Document and 
policy T5 of the London Plan.

19. The development shall be 
carried out in accordance with 
the submitted Delivery and 
Servicing Plan prepared by 
Caneparo Associates (Dated 
May 2019). Minor amendments 
to the submitted Delivery and 
Servicing Plan may be agreed in 
writing from time to time by the 
Local Planning Authority.  

Reason: In order to minimise the 
impact of the development on 
the local highway network and 
traffic congestion and in 
accordance with policy BR10 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy 6.3 of the 
London Plan.

The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the 
submitted Delivery and Servicing 
Plan prepared by Caneparo 
Associates (Dated October 2023). 

Reason: In order to minimise the 
impact of the development on the 
local highway network and traffic 
congestion and in accordance with 
policy BR10 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy T7 of the London Plan.

Updated to 
reflect updated 
report. 

20. The development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the submitted 
Energy Strategy August 2019, 
Rev 2, prepared by DSA 
Engineering. Minor amendments 
to the submitted Energy Strategy 
may be agreed in writing from 
time to time by the Local 
Planning Authority. The 
development shall not be 
occupied until the approved 
details have been implemented. 

Reason: In the interests of 
safeguarding the environment 
and providing sustainable 
development in accordance with 
policy CR1 of the Core Strategy, 
policies BR1 and BR2 of the 
Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policies 5.2, 5.3, 
5.5, 5.6 and 5.7 of the London 
Plan.

The development hereby 
permitted shall be carried out in 
accordance with the submitted 
Energy Strategy September 2023 
Rev.0, prepared by DSA 
Engineering. The development 
shall not be occupied until the 
approved details have been 
implemented. A post completion 
report demonstrating compliance 
with the submitted Energy 
Strategy shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Local 
Planning Authority within six 
months of first occupation of any 
part of the development. This 
report must also provide detail of 
‘Be Seen’ measures to be 
implemented and maintained, in 
accordance with the London Plan 
Energy Hierarchy.  

Reason: In the interests of 
safeguarding the environment and 
providing sustainable development 
in accordance with policy CR1 of 
the Core Strategy, policies BR1 
and BR2 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 

Updated to 
reflect updated 
report.

Page 84



71

policies SI2, SI3 and SI4of the 
London Plan.

21. 10% of the residential units 
hereby permitted shall meet 
Building Regulations Approved 
Document M Volume 1 (2015 
Edition) M4 (3) 'wheelchair 
adaptable dwellings' and 90% of 
the residential units hereby 
permitted shall meet Building 
Regulations Approved 
Document M Volume 1 (2015 
Edition) M4 (2) 'accessible and 
adaptable dwellings'. Evidence 
of compliance shall be notified to 
the building control body 
appointed for the development in 
the appropriate Full Plans 
Application, or Building Notice, 
or Initial Notice to enable the 
building control body to check 
compliance. 

Reason: To ensure that 
sufficient accessible housing is 
provided in accordance policy 
BC2 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 3.8 of the London 
Plan.

10% of the residential units hereby 
permitted shall meet Building 
Regulations Approved Document 
M Volume 1 (2015 Edition) M4 (3) 
'wheelchair adaptable dwellings' 
and 90% of the residential units 
hereby permitted shall meet 
Building Regulations Approved 
Document M Volume 1 (2015 
Edition) M4 (2) 'accessible and 
adaptable dwellings'. Evidence of 
compliance shall be notified to the 
building control body appointed for 
the development in the 
appropriate Full Plans Application, 
or Building Notice, or Initial Notice 
to enable the building control body 
to check compliance. 

Reason: To ensure that sufficient 
accessible housing is provided in 
accordance policy BC2 of the 
Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy D7 of the 
London Plan.

Updated to 
reflect 
amended 
planning 
policy. 

22. The development hereby 
permitted shall not be occupied 
until details of a communal 
television and satellite system 
have been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The 
approved system shall be 
provided prior to occupation of 
the development and be made 
available to each residential unit 
within the development. No 
antennae or satellite dishes may 
be installed on the exterior of the 
building, with the exception of a 
single antennae or satellite dish 
per block to support the 
communal television and 
satellite system. The proposed 
antennae or satellite dishes shall 
be designed to minimise their 
visual impact and shall not be 
mounted on any publicly visible 
façade. 

No change. No change. 

Page 85



72

Reason: To safeguard the 
external appearance of the 
buildings in accordance with 
policy CP3 of the Core Strategy 
and policies BP2 and BP11 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document.

23. The development hereby 
permitted shall comply with the 
water efficiency optional 
requirement in paragraphs 2.8 to 
2.12 of the Building Regulations 
Approved Document G. 
Evidence of compliance shall be 
notified to the building control 
body appointed for the 
development in the appropriate 
Full Plans Application, or 
Building Notice, or Initial Notice 
to enable the building control 
body to check compliance. 

Reason: To minimise the use of 
mains water in accordance with 
policy BR4 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document 
and policy 5.15 of the London 
Plan.

The development hereby 
permitted shall comply with the 
water efficiency optional 
requirement in paragraphs 2.8 to 
2.12 of the Building Regulations 
Approved Document G. Evidence 
of compliance shall be notified to 
the building control body 
appointed for the development in 
the appropriate Full Plans 
Application, or Building Notice, or 
Initial Notice to enable the building 
control body to check compliance. 

Reason: To minimise the use of 
mains water in accordance with 
policy BR4 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and 
policy SI5 of the London Plan.

Updated to 
reflect latest 
planning 
policies. 

24. Following the first occupation of 
the flexible use non-residential 
units hereby permitted, any 
further change of use to another 
use specifically permitted by this 
permission must be carried out 
within a period of 10 years from 
the date of this permission. 

Reason: To provide flexibility of 
use between the approved uses 
in accordance with Class V, Part 
3 of Schedule 2 of The Town 
and Country Planning (General 
Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015.

Notwithstanding the provisions of 
the Town and County Planning 
(Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended), the 2no. commercial 
(Class E) units and the 1no. 
community (Class F2) unit hereby 
approved shall be only used for 
their respective Class E and F2 
uses only. The approved 
floorspace shall not be used for 
any other purposes or any 
provision equivalent to these 
Classes, or for any other use, in 
any statutory instrument revoking 
and re-enacting that Order without 
modification. 

Reason: To safeguard the 
commercial and community uses 
hereby permitted and to ensure 
that no additional impacts which 
have not been assessed as part of 
the planning application proposal 
arise. 

Updated to 
reflect revised 
Use Classes 
Order and 
updates to 
proposed 
ground floor 
uses. 

Page 86



73

25. No above ground new 
development shall commence 
until a Fire Strategy has been 
submitted to and approved in 
writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Fire Strategy shall 
be produced by an independent 
third party suitably qualified 
assessor which shall detail the 
building's construction, methods, 
products and materials used; the 
means of escape for all building 
users including those who are 
disabled or require level access 
together with the associated 
management plan; access for 
fire service personnel and 
equipment; ongoing 
maintenance and monitoring and 
how provision will be made 
within the site to enable fire 
appliances to gain access to the 
building. The development shall 
be carried out in accordance 
with the approved details. 

Reason: In order to provide a 
safe and secure development in 
accordance with policy CP3 of 
the Core Strategy and policy 
D11 of the Draft London Plan.

The development shall be carried 
out in accordance with the 
approved London Plan Fire 
Statement, prepared by FDS 
consult UK (3rd October 2023) and 
the Gateway 1 Fire Statement 
Issue 2, prepared by fds 
consulting uk, October 2023, 
8328, and all measures thereafter 
maintained.  

Reason: In order to provide a safe 
and secure development in 
accordance with policy CP3 of the 
Core Strategy and policy D11 and 
D12 of the London Plan.

Updated to 
reflect 
compliance 
with submitted 
fire statement. 

26. No above ground new 
development shall take place 
until there has been submitted to 
and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority a plan 
indicating the position, design, 
materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected including 
details of balustrades and 
screening for rooftop terraces. 
No part of the development shall 
be occupied until the approved 
boundary treatment for that part 
has been provided. The 
approved boundary treatment 
shall be retained unless the 
Local Planning Authority gives 
prior written approval for its 
removal. 

Reason: To ensure the boundary 
treatment protects or enhances 
the character and amenity of the 
area in accordance with Policy 

No development above ground 
floor slab shall take place until 
there has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority a plan 
indicating the position, design, 
materials and type of boundary 
treatment to be erected and 
balconies, including details of 
balustrades and screening for 
rooftop terraces. The balcony 
designs shall include detail of both 
types a and b, including detailed 
architectural drawings to show the 
density of perforation for privacy 
purposes. No part of the 
development shall be occupied 
until the approved boundary 
treatment or balcony design for the 
relevant part has been provided. 
The approved boundary treatment 
and balcony shall be retained 
unless the Local Planning 

Updated to 
include details 
of balconies 
and delivery 
trigger. 

Page 87



74

BP11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

Authority gives prior written 
approval for its removal. 

Reason: To ensure the boundary 
treatment and balconies protects 
or enhances the character and 
amenity of the area and ensures a 
suitable level of privacy for 
neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with Policy BP11 of 
the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan 
Document.

Revised Final Conditions List: 

1. The development permitted shall be begun before the expiration of three years from the date of 
this permission. 

Reason: To comply with Section 91 of the Town and Country Planning Act 1990 (as amended by 
S.51 of the Planning and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004).

2. The development hereby approved shall be carried out in accordance with the following approved 
plans and documents:

 Proposed Site Plan - 1118-99-P0
 Proposed Ground Floor Plan - 1118-100-P0
 Proposed Typical Floor (1-4) Plan - 1118-101-P0
 Proposed 5th Floor Plan - 1118-102-P0
 Proposed 6th Floor Plan - 1118-103-P0
 Proposed 7th Floor Plan - 1118-104-P0
 Proposed 8th Floor Plan - 1118-105-P0
 Proposed Roof Plan - 1118-106-P0
 Proposed North Elevation - 1118-141-P0
 Proposed East Elevation - 1118-142-P0
 Proposed South Elevation - 1118-143-P0
 Proposed West Elevation - 1118-144-P0
 Proposed Section AA - 1118-131-P0
 Proposed Site Sections - 1118-135-P0
 Bay Detail 01 – Typical Façade - 1118-601-P0
 Bay Detail 02 – Wrapped Balconies - 1118-602-P0
 Bay Detail 03 – Inset Façade - 1118-603-P0
 Landscape Masterplan Ground Floor - 1578-001 Rev C
 Landscape Masterplan 7th Floor – 1578-002
 Proposed Parking and Loading Arrangement - 5171-002 Rev C
 Affordable Housing Allocation Plan, Ackroyd Lowrie, January 2024
 Car Club Allocation Plan, Ackroyd Lowrie, January 2024
 Urban Greening Factor (UGF) Report, October 2023, Syntegra Consulting, Ref: 18-4536, 

Rev A
 Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report & Biodiversity Net Gain Report, Syntegra 

Consulting, Ref: 18-4536, Rev A
 Flood Risk Assessment & Drainage Strategy, October 2023, Issue No. 2, 9325

Page 88



75

 Operational Waste Management Plan, October 2023, Caneparo Associates
 Residential Travel Plan, October 2023, Caneparo Associates
 Delivery & Servicing Plan, October 2023, Caneparo Associates
 Outline Construction Logistics Plan, October 2023, Caneparo Associates
 Planning Statement including Affordable Housing Statement, Hybrid Planning, October 

2023
 Utility Assessment Report, Cole Easdon, October 2023, Issue No. 2, 8344
 Archaeology & Heritage Statement, prepared by ACD Environmental, PRI24350-AHA, 

September 2023
 Design and Access Statement, prepared by Ackroyd Lowrie, October 2023
 Environmental Noise Impact Assessment Report for Planning, 20455.ENIA.RPT.01 Rev. 

A, prepared by ES Acoustics
 London Plan Fire Statement, prepared by fds consulting uk, 3rd October 2023
 Gateway 1 Fire Statement Issue 2, prepared by fds consulting uk, October 2023, 8328
 Energy Statement, prepared by dsa Engineering, September 2023, Rev.0
 Daylight and Sunlight Report (Within Development), Right of Light Consulting, 26 

September 2023
 Daylight and Sunlight Report (Neighbouring Properties), Right of Light Consulting, 23 

June 2023
 Contamination Letter, prepared by WDE Consulting, 26th September 2023, 21236c01
 Planning Stage Air Quality Assessment, prepared by Anderson Acoustics, September 

2023, 3990_002R_3-0_AG
 Statement of Community Involvement, prepared by Hybrid Planning & Development, 

October 2023

No other drawings or documents apply. 

Reason: For the avoidance of doubt and in the interests of proper planning.

3. No development shall commence until:

a. The remediation scheme set out in the Desk Study and Stage 1 Risk Assessment - 
221751/DS - September 2022, the Remediation Method Statement - 221751/RMS/v2 - 
October 2022 and the Phase 2 Geo-Environmental Assessment - 21009R1 - September 
2020, approved under approved under 22/01744/AOD must be carried out in accordance 
with its terms prior to commencement of the development other than that required to carry 
out remediation, unless otherwise agreed in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
Local Planning Authority must be given two weeks written notification of commencement 
of the remediation scheme works.

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme, a 
verification report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried out must 
be produced and is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. The 
report shall include results of sampling and monitoring carried out to demonstrate that the 
site remediation criteria have been met.

b. In the event that contamination is found at any time when carrying out the approved 
development that was not previously identified it must be reported in writing immediately 
to the Local Planning Authority. An investigation and risk assessment must be undertaken 
in accordance with the requirements of (a), and where remediation is necessary a 
remediation scheme must be prepared in accordance with the requirements of (b), which 
is subject to the approval in writing of the Local Planning Authority. 

Page 89



76

Following completion of measures identified in the approved remediation scheme a 
verification report must be prepared, which is subject to the approval in writing of the 
Local Planning Authority.

Reason: Contamination must be identified prior to commencement of development to ensure 
that risks from land contamination to the future users of the land and neighbouring land are 
minimised, together with those to controlled waters, property and ecological systems, and to 
ensure that the development can be carried out safely without unacceptable risks to workers, 
neighbours and other off-site receptors in accordance with policy BR5 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy DMSI 5 of the draft Local 
Plan.

4. No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 
Environmental Management Plan (CEMP), a Site Waste Management Plan (SWMP), an Air 
Quality and Dust Management Plan (AQDMP), bat survey and scheme of ecological 
enhancements and mitigations have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. These Plans shall incorporate details of:

a) construction traffic management; 
b) the parking of vehicles of site operatives and visitors; 
c) loading and unloading of plant and materials; 
d) storage of plant and materials used in constructing the development; 
e) the erection and maintenance of security hoarding(s) including decorative displays and 
facilities for public viewing, where appropriate; 
f) wheel washing facilities; 
g) measures to control the emission of dust, dirt and emissions to air during construction; such 
measures to accord with the guidance provided in the document “The Control of Dust and 
Emissions during Construction and Demolition”, Mayor of London, July 2014; including but not 
confined to, non road mobile machinery (NRMM) requirements; 
h) noise and vibration control; 
i) a scheme for recycling/disposing of waste resulting from demolition and construction works; 
j) the use of efficient construction materials; 
k) methods to minimise waste, to encourage re-use, recovery and recycling, and sourcing of 
materials; and 
l) a nominated Developer/Resident Liaison Representative with an address and contact 
telephone number to be circulated to those residents consulted on the application by the 
developer’s representatives. This person will act as first point of contact for residents who have 
any problems or questions related to the ongoing development.
m) full details of the proposed mitigation measures for impact on air quality and dust emissions, 
following the guidance set out in Appendix 7 of the Control of Dust and Emissions during 
Construction and Demolition SPG 2014. Both ‘highly recommended’ and ‘desirable’ measures 
should be included; 
n) details of ecological and biodiversity measures to be implemented during the demolition, 
construction and operational stages of development, in accordance with the recommendations of 
the Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report and Biodiversity Net Gain Report, prepared by 
Synterga; and
o) details and findings of a follow up bat survey based on the recommendations of the 
Preliminary Ecological Appraisal Report and Biodiversity Net Gain Report, prepared by Synterga. 

Demolition and construction work and associated activities, other than internal works not audible 
outside the site boundary, are only to be carried out between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 
Monday to Friday and 08:00 and 13:00 Saturday, with no work on Sundays or public holidays 
without the prior written permission of the Local Planning Authority. 

Any works which are associated with the generation of ground borne vibration are only to be 
carried out between the hours of 08:00 and 18:00 Monday to Friday. 

Page 90



77

Demolition and construction work and associated activities are to be carried out in accordance 
with the recommendations contained within British Standard 5228:2009, “Code of practice for 
noise and vibration control on construction and open sites”, Parts 1 and 2. 

Once approved the Plans shall be adhered to throughout the construction period. All ecological 
enhancements shall be implemented prior to first occupation in accordance the approved scheme 
of ecological enhancements and thereafter retained in perpetuity. If a bat is found during the 
construction process, all works are to stop immediately, and a suitably licenced ecologist is to be 
contacted. A further bat report detailing any necessary mitigations shall then be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority prior to the re-commencement of any 
construction or demolition works. 

Reason: The CEMP, AQDMP and SWMP are required prior to commencement of development in 
order to reduce the environmental impact of the construction and the impact on the amenities of 
neighbouring residents, and in accordance with policy BP8 of the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan Document and Policy T7 of the London Plan. Ecological details are 
required in the interest of protecting and enhancing biodiversity and ecology. 

5. No development shall commence, including any works of demolition, until a Construction 
Logistics Plan, that is in line with TfL guidelines, has been submitted to and approved in writing 
by the Local Planning Authority. The details shall include the numbers, size and routes of 
construction vehicles, provisions within/around the site to ensure that all vehicles associated with 
the demolition and construction works are properly managed to prevent any unwanted disruption 
to other highway users, and other matters relating to traffic management to be agreed with the 
licensing officers of the council. The Plan shall be designed to minimise deliveries of materials 
and export of any waste materials within the times of peak traffic congestion on the local road 
network. Approved details shall be implemented throughout the project period, unless otherwise 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.

Reason: The Construction Logistics Plan is required prior to commencement of development in 
order to minimise the impact of construction on the free flow of traffic on the local highway 
network and in the interests of highway safety, and in accordance with policy BR10 of the 
Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy T7 of the London 
Plan.

6. Prior to the commencement of development, an Air Quality Neutral assessment taking into 
account emissions from temporary and permanent boilers, transport and construction sources, 
and all other sources of emissions shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local 
Planning Authority. The assessment methodology used shall be in line with the GLA Air Quality 
Neutral Guidance 2023. 

Where the air quality neutral assessment does not meet the benchmarks for building or transport 
a scheme for air pollution mitigation shall be submitted to the Local Planning Authority for written 
approval. The approved details shall be implemented before the first occupation of the 
development hereby permitted. 

Reason: Details demonstrating that the development will meet air quality neutral benchmarks for 
transport emissions and sustainable design and construction is required prior to the 
commencement of development in order to minimise the impact of the development on air 
quality, and in accordance with policy BR14 of the Borough Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and policy SI 1 of the London Plan.

7. No above ground new development shall begin until a scheme of acoustic protection of habitable 
rooms has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The 
scheme of acoustic protection shall be sufficient to secure internal noise levels no greater than: 

Page 91



78

a. a. 35 dB LAeq in living rooms and bedrooms (07:00 hours to 23:00 hours) with windows 
closed; and 

b. b. 30 dB LAeq in bedrooms (23:00 hours to 07:00 hours) with windows closed. 

Additionally, where the internal noise levels will exceed 40 dB LAeq in living rooms and 
bedro8oms (07:00 hours to 23:00 hours) or 35dB LAeq in bedrooms (23:00 hours to 07:00 hours) 
with windows open the scheme of acoustic protection shall incorporate a ventilator system which 
is commensurate with the Acoustic Ventilation and Overheating Residential Design Guide 
January 2020. The approved scheme shall be fully implemented before the first occupation of the 
residential unit to which it relates and shall be maintained at all times thereafter.

External space noise levels shall be assessed in accordance with BS8233. 

Additionally, no above ground new development shall commence until a scheme of noise 
insultation of party construction between the residential units and the non-residential uses 
(including plant rooms, commercial units and community uses) has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. The approved scheme shall be fully 
implemented before the first occupation of the non-residential / residential unit(s) to which it 
relates.

Reason: To ensure that the proposed residential units are adequately protected from noise and in 
accordance with policy BR13 of the Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy D14 of the London Plan.

8. Prior to the installation of any external mechanical services plant including heating, ventilation, 
and air conditioning (HVAC), refrigeration and kitchen extraction plant to which the application 
refers, a scheme shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA which demonstrates 
that the following noise design requirements can be complied with and shall thereafter be 
retained as approved:

a. The cumulative measured or calculated rating level of noise emitted from the mechanical 
services plant to which the application refers, shall be lower than the existing background 
noise level by10dB at all times when the plant is in operation. Measurements shall be 
made at a height of 1.2 – 1.5 metres above the adjacent ground level and at least 3.5 
metres from any sound reflecting surfaces other than the ground or 1 metre from the 
facade of the nearest first floor (or higher) noise sensitive premises, and in accordance 
with the latest British Standard BS4142:2014.

b. The plant shall be supported on adequate proprietary anti-vibration mounts to reduce the 
structural transmission of vibration and regenerated noise within adjoining premises, and 
these shall be so maintained thereafter.

A commissioning acoustic test and report shall be undertaken within 7 days of mechanical 
services commissioning in order to demonstrate that conditions a and b above have been 
achieved. The results of the test shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the LPA. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed residential units and neighbouring occupiers are 
adequately protected from noise and in accordance with policies BP8 and BR13 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy D14 of the London Plan.

9. Other than with the prior written approval of the Local Planning Authority, the proposed non-
residential uses hereby permitted are to be permitted to trade between the hours of 07:00 hours 
and 23:00 hours on any day and at no other time. Noise from any Class E of F2 use hereby 
permitted, including, but not limited to, live and amplified music shall be controlled to be inaudible 
inside adjoining and other noise-sensitive premises in the vicinity of the development hereby 
approved. The initial test for compliance with the 'inaudibility' criterion will be that noise should be 
no more than barely audible outside those noise-sensitive premises. In the event there is 

Page 92



79

disagreement as to whether entertainment noise is or is not audible the following numerical limits 
shall be used to determine compliance with this condition: 

the LAeq (D1AN) shall not exceed LA90 (WD1AN) and; the L10 (D1AN) shall not exceed L90 
(WD1AN) in any 1/3 octave band between 40Hz and 160Hz.

D1AN = D1 use Activity Noise level, WD1AN = Representative background noise level without 
D1 use activity noise, both measured 1 metre from the façade of the noise-sensitive premise.

No loudspeaker, tannoy, television, radio or similar audio broadcast device is to be installed or 
operated outside the Class E or F2 use unit(s) hereby permitted. 

Reason: To ensure that the proposed residential units and neighbouring occupiers are 
adequately protected from noise and in accordance with policies BP8 and BR13 of the Borough 
Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy D14 of the London Plan.

10. Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, prior to first occupation of the 
development, the following shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority:

a. Certificate of Compliance in respect of the Secured by Design scheme, or alternatively 
achieve security standards (based on Secured by Design principles) to the satisfaction of 
the local authority & Metropolitan Police, and

b. A scheme showing the provisions to be made for external lighting, CCTV coverage, 
access control and any other measures to reduce the risk of crime. 

The external lighting of the development is to be designed, installed and maintained so as to fully 
comply with The Association of Chief Police Officers Secured by Design publication "Lighting 
Against Crime - A Guide for Crime Reduction Professionals", ACPO SPD, January 2011. The 
design shall satisfy criteria to limit obtrusive light presented in Table 1, p25 of the guide, relating 
to Environmental Zone E3 - medium district brightness areas. 

The development shall not be occupied until the approved scheme has been installed. Thereafter 
the approved measures shall be permanently retained. 

Reason: In the interests of security and safety, to avoid light pollution and safeguard 
neighbouring amenity and in accordance with policy BP11 of the Borough Wide Development 
Policies Development Plan Document.

11. No piling shall take place until a piling method statement (detailing the depth and type of piling to 
be undertaken and the methodology by which such piling will be carried out, including measures 
to prevent and minimise the potential for damage to subsurface sewerage infrastructure, and the 
programme for the works) has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority in consultation with Thames Water. Any piling must be undertaken in accordance with 
the terms of the approved piling method statement. 

If piling or ground improvement work is undertaken pursuant to this permission then the 5% level 
of vibration attributable these activities shall not exceed a peak particle velocity of 1.5mm/sec 
when measured at the point of entry to any adjoining residential development. In the event of 
reasonable complaint of vibration nuisance, and at the request of the Local Planning Authority, 
monitoring to evaluate compliance with this condition is to be carried out and the results 
submitted to and approved in writing by, the Local Planning Authority. There is to be no use of 
driven piling in the construction of the development hereby permitted.

Reason: The proposed works will be in close proximity to underground sewerage utility 
infrastructure. Piling has the potential to impact on local underground sewerage utility 
infrastructure and in order to reduce the impact of construction and development on the 

Page 93



80

amenities of neighbouring residents, and in accordance with policy BP8 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies Development Plan Document.

12. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Flood Risk Assessment 
and Drainage Strategy prepared by Cole Easdon (October 2023, 9325, Issue 2) Minor 
amendments to the Flood Risk Assessment and SUDS Report may be agreed in writing from 
time to time by the Local Planning Authority. 

Reason: In order to reduce the risk of flooding and to protect controlled waters and in accordance 
with policy BR4 of the Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and 
policy SI 12 of the London Plan.

13. No above ground new development shall commence until full details, including samples (brick 
with mortar), specifications, annotated plans and fire safety ratings, of all external facing 
materials have been submitted to the Local Planning Authority for approval in writing. 

External metal shutters shall not be used to cover over ground floor glazed frontages at any time.

The development shall only be implemented in accordance with the approved details and to the 
satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority.
Reason: To protect or enhance the character and amenity of the area and to ensure an exemplar 
finish to the building in accordance with policies BP8 and BP11 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies Development Plan Document and policies D1, D4, D6, D12 of the London 
Plan.

14. Notwithstanding the details submitted with the application, no above ground works shall take 
place until the following soft and hard landscaping details have been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the local planning authority:

i. A scheme of Planting plans and full planting specification for the whole scheme 
including details of the number of all trees, hedges and shrubs to be planted, 
together with a planting schedule providing sizes and total quantities of individual 
species. The number, type and location of trees should reflect that agreed under 
condition 2 (approved plans). These plans should also show appropriate plant 
species given likely levels of shade or direct sunlight.

ii. Details of tree planting within hard landscaped areas to include root cell crates;
iii. the detailed design of the children's playspace areas, including specifications of all 

play equipment and details of accessible/inclusive design;
iv. Street/external furniture, including general waste and recycling bins, cycle stands, 

seating and any other relevant items; 
v. Details of boundary treatments including materials;
vi. Details of lighting (in relation to appearance/design);
vii. Details of wayfinding and other signage/public art;
viii. Details of surfacing materials to be used in the external finished of all roads, 

footpaths, and parking areas, together with specification of edging and kerbs; and
ix. Landscape and Open Space Management Plan, to include details of landscape 

maintenance and measures to ensure the satisfactory operation of all outdoor 
amenity space for use by residents.

The hard landscaping and playspace as approved shall be implemented in full prior to first 
occupation and maintained in accordance with the details provided. 

The soft landscaping scheme as approved shall be carried out in the first planting and seeding 
seasons following the occupation of any of the buildings or completion of the development, 
whichever is the sooner. Any trees or plants which within a period of 5 years from the completion 
of the development die, are removed or become seriously damaged or diseased, shall be 

Page 94



81

replaced in the next planting season with others of similar size and species unless the Local 
Planning Authority gives written consent to any variation.

The roof terrace areas shall be made available for use by all residents during daylight hours in 
perpetuity from point of first occupation. These spaces shall be suitably maintained so as to 
ensure the safety and enjoyment of all residents. 

Reason: To safeguard and improve the appearance of the area in the interest of design quality, 
to improve biodiversity and in accordance with policies CP3 of the Core Strategy, BP11 and BR3 
of the Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and Section 197 of the 
Town and Country Planning Act 1990.

15. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Travel Plan prepared by 
Caneparo Associates (Dated October 2023). 

Reason: In order to encourage the use of sustainable transport and in accordance with policy 
BR10 of the Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy T1 
and T4 of the London Plan.

16. The development shall not be occupied until a management scheme for the removal of bulky 
waste has been be submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
Thereafter development shall be implemented in accordance with the details approved. 

Notwithstanding the above, the development shall be carried out in accordance with the 
submitted Operational Waste Management Plan prepared by Caneparo Associates (Dated 
October 2023). Minor amendments to the Waste Management Plan may be agreed in writing 
from time to time by the Local Planning Authority. The approved refuse stores shall be provided 
before the first occupation of the development and thereafter permanently retained. The 
collection of waste is only permitted to take place between 07:00 hours and 21:00 hours on any 
day. 

Reason: To provide satisfactory refuse storage provision and the removal of bulky waste in the 
interests of the appearance of the site and locality and to protect residential amenities in 
accordance with policies BP8 and BP11 of the Borough Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

17. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until a Car Parking Design and 
Management Plan has been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The Plan must include details of how car parking will be allocated, including blue badge 
car parking spaces. 

All 14 parking spaces shall be constructed and marked out prior to the occupation of the 
development. All car parking spaces shall be installed with active electric vehicle charging points 
(EVCPs).

3 residential blue badge car parking spaces shall be marked out prior to the occupation of the 
development as accessible parking bays (to be clearly marked with a British Standard disabled 
symbol).

Reason: To ensure sufficient off-street parking, to encourage the use of electric cars in order to 
reduce carbon emissions and to promote easier access for disabled persons and in accordance 
with policies BC2, BR9 and BR10 of the Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan 
Document and policy T6 of the London Plan.

18. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until the cycle parking spaces within 
and outside of the building as indicated on drawing number 1118-100 Rev PO have been fully 

Page 95



82

implemented. All cycle parking must comply with the London Cycle Parking Design Standards 
(LCDS). Thereafter, the cycle parking facilities shall be permanently retained. 

Reason: In the interests of promoting cycling as a safe, efficient and non-polluting mode of 
transport and in accordance with policy BR11 of the Borough Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and policy T5 of the London Plan.

19. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Delivery and Servicing 
Plan prepared by Caneparo Associates (Dated October 2023). 

Reason: In order to minimise the impact of the development on the local highway network and 
traffic congestion and in accordance with policy BR10 of the Borough Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document and policy T7 of the London Plan.

20. The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the submitted Energy 
Strategy September 2023 Rev.0, prepared by DSA Engineering. The development shall not be 
occupied until the approved details have been implemented. A post completion report 
demonstrating compliance with the submitted Energy Strategy shall be submitted to, and 
approved in writing, by the Local Planning Authority within six months of first occupation of any 
part of the development. This report must also provide detail of ‘Be Seen’ measures to be 
implemented and maintained, in accordance with the London Plan Energy Hierarchy.  

Reason: In the interests of safeguarding the environment and providing sustainable development 
in accordance with policy CR1 of the Core Strategy, policies BR1 and BR2 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies Development Plan Document and policies SI2, SI3 and SI4of the London 
Plan.

21. 10% of the residential units hereby permitted shall meet Building Regulations Approved 
Document M Volume 1 (2015 Edition) M4 (3) 'wheelchair adaptable dwellings' and 90% of the 
residential units hereby permitted shall meet Building Regulations Approved Document M 
Volume 1 (2015 Edition) M4 (2) 'accessible and adaptable dwellings'. Evidence of compliance 
shall be notified to the building control body appointed for the development in the appropriate Full 
Plans Application, or Building Notice, or Initial Notice to enable the building control body to check 
compliance. 

Reason: To ensure that sufficient accessible housing is provided in accordance policy BC2 of the 
Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy D7 of the London 
Plan.

22. The development hereby permitted shall not be occupied until details of a communal television 
and satellite system have been submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. The approved system shall be provided prior to occupation of the development and be 
made available to each residential unit within the development. No antennae or satellite dishes 
may be installed on the exterior of the building, with the exception of a single antennae or satellite 
dish per block to support the communal television and satellite system. The proposed antennae 
or satellite dishes shall be designed to minimise their visual impact and shall not be mounted on 
any publicly visible façade. 

Reason: To safeguard the external appearance of the buildings in accordance with policy CP3 of 
the Core Strategy and policies BP2 and BP11 of the Borough Wide Development Policies 
Development Plan Document.

23. The development hereby permitted shall comply with the water efficiency optional requirement in 
paragraphs 2.8 to 2.12 of the Building Regulations Approved Document G. Evidence of 
compliance shall be notified to the building control body appointed for the development in the 
appropriate Full Plans Application, or Building Notice, or Initial Notice to enable the building 
control body to check compliance.  

Page 96



83

Reason: To minimise the use of mains water in accordance with policy BR4 of the Borough Wide 
Development Policies Development Plan Document and policy SI5 of the London Plan.

24. Notwithstanding the provisions of the Town and County Planning (Use Classes) Order 1987 (as 
amended), the 2no. commercial (Class E) units and the 1no. community (Class F2) unit hereby 
approved shall be only used for their respective Class E and F2 uses only. The approved 
floorspace shall not be used for any other purposes or any provision equivalent to these Classes, 
or for any other use, in any statutory instrument revoking and re-enacting that Order without 
modification. 

Reason: To safeguard the commercial and community uses hereby permitted and to ensure that 
no additional impacts which have not been assessed as part of the planning application proposal 
arise. 

25. The development shall be carried out in accordance with the approved London Plan Fire 
Statement, prepared by FDS consult UK (3rd October 2023) and the Gateway 1 Fire Statement 
Issue 2, prepared by fds consulting uk, October 2023, 8328, and all measures thereafter 
maintained.  

Reason: In order to provide a safe and secure development in accordance with policy CP3 of the 
Core Strategy and policy D11 and D12 of the London Plan.

26. No development above ground floor slab shall take place until there has been submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority a plan indicating the position, design, 
materials and type of boundary treatment to be erected and balconies, including details of 
balustrades and screening for rooftop terraces. The balcony designs shall include detail of both 
types a and b, including detailed architectural drawings to show the density of perforation for 
privacy purposes. No part of the development shall be occupied until the approved boundary 
treatment or balcony design for the relevant part has been provided. The approved boundary 
treatment and balcony shall be retained unless the Local Planning Authority gives prior written 
approval for its removal. 

Reason: To ensure the boundary treatment and balconies protects or enhances the character 
and amenity of the area and ensures a suitable level of privacy for neighbouring occupiers in 
accordance with Policy BP11 of the Borough Wide Development Policies Development Plan 
Document.

Page 97



84

Appendix 7:
Site Location Plan 
(Do not scale off this plan) 

Page 98



GSPublisherVersion 235.90.90.100

1:200@A3

Date

27/11/2023

Drawn Checked ScaleCurrent Stage

N O T E

23 Vyner Street, London E2 9DG
Ph: 0203 770 9780
www.ackroydlowrie.com

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

DO NOT USE ANY AREAS INDICATED
FOR EITHER VALUATION, PURCHASE
SALE OR ANY OTHER FORM OF
LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.

DO NOT REPRODUCE ANY PART OF
THIS DRAWING WITHOUT PRIOR
WRITTEN CONSENT.  THIS DRAWING
REMAINS THE COPYRIGHT OF
ACKROYD LOWRIE LTD.

K E Y L O C A T IO N IS S UE

LT AB

1118 - Church Elm Lane
P R O JE C T

Major Housing

Proposed Ground Floor Plan1118-100
D R A W ING

C L IE NT

D R A W ING  NO . R E V IS IO N

SK7

Rev. Date Comment

P1

SK4

SK5

SK6

SK7

10/07/2023

30/08/2023

22/09/2023

02/11/2023

27/11/2023

Draft - For coordination

Minor amendments

Fire and transport coordination

M4(3)

Post-planning amendments

Site boundary

Existing structure

Proposed structure

1b1p 1b2p

2b3p 2b4p

3b5p 3b6p

AmenityCommercial

U
P

UP

U
P

U
P

U
P

3.
2m

8.7m

6.
8m

14.1m

9.
4m

1 2 3 4 5 6 7 8 9 10 11 12

Vehicle Entrance

14 parking Spaces
(3 accessible)

Residential
Entrance

Residential
Entrance

Commercial Entrance

Accessible Accessible Accessible

Commercial Entrance
Commercial Entrance

Commercial
Entrance

Commercial
Entrance

Commercial
Entrance

Commercial
Entrance

1100L

Postboxes

Postboxes

Residential Entrance

Residential
Entrance

Residential Entrance

78 long-stay cycle parking spaces;
74 double-stacked, 4 enlarged

spaces

91 long-stay cycle
parking spaces; 86
double-stacked, 5
enlarged spaces

11
0

0
L

6 eurobins waste
6 eurobins recycling

6 eurobins waste
6 eurobins recycling

Defensible
planting

Public realm to be designed by
landscape architect

Landscape and playspace to be
designed by landscape architect

Commercial
Entrance

14 no. short-stay
cycle parking spaces
for commercial units

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

1100L

11
0

0
L

11
0

0
L

1100L 1100L 1100L

11
0

0
L

1100L 1100L 1100L 1100L

4 short-stay cycle
parking spaces for

residents

11
0

0
L

13 14

1100L

1100L

1100L

Accessible
drop front

bin

Accessible
drop front

bin

Accessible
drop front

bin

Accessible
drop front

bin

Parents room

44 m2

Plant/MEP

32 m2

Commercial

88 m2

Commercial

92 m2

Amenity

303 m2

Refuse Store

64 m2

Cycle Store

100 m2

Cycle Store

76 m2

Substation

32 m2
Plant/MEP

49 m2

Community use

169 m2

Refuse Store

51 m2

Plant/MEP

10 m2

Wall mounted EVCP

Wall mounted EVCP

Wall mounted EVCP

Wall mounted EVCP

1 no. proposed 2.5*6m
parking space

Proposed footway

Proposed Loading Bay

Total drag
distance =

c. 12m

Total drag
distance =
c. 21.9m

Wall mounted EVCP

Wall mounted EVCP

Wall mounted EVCP

Amenity

64 m2

N

0 5 10m

1:200

P
age 99



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 210.90.90.100

1:200@A3

Date

02/11/2023

Drawn Checked ScaleCurrent Stage

N O T E

23 Vyner Street, London E2 9DG
Ph: 0203 770 9780
www.ackroydlowrie.com

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

DO NOT USE ANY AREAS INDICATED
FOR EITHER VALUATION, PURCHASE
SALE OR ANY OTHER FORM OF
LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.

DO NOT REPRODUCE ANY PART OF
THIS DRAWING WITHOUT PRIOR
WRITTEN CONSENT.  THIS DRAWING
REMAINS THE COPYRIGHT OF
ACKROYD LOWRIE LTD.

K E Y L O C A T IO N IS S UE

LT AB

1118 - Church Elm Lane
P R O JE C T

Major Housing

Proposed Typical 1-4 Floor Plan1118-101
D R A W ING

C L IE NT

D R A W ING  NO . R E V IS IO N

SK6

Rev. Date Comment

SK4

SK5

SK6

30/08/2023

22/09/2023

02/11/2023

Draft - For coordination, Minor amendments

Fire and transport coordination

M4(3)Amenity

U
P

U
P

U
P

UP

01
Flat 02

Flat

03
Flat

04
Flat

05
Flat

06
Flat
1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

07
Flat08

Flat

13
Flat

14
Flat

12
Flat

09
Flat

10
Flat

11
Flat

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

1 -

M4(3)

3b4p

74 m2

2b3p

61 m2

2b3p

61 m2

1b2p

55 m2

1b2p

50 m2

1b2p

51 m2

Bed

12 m2

Bed

8 m2

Bed

8 m2

2b3p

61 m2

LDK

27 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Store

3 m2

1b2p

50 m2

Bed

9 m2

LDK

26 m2

Bed

13 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Bed

12 m2

LDK

28 m2

Bed

10 m2
Bed

8 m2

3b4p

74 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

LDK

25 m2

Bed

12 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Store

1 m2

LDK

25 m2

Bed

15 m2

Bathroom

6 m2

LDK

24 m2

Bed

14 m2

Bed

8 m2

Bed

10 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Store

1 m2

LDK

24 m2

Bed

9 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Bed

12 m2

Store

1 m2

Bed

12 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Store

1 m2

2b3p

61 m2

2b3p

61 m2

LDK

24 m2

Bed

9 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Bed

12 m2

Store

1 m2

LDK

23 m2

Bed

12 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Bed

10 m2

Store

2 m2

LDK

27 m2

Bed

12 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Store

1 m2

Store

1 m2

Store

2 m2

3b4p

76 m2

Store

1 m2

LDK

23 m2

Bed

12 m2
Bathroom

5 m2

Bed

10 m2

Store

2 m2

Store

1 m2

3b4p

75 m2

Bed

8 m2

Bed

8 m2

Bed

13 m2

LDK

28 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

Store

2 m2

Store

3 m2

Store

1 m2

Vent shaft

1.9 m2

Vent shaft

1.9 m2

Bed

12 m2

Bathroom

5 m2

LDK

26 m2

Store

1 m2

Vent shaft

1.9 m2

1b2p

51 m2

LDK

26 m2

Store

1 m2

MSVS

0.8 m2

Amenity

8 m2

Amenity

5 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

5 m2
Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

6 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Amenity

7 m2

Site boundary

Existing structure

Proposed structure

1b1p 1b2p

2b3p 2b4p

3b5p 3b6p

Commercial N

0 5 10m

1:200

P
age 101



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 299.89.90.100

N O T E

23 Vyner Street, London E2 9DG
Ph: 0203 770 9780
www.ackroydlowrie.com

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

DO NOT USE ANY AREAS INDICATED FOR EITHER
VALUATION, PURCHASE SALE OR ANY OTHER FORM
OF LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.

DO NOT REPRODUCE ANY PART OF THIS DRAWING
WITHOUT PRIOR WRITTEN CONSENT.  THIS DRAWING
REMAINS THE COPYRIGHT OF ACKROYD LOWRIE LTD.

K E Y L O C A T IO N IS S UE

1:50@A2

Date

10/01/2024

Drawn Checked ScaleCurrent Stage

PlanningLT AB

1118 - Church Elm Lane
N A M E

Major Housing

Bay Detail 02 - Wrapped Balconies1118-602
D R A W ING

C L IE NT

D R A W ING  NO . R E V IS IO N

P0

P R O JE C T

Rev. Date Comment

P0 10/01/2024 Issued For Planning

PPC aluminium mesh framework fascia

Soldier course brickwork

Perforated metal balustrade - lower
opacity to front. Geometric patterns
indicative of design intent only

Painted concrete balcony so t

PPC aluminium door & window systems

Edge drainage to balcony - no rainwater pipes

PPC aluminium projecting frame to ground oor shopfront

PPC signage & louvre zone

PPC aluminium-framed ground oor shopfront set back on inside face

Perforated metal balustrade - higher
opacity to sides. Geometric patterns
indicative of design intent only

Soldier course brickwork

Brick frame projecting 30mm beyond

PPC aluminium frame beyond

PPC aluminium mesh framework fascia

E01 Proposed South ElevationBD-02 Bay Detail 02 Section

0

1:50

1 2m

Page 103



This page is intentionally left blank



KEY:

Extra Heavy Standard Tree

Planting

Tarmac Road

Marshals Conservation X or similar,

400x400, Silver Grey Textured, Half

Staggered

Play Bark Chip

Soft Fall

Ornamental Shrub Planting

PCC Flags 400x400 half staggered with

concrete block buff edging (to highway

specification)

Natural Play Features

Sheffield Cycle Stand

Raised Landform Play Features

Ornamental Shrub Planting (Shade

Tolerant)

Play Equipment Safety Zone

LANDMARK Caribou Bench

1.0m Hight Play Area metal

Fencing

Multi-Stemmed Tree Planting

2.1m Height Wall

Balconies (above ground level)

Site Boundary

Timber Bench with Armrest and

Back

Building Entrance

Tactile Paving

Upstand Concrete Curb

Flush Concrete Curb

Tree Surround with Resin Bound

Fill

2.1m Height Wall with Railing Section

for Top 1m

Neutral Meadow Grassland

1

3

4

2

6

5

Parents Room

(At Ground

Floor)

Proposed Loading

Bay

Proposed

2.5x6m

parking space

Proposed Footway

2m Height

Vehicle Entrance

Gate

Pedestrian Gate

2m Height

Pedestrian Gate

Playground Gate

Informal Play /

Seating

Plant / MEP

Cycle Store

Refuse Store

Commercial

Plant / MEP

Cycle Store

Community

Use

Commercial

Refuse Store

Substation

Plant / MEP

Ground Floor Early Years

and Junior Play

Ackroyd Lowrie layout drawing no 1118-100 SK5

Proposed Ground Floor Plan. Dated: 22-09-2023

20 53 410

Scale 1:100

[m]

EH AUG 23 1578 - 001 C1:100

Title

Job

LANDSCAPE               ARCHITECTURE
ENVIRONMENTAL              PLANNING

Weddle  Landscape  Design

scale@A1 drawing numberdatedrawn revision

Tel  (0114) 250 1181
Fax  (0114) 250 1188
mail@weddles.co.uk

Mews Studio, Charnwood House,
8 Kenwood Bank, Sheffield S7 1NU
www.weddles.co.uk

LANDSCAPE MASTERPLAN:

GROUND FOOR

CHURCH ELM LANE, DAGENHAM

1

PENTAGON Jungle

Climbing Frame (or similar)

2

Natural Play Boulders

3

KOMPAN Stepping Pods

4

Duncan & Grove Wooden

Teepee or Similar
5

'Crawl-Zone'

6

Colourful Paving Patterns

REVISION:

A. Revised Layout. EH 05-10-2023

B. Additional Tree Planting EH 23-11-2023

C.  Inclusion of 20m2 grassland. EH 10-01-2024

P
age 105



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 299.89.90.100

1:200@A3

Date

10/01/2024

Drawn Checked ScaleCurrent Stage

Planning

N O T E

23 Vyner Street, London E2 9DG
Ph: 0203 770 9780
www.ackroydlowrie.com

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

DO NOT USE ANY AREAS INDICATED
FOR EITHER VALUATION, PURCHASE
SALE OR ANY OTHER FORM OF
LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.

DO NOT REPRODUCE ANY PART OF
THIS DRAWING WITHOUT PRIOR
WRITTEN CONSENT.  THIS DRAWING
REMAINS THE COPYRIGHT OF
ACKROYD LOWRIE LTD.

K E Y L O C A T IO N IS S UE

LT AB

1118 - Church Elm Lane
P R O JE C T

Major Housing

Proposed North Elevation1118-141
D R A W ING

C L IE NT

D R A W ING  NO . R E V IS IO N

P0

Rev. Date Comment

P0 10/01/2024 Issued For Planning

Site boundary

E01

E02

E0
3

E0
4

E02 Proposed North Elevation

0 5 10m

1:200

P
age 107



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 299.89.90.100

1:200@A3

Date

10/01/2024

Drawn Checked ScaleCurrent Stage

Planning

N O T E

23 Vyner Street, London E2 9DG
Ph: 0203 770 9780
www.ackroydlowrie.com

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

DO NOT USE ANY AREAS INDICATED
FOR EITHER VALUATION, PURCHASE
SALE OR ANY OTHER FORM OF
LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.

DO NOT REPRODUCE ANY PART OF
THIS DRAWING WITHOUT PRIOR
WRITTEN CONSENT.  THIS DRAWING
REMAINS THE COPYRIGHT OF
ACKROYD LOWRIE LTD.

K E Y L O C A T IO N IS S UE

LT AB

1118 - Church Elm Lane
P R O JE C T

Major Housing

Proposed South Elevation1118-143
D R A W ING

C L IE NT

D R A W ING  NO . R E V IS IO N

P0

Rev. Date Comment

P0 10/01/2024 Issued For Planning

Site boundary

E01

E02

E0
3

E0
4

E01 Proposed South Elevation

0 5 10m

1:200

P
age 109



T
his page is intentionally left blank



GSPublisherVersion 299.89.90.100

1:200@A3

Date

10/01/2024

Drawn Checked ScaleCurrent Stage

Planning

N O T E

23 Vyner Street, London E2 9DG
Ph: 0203 770 9780
www.ackroydlowrie.com

DO NOT SCALE FROM THIS DRAWING.

DO NOT USE ANY AREAS INDICATED
FOR EITHER VALUATION, PURCHASE
SALE OR ANY OTHER FORM OF
LEGALLY BINDING CONTRACT.

DO NOT REPRODUCE ANY PART OF
THIS DRAWING WITHOUT PRIOR
WRITTEN CONSENT.  THIS DRAWING
REMAINS THE COPYRIGHT OF
ACKROYD LOWRIE LTD.

K E Y L O C A T IO N IS S UE

LT AB

1118 - Church Elm Lane
P R O JE C T

Major Housing

Proposed East Elevation1118-142
D R A W ING

C L IE NT

D R A W ING  NO . R E V IS IO N

P0

Rev. Date Comment

P0 10/01/2024 Issued For Planning

Site boundary

E01

E02

E0
3

E0
4

E04 Proposed East Elevation

0 5 10m

1:200

P
age 111



T
his page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	 
	Use Classes Order - April 2015
	Planning Application Procedure (Oct'19)

	3 Minutes - To confirm as correct the minutes of the meeting held on 16 October 2023
	4 Planning Performance Review Sub-Committee
	5 Bryson House, 131 Church Elm Lane, Dagenham - Section 73 application
	Proposed Ground Floor Plan
	1118-100 Proposed Ground Floor Plan_SK7

	Proposed Typical 1-4 Floor Plan
	1118-101 Proposed Typical 1-4 Floor Plan_SK6

	Wrapped Balconies images
	Landscape Masterplan Ground Floor
	Sheets and Views
	Ground Floor GA


	Proposed North Elevation
	Proposed South Elevation
	Proposed East Elevation


